**UNIVERSITY OF NAPLES FEDERICO II** 



### **DEPARTMENT OF HUMANITIES**

# PHD COURSE IN MIND, GENDER AND LANGUAGE XXXV CYCLE

COORDINATOR: Prof. Dario Bacchini

# **"BEYOND BROCA AND WERNICKE:**

### NEUROMODULATION IN APHASIA REHABILITATION"

CANDIDATE Dr. Francesca Pisano ADVISOR Prof. Paola Marangolo

Academic Year 2021-2022

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
LIST OF TABLES	5
LIST OF FIGURES	6
INTRODUCTION	7
CHAPTER I: THE LOCALIZATIONIST APPROACH TO LANGUAGE	
REPRESENTATION	11
1.1 Definition of aphasia	11
1.2 Milestones in the history of aphasia	12
1.2.1 Broca and Wernicke's contribution	12
1.2.2 Lichtheim and Geschwind's contribution	14
1.3 Classification of aphasia	16
1.3.1 Non-fluent aphasia syndromes	17
1.3.1.1 Broca's aphasia	17
1.3.1.2 Global aphasia	18
1.3.1.3 Transcortical motor aphasia	18
1.3.1.4 Mixed transcortical aphasia	19
1.3.2 Fluent aphasia syndromes	20
1.3.2.1 Wernicke's aphasia	20
1.3.2.2 Conduction aphasia	21
1.3.2.3 Anomic aphasia	21
1.3.2.4 Transcortical sensory aphasia	21
1.4 Limitations of the localizationist approach to language representation	22
CHAPTER II: LANGUAGE AND ITS INTERACTION WITH THE MOT	OR
SYSTEM AND OTHER COGNITIVE DOMAINS	26
2.1 Neural networks	27
2.1.1 Neuroimaging techniques	27
2.2 Language and neural networks	29
2.2.1 The right hemisphere	34
2.2.2 The motor system	35
2.2.2.1 The Embodied Cognition Theory	35
2.2.3 The cerebellum	36
2.2.4 The executive functions system	37

2.3 Language and the motor system: behavioral evidence on people with aphasia	
2.4 Language and the executive functions: behavioral evidence on people with aphasia	
CHAPTER III: TRANSCRANIAL DIRECT CURRENT STIMULATION AND	
APHASIA	
3.1 Non-invasive brain stimulation (NIBS)	
3.2 Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS)	
3.3 tDCS and the classical language areas: evidence on post-stroke aphasia51	
3.4 tDCS and the motor cortex: evidence on post-stroke aphasia	
3.5 tDCS and the cerebellum: evidence on post-stroke aphasia	
3.6 tDCS and the spinal cord: evidence on post-stroke aphasia	
3.7 tDCS and the prefrontal cortex: evidence on post-stroke aphasia	
CHAPTER IV: EXPERIMENTAL SECTION	
4.1 EXPERIMENT 1: DUAL-tDCS Treatment over the Temporo-Parietal Cortex Enhances Writing Skills: First Evidence from Chronic Post-Stroke Aphasia 66	
Abstract	
4.1.1 Introduction	
4.1.2 Materials and Methods70	
4.1.3 Results	
4.1.4 Discussion	
4.1.5 Conclusion	
4.2 EXPERIMENT 2: Spinal or cortical direct current stimulation: Which is the best Evidence from apraxia of speech in post-stroke aphasia	?
Abstract	
4.2.1 Introduction	
4.2.2. Materials and methods	
4.2.3. Results	
4.2.4 tDCS vs. tsDCS comparison	
4.2.5 Discussion	
4.2.6 Conclusion105	
4.3 EXPERIMENT 3: Does Executive Function Training Impact on Functional	
Communication? A Randomized Controlled tDCS Study on Post-Stroke Aphasia	
Abstract	

4.3.1 Introducti	ion	
4.3.2 Materials	and Methods	
4.3.3 Results		
4.3.4 Discussio	on	
4.3.5 Conclusio	on	
<b>CONCLUSIONS</b>		
<b>REFERENCES</b>		

### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

I wish to express my greatest appreciation and gratitude to my advisor, Prof. Paola Marangolo, who has provided me with unwavering support and guidance since my bachelor's degree at the University of Naples Federico II. Thank you for inspiring my interest in the field of language in the first place, for the never-ending enthusiasm and knowledge that you so generously have shared with me, and for always believing in my value, and in my ability to carry this doctoral thesis to the end.

I would like to thank all the participants and caregivers who gave their time to support my research activity. I am truly grateful for all their efforts, and for learning from their courage the hard pathway of accepting and living with a disabling speech disorder.

My most heartfelt thanks are to my parents and grandparents, whose value to me only grows with time and who gave me the opportunities that have made me who I am. But above all for teaching me the freedom to follow one's path, no matter how easy or difficult it may seem.

Lastly, but importantly, thanks to all of my sincere friends and special people who have been a source of invaluable support and understanding over the past three years.

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 4.1.1 Sociodemographic and clinical data of the fourteen non-fluent people with aphasia    71
Table 4.1.2 Percentage of Correct Responses in the Different Language Tasks
Table 4.2.1 For each language task, the percentage of correct responses are reported90
Table 4.2.2.    Mean Percentage of Correct Responses in the Different Language Tasks.97
Table 4.3.1 Sociodemographic and clinical data of the twenty non-fluent people with aphasia
Table 4.3.2 Clinical data of the twenty non-fluent people with aphasia
Table 4.3.3 Correct Responses in the Different Language Tasks    122
Table 4.3.4 Correct Responses in the Different Cognitive Tasks    123

## **LIST OF FIGURES**

Figure 2.1 Models of language representation	. 33
Figure 4.1.1 Mean percentage of response accuracy for syllables	. 76
Figure 4.1.2 Mean percentage of response accuracy for disyllabic nonwords	. 77
Figure 4.1.3 Mean percentage of response accuracy for trisyllabic nonwords	. 78
Figure 4.2.1 Mean percentage of response accuracy for syllables	. 94
Figure 4.2.2 Mean percentage of response accuracy for words	. 95
Figure 4.2.3 Mean percentage of response accuracy for sentences	. 96
Figure 4.2.4 Mean percentage of response accuracy for syllables, words, and sentenc	es 101
Figure 4.3.1 Mean score in the selective attention training	119
Figure 4.3.2 Mean score in the visuo-spatial working memory training	120
Figure 4.3.3 Mean score in the planning training	121

### **INTRODUCTION**

During the 1990s, a revolutionary process began in the neuroscientific field, which strongly influenced research in neurorehabilitation yielding promising new therapies for improving behavioral and cognitive abilities in persons with neurological damage (Taub et al., 2002). From a modular approach which for decades has assigned each cognitive function (i.e., memory, language, attention) to specific cerebral regions, neuroscience research has moved to a connectionist perspective, "the connectome era" which refers to widely distributed cerebral networks as critical drivers for cognition and behavior (Sutterer & Tranel, 2017).

This paradigm shift has also occurred in aphasia, an acquired language disorder affecting about one-third of people suffering from left-cerebral artery stroke (Rohde et al., 2013). Indeed, advances in neuroimaging have brought new insights to the neural basis of speech and language processing. From the well-known "Wernicke-Lichtheim model" to the current "dual stream model", the field of language neurobiology has made great strides and is now ready to adopt a modern integrative approach (Gupta & Padma Srivastava, 2020).

This approach reveals that treatment-related brain changes due to language recovery involve not only regions traditionally considered as the "Language areas" but also structures subserving other domains such as the motor cortex (Jirak et al., 2010), the cerebellum (Geva et al., 2021) and the prefrontal regions (Gertel et al., 2020). Thus, in aphasia, from language treatments specifically focused on language protocols, to date, we can plan therapeutic approaches which potentiate these structures to support language recovery.

To improve the effectiveness of aphasia treatments, several researchers have also investigated adjunctive supports in clinical practice. Over the past decade, the most promising results have been reported using non-invasive brain stimulation techniques such as Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation (tDCS) (NIBS; Breining & Sebastian, 2020).

This dissertation aims to further investigate the role of tDCS in aphasia rehabilitation giving me the opportunity to publish three scientific articles during my three years of Ph.D.

The first chapter introduces the traditional theory of language representation referring to the well-known Wernicke-Lichtheim Model which is considered as the synthesis of the major aphasia studies from the late 19th century to the first half of the 20th century. The chapter ends with emphasizing the limitations of this model.

The second chapter outlines the shift from a modular representation of language to the modern concept of large-scale brain networks in the context of neuroimaging studies. Particular emphasis is given to the interaction between the language, the motor, and the executive system.

In the third chapter, tDCS studies in aphasia rehabilitation are reported which starting from the modularity approach to language representation moved to the more recent connectionist approach, thus, applying tDCS over less traditional areas, such as the motor and the prefrontal region.

The fourth chapter includes the three experiments that I carried out during my Ph.D. Following the traditional approach, the first study highlights the effectiveness of tDCS over the left temporo-parietal cortex combined with a language treatment for the recovery of writing abilities in persons with severe agraphia.

In the second experiment, the use of transpinal direct current stimulation (tsDCS) is further investigated. This choice starts from the well-known embodied cognition theory which posits a close interaction between the language and the motor system. Thus, the hypothesis is advanced that different motor regions, such as the motor cortex, the cerebellum, and the spinal cord might act as ancillary structures to support language recovery. In particular, since the stimulation of these structures activates the sensorimotor areas, this would, in turn, facilitate the recovery of those aspects of language characterized by motor properties, such as action verbs and speech articulation.

The last experiment reports a tDCS study which confirms the strong relationships between the language and the executive system. Indeed, executive functions include highorder cognitive abilities such as cognitive flexibility, planning and problem solving which enable humans to achieve goals, to adapt themselves to novel everyday life situations, and to manage social interactions. This highlights the possibility to rely on executive functions to recover functional communication in persons with severe aphasia. To all persons with aphasia, I have cared for

# **CHAPTER I**

### THE LOCALIZATIONIST APPROACH TO LANGUAGE REPRESENTATION

#### 1.1 Definition of aphasia

Aphasia is an acquired language disorder that usually occurs in patients with left-cerebral artery stroke (Basso et al., 2013; Rohde et al., 2013). It impairs the person's ability to make use of language with heterogeneous symptoms varying in their severity and degree of involvement across the different linguistic modalities, including the expression and comprehension of language, reading and writing (Basso, 2003). For example, variations in the severity of expressive impairments may range from the patient's occasional inability to find the correct word to telegraphic and very reduced speech output (Marangolo & Caltagirone, 2014). The presence of aphasia, independently of its degree of severity, always has sudden and long-lasting negative impacts on friendships, social engagements, quality of life, and psychological wellbeing, due to the loss of autonomy in everyday life (Engelter et al., 2006; Mattioli, 2019; Spaccavento et al., 2014).

Stroke is the most common cause of aphasia (in Europe 1 million new cases per year) and its incidence in Italy ranges from 1.8/1.000 to 4.5/1.000 new cases per year, with a prevalence of 6.5/100, which is similar to other high-income countries (Béjot et al., 2016). Incidence of stroke increases with age and is higher in men than in women (mean age at onset 75 years in men and 76.6 years in women), with a peak of incidence in subjects older than 85 (Feigin et al., 2009; Sacco et al., 2011). About 40% of all people who experience a stroke develop aphasia, more frequently in the case of a cardioembolic stroke if thrombolysis is performed (Engelter et al., 2006; Mattioli, 2019). After an initial spontaneous recovery, most notably during the first two to three months following stroke onset, language improvement can occur in response to behavioral interventions. This improvement might also take place in the chronic phase (> six months) (Fama &Turkeltaub, 2014).

Given the great importance of language for human beings, in persons with aphasia full reintegration into family, society and working life might never be achieved. This can lead to a vicious circle whereby communication difficulties are often accompanied by mood disorders, anxiety, and depression, which further worsen the patient's health-related quality of life (Hilari et al., 2003).

#### **1.2 Milestones in the history of aphasia**

#### 1.2.1 Broca and Wernicke's contribution

In 1861, Paul Broca (1824-1880), a French physician, presented a detailed report to the Société d'Anthropologie de Paris, in which he described the case of a 51-year-old patient named Louis Victor Leborgne. Leborgne was a Parisian craftsman who had lost the ability to speak at the age of 30 and could only pronounce the syllables "Tan Tan" (Domanski, 2013). Although he lost the ability to speak, he was able to communicate with gestures, despite a paralysis affecting the muscles of his right arm. Even with the loss of speech, Broca was able to ascertain that Leborgne could understand language. The doctor visited the patient six days before his death on 17 April 1861 and he hypothesized that the loss of language was due to a cerebral lesion located in the left hemisphere. After his death, a close examination of the lesion site through autopsy revealed that the area predominantly affected by the brain damage was the third frontal circumvolution of the left hemisphere. After collecting a few additional cases, Broca claimed that a lesion in the third left frontal gyrus results in "aphemie", a disturbance in the articulation of words — which impairs the ability to produce voluntary speech. The name proposed by Broca for this speech impairment ("aphemie") was not widely accepted in the medical literature, mainly due to the discussion which followed led by the French physician Armand Trousseau (1801-1867). Soon after, the term "aphasia" gained the acceptance of the medical world. In 1865, Broca claimed that only the left frontal gyrus was responsible for speech production, thus, he not only established the principle of localization, but he also introduced the notion of hemispheric differences. The latter concept was quickly adopted in the literature and speech began to be interpreted in terms of cerebral dominance (Harris, 1991).

Shortly after Broca published his findings, Carl Wernicke (1848–1905), at the young age of 26, wrote one of the most influential 19th-century monographs on aphasia, *Der* 

*Aphasische Symptomenkomplex* (Wernicke, 1874). He worked in Breslau but visited the Viennese neuropsychiatrist and neuroanatomist Theodor Meynert, who inspired him to study language comprehension deficits (Eling & Whitaker, 2009). After his stay in Vienna, Wernicke studied 10 patients, and post-mortem analyses of the lesions in four of them which led him to affirm that language comprehension is localized in the posterior part of the left superior temporal gyrus, in an area still named Wernicke's area.

In 1874, the Wernicke's model was illustrated from observing patients with fluent speech and severe comprehension difficulties. This model reports a dichotomy of centers for storing the auditory and motor images of words, located at the level of the auditory and motor association areas, and connected by a bundle of fibers running through the arcuate fasciculus. The auditory and motor images of words are independent, but they both represent their lexical phonological representation. Wernicke also hypothesized the existence of a third center, which contains the conceptual representations of words (their meaning), i.e., a network of knowledge that is distributed over a large part of the cortex of both hemispheres and does not constitute a localized center. This network of conceptual knowledge is connected with the auditory and motor lexical representation centers. According to the Wernicke's model (1874), selective lesion of specific areas can lead to different clinical forms:

- The lesion of the auditory pathways, before they reach the auditory-verbal center, results in deafness without aphasia.
- The lesion of the center, which contains the auditory images of words, causes "sensory aphasia" in which words are perceived as indistinct sounds.
- The destruction of the association fibers, which connect the auditory-verbal center with Broca's area, leaves both the articulatory and auditory-verbal images intact; the patient, therefore, does not suffer from a comprehension deficit nor from a deficit of language production, but rather from a deficit in converting the image of a perceived word into the corresponding verbal output, i.e., a repetition deficit. The patient is aware of his errors.
- The lesion of the verbal-motor center causes Broca aphasia, characterized by deficits in production in the absence of comprehension disorders.

• The lesion of the fibers connecting the verbo-motor center to the cranial nerve nuclei involved in articulatory activity gives rise to dysarthria with partially intelligible speech.

The criticisms that have been levelled at Wernicke's model are essentially both theoretical and empirical. Firstly, the author was criticized because in his model he considered language solely in audio-phonatory terms, i.e., in sensory-motor terms, without considering the semantic-conceptual components. Secondly, the model was considered not exhaustive in explaining the wide range of verbal disorders that can be described in people with aphasia (PWA) (Tremblay & Dick, 2016).

#### 1.2.2 Lichtheim and Geschwind's contribution

In 1885, Ludwig Lichtheim published a paper describing a model of language processing stemming from Broca and Wernicke's work. This model named either the Wernicke-Lichtheim or classical model of aphasia were both neuroanatomical and functional, predicting the impact on language due to damage to various brain regions (Lichtheim, 1885). It served as the foundation for classifying the types of aphasia already observed as well as providing a means for predicting aphasia types not yet observed but assumed logically possible based on theoretical considerations. Lichtheim presented the model as a simple diagram identifying three language-related centers within the brain, the neural pathways connecting them, and the possible lesion sites associated with seven distinct types of aphasia. In developing the model, Lichtheim endorsed Wernicke's views that the brain has two main centers in the left hemisphere underpinning language processing. Specifically, Lichtheim assumed that the left superior temporal gyrus (i.e., Wernicke's area) is responsible for decoding speech input and guiding speech production, while the left inferior frontal gyrus (i.e., Broca's area) for storing the motor programs needed to control the vocal apparatus during speech production. Lichtheim specified a third structure — the concept center — as the storage for word concepts. Neural fibers connect the two language centers to the concept center as well as to the peripheral structures responsible for auditory word perception and for controlling the muscle movements involved in speech production. The Wernicke-Lichtheim model has provided generations of clinicians with a framework for classifying different aphasia syndromes.

Characterizations of aphasia syndromes relate to the nature of information flow between the various components of the model. Basic operation of the model for spoken language comprehension begins in Wernicke's area by accessing the phonological properties of words. This information then moves to the concept center to activate the conceptual representations. Finally, the information moves to Broca's area, where grammatical processing takes place and where instructions are held for word pronunciation. For spoken language production, the activation of the concept center stimulates the retrieval of the phonological representations of words in the Wernicke's area, followed by the activation of the corresponding articulatory instructions in Broca's area. The Wernicke– Lichtheim model proposes seven aphasia syndromes (Lichtheim, 1885). Broca's aphasia and Wernicke's aphasia result from lesions to the two main language centers specified in the model.

- In Broca's aphasia, language comprehension remains relatively intact, but the production is characterized by errors in sequencing and coordination that cause articulatory dysfluency.
- In Wernicke's aphasia, comprehension deficits occur along with the production of neologisms and paraphasias.
- The remaining five types of aphasia result from lesions to pathways connecting the language centers, the concept center, or the peripheral structures.
- Conduction aphasia results from a lesion in the fibers connecting Wernicke's and Broca's areas; it is characterized by impairments in repetition.
- Transcortical sensory aphasia results from disruption between Wernicke's and the concept center. Such a lesion causes comprehension deficits, although the ability to repeat remains intact.
- Transcortical motor aphasia resulting from a lesion between the concept and the Broca's area — again spares repetition skills but is otherwise similar to Broca's aphasia in symptom characteristics.
- Subcortical sensory aphasia stems from a lesion between the auditory periphery and Wernicke's area and leads to auditory agnosia or pure word deafness. Within this aphasia type, a person fails to understand spoken words but does not make errors in word production.

• Subcortical motor aphasia results from a lesion between Broca's area and the peripheral oral musculature and it is alternatively labeled as dysarthria, a motor speech disorder.

Later, during the 20th century, Norman Geschwind (1926-1984), a pioneering American behavioral neurologist, revisited the Wernicke-Lichtheim model for the neuroanatomy of language so that the model is now known as the "Wernicke-Geschwind" model (Geschwind, 1970). Geschwind reinterpreted the functional role of the areas which connect the language centers. In this regard, a prominent role is assigned to the inferior parietal lobe of the left hemisphere, which includes the angular gyrus BA39) and the supramarginal gyrus (BA40). These regions, presenting anatomical connections with the auditory (BA41 and BA42), somesthetic (BA7) and visual (BA18 and BA19) associative cortical areas, constitute cross-modal associative regions in which word sounds are linked to corresponding sensory information. From this point of view, according to Geschwind (1970), aphasic syndromes can be interpreted as the result of lesions in the speech centers and as the product of disconnections between these centers. Overall, the anatomofunctional model of language, built from the study of motor aphasia and sensory aphasia described so far, known today as the Wernicke-Lichtheim-Geschwind model (Schwartz, 1984), is based on the idea that it is possible to anatomically identify Broca's area and Wernicke's area (Schwartz, 1984). This model also assumes strong functional differences among Broca's and Wernicke's area, i.e.: Broca's area is considered crucial for the articulatory planning necessary for speech production, while Wernicke's area is considered crucial for the recognition of speech sounds.

#### **1.3 Classification of aphasia**

Since the 19th century, the existence of several aphasic syndromes has been well established. Generally, two main classification criteria have been adopted over time to identify the different forms of aphasia: speech fluency and repetition (Vallar & Papagno, 2018). The speech of PWA may be fluent or non-fluent. Fluent aphasia is characterized by a speech that tends to be abundant, where verbal jargon, i.e., sequences of words that, although existing in the patient's spoken language, give rise to content that lacks logical meaning, can be evidenced. In some cases, the subject may produce the so-called neologistic jargon in which a sequence of non-real words is observed. Substitutions of

words belonging to the same semantic category named semantic paraphases (e.g., tablechair), or to different semantic categories named verbal paraphases (table-lion) may often occur. There may also be substitutions, omissions and/or transpositions of phonemes within words, referred to as phonological paraphases (e.g., table-trees), non-real words, referred to as neologisms (e.g., catampus). Perseveration phenomena can also be observed whereby the patient tends to repeat a word or phrase more than once. Prosody, on the other hand, characterized by pauses and variations in intonation, is relatively preserved. Often the fluent PWA are affected by anosognosia, i.e., he/she is unaware of his/her deficit.

In non-fluent aphasia, speech is syntactically poor, expressed with slowness and difficulty if concomitant articulation deficits are present. When the articulatory disorder is pronounced, it can result in a syndrome called "*apraxia of speech*", a motor speech disorder characterized by an impaired ability to coordinate the sequential, articulatory movements necessary to produce speech sounds (Wertz et al., 1991). The syntactic deficit is characterized by agrammatism, which consists of sentences composed mostly of nouns and a few verbs in the infinitive form. Articles, pronouns, and conjunctions may be omitted, resulting in telegraphic language. In both fluent and non-fluent forms, the presence of anomia is always observed: the patient is unable to retrieve the word even though he clearly shows that he is able to activate the corresponding meaning (e.g., zebra: it is an animal, striped, lives in Africa).

In the non-fluent/fluent category, the most frequently reported aphasic syndromes are as follows (Goodglass & Kaplan, 1972):

- Non-fluent Aphasia Syndromes: Broca's aphasia, global aphasia, transcortical motor aphasia and mixed transcortical aphasia.
- Fluent Aphasia Syndromes: Wernicke's aphasia, conduction aphasia, transcortical sensory aphasia, and anomic aphasia

#### 1.3.1 Non-fluent aphasia syndromes

#### 1.3.1.1 Broca's aphasia

It is a prototypical form among non-fluent aphasia syndromes, and it is considered a core deficit of syntactic and/or articulatory skills. Phonological and semantic-lexical abilities

are relatively intact. It is characterized by agrammatism and telegraphic language: short and simple sentences, verbs in the infinitive form, elisions of pronouns, articles, auxiliaries, prepositions, lack of concordance between sentence elements. Production and repetition skills are impaired, while comprehension appears mostly functionally preserved but deficient, especially for syntactically complex sentences. Anomic and articulatory errors are frequent. Broca's aphasia may present with concomitant neurological deficits such as partial or total paralysis of the right upper and/or lower limb (hemiparesis), right visual field loss (hemianopsia) and/or possible disturbance of sensation in the right upper and or lower limb (hemianesthesia). The brain area associated with this type of aphasia is the left frontal third circumvolution, and in most patients, the lesion may also extend to the fronto-parietal operculum and insula. Rare cases of Broca's aphasia due to lesions affecting only retrolateral regions of the left hemisphere have also been observed.

#### 1.3.1.2 Global aphasia

It is the most severe form of non-fluent aphasia. Speech is limited to a few stereotyped forms (recurring syllabic fragments), and there is almost always a severe articulatory deficit. All language modalities are affected by global aphasia — speaking, comprehension, reading, and writing. Patients with global aphasia may be able to utter automatic or stereotypic responses (e.g., "yes" and "no") but do so unreliably. As with the other aphasias, global aphasia is most commonly the result of a stroke in the middle cerebral artery that supplies blood to the lateral surface of the left hemisphere of the brain. Not surprisingly, lesions necessary for a persisting, chronic global aphasia are generally quite large and encompass large portions of the left peri-Sylvian region. Global aphasia may present with concomitant neurological deficits, such as partial or total paralysis of the left upper and/or lower limb (hemiparesis), left visual field loss (hemianopsia) and/or possible sensory disturbances of the left upper and/or lower limb (hemiparesis). In some patients, the condition evolves from global aphasia to other less severe aphasic syndromes, such as Broca's aphasia.

#### 1.3.1.3 Transcortical motor aphasia

Transcortical motor aphasia is sometimes known as dynamic aphasia or anterior isolation syndrome. Functionally, the causal lesion separates the processing of speech from the mechanisms for initiating the action to speak. Patients with transcortical motor aphasia tend to appear mute, or nearly so, and may even have an associated general akinesia, an inability to initiate action. Although transcortical motor aphasia impairs the ability to initiate speech, once such patients begin talking, speech output is typically relatively intact. Comprehension is relatively normal, as is repetition. Prosody, articulation, and grammatical structure remain quite preserved even if verbal output is interrupted by incomplete sentences, verbal paraphasias, or false starts. When asked to say something, or otherwise initiate a response without cues, these patients have a great deal of difficulty in responding. However, performance is characteristically flawless when asked to repeat words, phrases, or sentences. There might be different compromised abilities in word retrieval, with some patients being able to perform well on tasks such as object and verb naming. Verbal output may improve if related to common, repetitious material. The lesions that lead to transcortical motor aphasia are typically found on the mesial surface of the anterior left frontal lobe, near the supplementary motor cortex, or along the lateral aspect of the left frontal lobe; in either case these lesions fall outside of what is traditionally thought of as Broca's area. Presumably, the lesions impinge on an anterior cortical or subcortical site that forms part of a circuit linking the motor speech area with the supplementary motor area and certain limbic structures considered essential for initiating speech and other actions.

#### 1.3.1.4 Mixed transcortical aphasia

Mixed transcortical aphasia, or isolation aphasia, is equivalent to global aphasia with preserved repetition. Patients with this syndrome do not speak unless required, and their verbal output is almost entirely limited to what has been offered by the examiner — a true echolalia. Patients may embellish the output in the form of the completion phenomenon or spontaneous correction of grammatical errors deliberately produced by the examiner. Thus, if told the beginning of a common phrase, the patient may not only repeat what has been said but also continue the phrase to complete it. Comprehension of spoken language is severely disturbed. The ability to repeat, although well preserved compared with all other language features, remains limited and is often below normal. The number of words in a sentence that can be repeated is often limited to three or four. Naming, reading aloud, reading for comprehension, and writing are severely compromised. When a response is elicited, it is often contaminated by paraphasias. Neurological examination reveals

variable motor, sensory, and visual field deficits. The lesions producing mixed transcortical aphasia tend to be multifocal or diffuse and include hypoxic insults, large watershed infarctions or a combination of focal watershed and pial infarction, and degenerative processes. The mixed transcortical aphasia syndrome also occurs in thalamic infarction.

#### 1.3.2 Fluent aphasia syndromes

#### 1.3.2.1 Wernicke's aphasia

Wernicke's aphasia is characterized by fluent but relatively meaningless spontaneous speech and repetition and relatively poor comprehension of words, sentences, and conversation. Spoken language may be limited to jargon comprised of either real words, neologisms (nonwords such as "klimorata") or a combination of the two. In contrast to those with Broca's aphasia, individuals with Wernicke's aphasia are typically unaware of the errors. The appropriate melody or intonation may give the impression that the person is speaking another language. Particularly in the acute stage, there is often a severe comprehension impairment, such that the patient may listen to others and respond fluidly with language-like, meaningless utterances for hours, with no apparent inkling that he or she has neither understood anything others have said nor said anything that could be understood by others. Often the person will intermittently include a coherent "social" phrase, such as, "yes, that's right." Written output is typically like spoken output --written words with little or no content, often including nonword letter strings. Reading comprehension is typically no better than spoken comprehension. Repetition is generally like spontaneous speech — fluent jargon. These deficits have been attributed to impaired inhibition of lexical activation, so that the person cannot select the appropriate word, sound, or meaning from competing linguistic units that are also activated. Although such an underlying impairment would account for many of the observed language deficits, it could not easily account for cases with relatively preserved or relatively impaired categories of words, such as animals or tools, or impaired nouns relative to verbs. This collection of deficits is usually caused by neural dysfunction in regions supplied by the inferior division of the left middle cerebral artery (MCA), including Wernicke's area (most of Brodmann area 22, in the posterior, superior temporal gyrus). This hypothesis can account for occasional dissociations between the typical deficits or anomalous lesion

sites in patients with Wernicke's aphasia by the fact that there is individual variability in the cerebral vasculature and the areas supplied by particular arteries.

#### 1.3.2.2 Conduction aphasia

Conduction aphasia is another fluent aphasia with speech that contains numerous phonemic paraphasias sometimes produced in a series of increasingly closer approximations of the target (e.g., "splant, plant, plants, pants" for pants — termed "conduit d'approche"), and repetition is poor. It differs from Wernicke's aphasia in that the individuals have relatively good comprehension. They are very aware of their verbal errors and will frequently try to self-correct their mistakes. Conduction aphasia is considered a "disconnection syndrome" caused by a lesion in the arcuate fasciculus, a bundle of nerve fibers that connect Wernicke's and Broca's areas. However, damage to the arcuate fasciculus is not a prerequisite of conduction aphasia. Most available anatomical evidence suggests that this particular aphasia is most often caused by damage to the left superior temporal gyrus and/or the left inferior parietal lobe and to the posterior arcuate fasciculus (Buchsbaum et al., 2011; Fridriksson et al., 2010).

#### 1.3.2.3 Anomic aphasia

Anomic aphasia is also known as amnestic or amnesic aphasia, nominal aphasia, and semantic aphasia. The primary modality of language that is affected is speech production, mostly restricted to the production of names, but it is most easily observed by asking an individual with aphasia to name pictures of objects or actions. Anomia is described by the failure to name or to retrieve names, common and uncommon and proper nouns; auditory comprehension is either unimpaired or only mildly impaired. Anomic aphasia patients manifest a fluent output with pauses while they are searching for a specific word. Speech rate, articulation, and grammar are typically normal. Reading and writing are usually preserved. Anomia is found in all varieties of aphasia; partly for that reason, no specific localization for the causative lesions has been or is likely to be documented.

#### 1.3.2.4 Transcortical sensory aphasia

Transcortical sensory aphasia is an uncommon form of aphasia that may occur when a lesion functionally isolates Wernicke's areas from the rest of the brain, leaving the reception-to-output sufficiently unimpaired that repetition is preserved, but neither speech comprehension nor spontaneous speech remain intact. The simplest way to describe transcortical sensory aphasia is to think of it as a form of Wernicke's aphasia in which the patient exhibits a severe comprehension deficit with preserved repetition. Despite intact articulation, speech repetition might result in paraphasic, neologistic, anomic, and even echolalic articulation. Patients with transcortical sensory aphasia typically tend to be unaware of their impairment. Writing ability is usually disturbed as in patients with Wernicke aphasia.

# **1.4 Limitations of the localizationist approach to language representation**

As reported in the previous paragraphs, despite some contradictory positions, since the end of the 9th century for more than a century, the "localizationist" perspective of language has been hegemonic. As mentioned in the introduction, in the early 1800s, the anatomical-clinical approach was criticized in favor of a holistic approach.

In 1824, Flourens introduced a theory of the brain functions, hypothesizing that the cognitive abilities, including language, are not localized in a specific area of the left hemisphere but involve both hemispheres of the brain (Pearce, 2009). A few years later, Jackson supported Flourens' hypothesis by postulating that language was a function of intelligence and, therefore, more widely distributed in the brain than assumed by the localizationist view (Jackson, 1894). According to this theory, other areas of the brain that are not specifically devoted to language have the ability to take over the functions represented in the damaged areas. Not surprisingly, assuming broader circuits that subserve language function, the detection of language deficit does not necessarily imply the localization of function in a specific area. Scarcely heard by his contemporaries, Jackson was rediscovered in the early 20th century by the so-called "holists", who believed that all areas of the brain were mutually interconnected by nerve fibers. Following this perspective, Karl Lashley (1951) developed the concept of the "equipotentiality" of the cortex: if a brain lesion occurred in a specific area, the network would allow the redistribution of functions to other intact regions.

In an interesting review, Trembley and Dick (2016) examined the main limitations of classical model:

- 1. The spatial precision of the model is too limited to test a specific hypothesis about brain/behavior relationships.
- 2. It emphasizes two "language regions".
- 3. It focuses on cortical structures and mostly leaves out the subcortical structures and relevant connections.
- 4. Because of its limited spatial extent and cortical focus, it is not easy to reconcile the model with modern knowledge about the white matter connectivity supporting speech and language function.

Based on this evidence, the authors illustrated the distributed nature of the language connectome, which extends far beyond the single-pathway notion of the arcuate fasciculus connectivity established in Geschwind's version of the traditional model. In addition, in this review it was reported that there is no consistent anatomical definition of "Broca's and Wernicke's Areas", proposing the need to replace these terms with more precise anatomical definitions (Trembley & Dick, 2016).

Thanks to the scientific progress and observations on human and non-human primates, to date, the classical model of aphasia has been replaced in favor of a modern perspective which considers the language system as part as neural networks largely distributed in the brain (Chang et al., 2015). Modern network-based models are composed of parallel, interconnected streams involving both cortical and subcortical areas. Hickok and Poeppel (2004) have proposed the "dual stream" model, emphasizing that language processing involves the 'dorsal' and 'ventral' pathways: the ventral stream is largely organized bilaterally from the temporal pole to the basal occipitotemporal cortex, processing vocal signals for comprehension; in contrast, the dorsal stream is strongly dominant in the left hemisphere for production. The function of the dorsal stream is primarily the sensorymotor mapping of sound (Saur et al., 2008). According to the dual-stream model, ventral pathways are bilaterally distributed into both hemispheres, and the major hubs include the superior temporal gyrus (STG), the superior temporal sulcus (STS), the middle and inferior temporal gyri (MTG/ITG), and the anterior temporal lobe (ATL). The ventral stream connects the frontal cortices to the occipital, parietal, and temporal lobes, via long white matter (WM) tracts, including the external capsule (EC), the inferior frontooccipital fascicle (IFOF), the inferior longitudinal fascicle (ILF), and the uncinate fascicle (UF). On the other hand, the dorsal pathway involves the structures of the left hemisphere in the posterior frontal lobe, posterior dorsal temporal lobe and parietal operculum, including white matter (WM) tracts connecting the frontal lobe to the left temporal and parietal lobes via the arcuate fasciculus (AF) and the anterior and posterior indirect components of the superior longitudinal fasciculus (SLF). Instead of two separate pathways of language function, the dual model supports interconnectivity between different cortical regions through correlated white matter pathways (Nasios et al., 2019).

Although it is worth mentioning the contribution of Pierre Marie and Dejerine concerning the role of the subcortical connection (Lechevalier, 2017), Catani and Ffytche (2005) elaborated the so-called hodotopic theory, according to which cognitive functions are located in cortical epicentres (*topos=* place) interconnected by white matter fibers (*hodos=* pathway). The dynamic organization of white matter tracts (WMTs) and their connections between regions offered a new insight into the connectivity and plasticity of the human brain: it is complex, multimodal and an integrated system of networks (De Benedictis & Duffau, 2011). It is crucial to understand how different brain regions are connected within extensive networks and, simultaneously, to map lesions to white-matter tracts. Whereas previously the focus of researchers was mainly on the cortex, today tractography, a method of investigation based on diffusion tensor imaging (DTI), makes it possible to study the connections between different brain regions in vivo, opening new horizons of interpretation. In this regard, Catani and collaborators (2012) have developed a tractography atlas that maps white matter fibers, allowing precise localization of white matter lesions in association with related symptoms (Catani et al., 2012).

It should be noted that the historical and clinical excursus of aphasia is quite complex. It also includes other cognitive psychology and psycholinguistics models that will not be discussed here, as they dwell less on anatomical explanations.

As we will see in the next chapter, in recent years, neuroimaging studies on healthy and brain-damaged individuals with aphasia have supported this connectionist view (Dronkers & Ludy, 1998; Kertesz et al., 1979; Naeser & Hayears, 1978). Thus, there are no boundaries or brain areas strictly corresponding to the different types of aphasia: most patients present deficits that affect the system as a whole and not specific parts of it.

Indeed, a complex function such as language cannot depend on a specific area of the brain, but on the interaction of several regions that constitute a functional system. This point is also evident from the fact that among patients classified as suffering from the same type of aphasia, there is considerable variability in impairment and performance on the different tasks (Fridriksson et al., 2018a).

# **CHAPTER II**

### LANGUAGE AND ITS INTERACTION WITH THE MOTOR SYSTEM AND OTHER COGNITIVE DOMAINS

As described in the previous chapter, for a long time, scholars in the field of aphasia have studied the organization of the human brain to identify the localization of the different aphasia syndromes. The anatomical-clinical correlation method was applied in which the aphasic symptoms were related to the lesioned areas observed *post-mortem* through autopsy of the patient's brain. The links were, therefore, identified using inferential logic:

"if  $f_a$  is more affected than function  $f_b$  by lesion of area A, ergo area A is the center, focus, domain, or module of the function  $f_a$ . If the neurons of area C are more active during function  $f_c$  than during function  $f_d$ , ergo area C is the center, focus, domain, or module of function  $f_c$ " (Fuster, 2000, p. 52).

However, as mentioned in the previous chapter and as we will see later, this method showed its own limitations early on. Today, thanks to a large amount of research in neuroscience, we know that cognitive information and, in particular, language, is represented in interconnected and overlapping neuronal networks which overcome any traditional concepts of modularity (Fuster, 2000, p. 53). In the following paragraphs, first, the concept of neuronal network is reported referring to neuroimaging techniques which allow for the in vivo visualization of the brain area and their corresponding connection bundles. Then, several recent studies are described which, according to the connectionist approach, confirm that the language system is represented beyond the classical language areas, thus, involving the right hemisphere (Gainotti, 2016), the motor cortex (Jirak et al., 2010), the cerebellum (Geva et al., 2021) and the executive system mediated by the prefrontal lobes (Gertel et al., 2020). Finally, some behavioral studies on persons with post-stroke aphasia are reported which highlights the importance of relying on the motor and the executive system to improve different aphasic symptoms.

#### 2.1 Neural networks

The designated name for these networks is large-scale brain networks (Bressler & Menon, 2010). These networks consist of a series of interconnected brain areas, that interact to achieve a defined cognitive action or function. The paradigm of large-scale brain networks takes up the conception and notion of graph theory (Diestel, 2016), where a graph is a structure composed of simple objects, called nodes, and the connections between these nodes are called the arcs (Bressler & Menon, 2010). In the case of largescale brain networks, the nodes correspond to brain areas, while the arcs correspond to the white-matter bundles that connect the different nodes (Bressler & Menon, 2010). A further division of these brain networks is necessary: one can distinguish between structural and functional networks. "The neuroanatomical structure of large-scale brain networks provides a skeleton of connected brain areas that facilitates signaling along preferred pathways in the service of specific cognitive functions" (Bressler & Menon, 2010, p. 278). The nodes of these networks are connected by long white-matter bundles. The study of these structural connections "is necessary to know which functional interactions are possible" (Bressler & Menon, 2010, p. 281). Large-scale functional networks, on the other hand, are composed of "interconnected brain areas [that] interact dynamically in order to perform [...] a specific function" (Bressler & Menon, 2010, p. 281). The different brain areas involved in performing the given action are referred to as functional nodes. The detection of these neuronal networks is possible thanks to sophisticated statistical analyses applied to the latest neuroimaging technologies. What made it possible to overcome the concept of modularity was not only clinical and behavioral evidence or "common sense" (Fuster, 2000, p. 52), but also "technological and methodological advances in the study of the structural and functional connectivity of the brain" (Bressler & Menon, 2010, p. 277).

#### 2.1.1 Neuroimaging techniques

Non-invasive imaging tools such as magnetoencephalography (MEG), electroencephalography (EEG), positron emission tomography (PET), and functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) are widely used for research purposes. MEG "measures changes in magnetic fields on the surface of the scalp produced by changes in the electrical activity of the brain" (Pinel, 2006, p. 106); similarly, EEG detects the global electrical activity of the brain by returning waves (Pinel, 2006, p. 106). On the other hand,

PET uses a radioactive contrast agent — radioactive 2-desoxyglucose (2-DG). Neurons take up this substance because of its structural similarity to glucose, the main energy source of brain cells.

fMRI is an imaging technique that with its broad spectrum of magnetic resonance contrast mechanisms results in the most powerful and flexible imaging tool for the diagnosis of the neural systems (Alexander et al., 2007, p. 316). An application of functional MRI uses BOLD, a hemodynamic contrast tool, i.e., which can assess changes in blood flow. It stands for blood-oxygen-level-dependent, a contrast dependent on the oxygen level in the blood. The presence of a BOLD signal during an fMRI is due to the different magnetic properties of oxygenated hemoglobin and deoxygenated hemoglobin (dHB) (Gauthier & Fan, 2019): the former is diamagnetic, that is with magnetization in the opposite direction to the direction of the magnetic field (Mencuccini & Silvestrini, 2010). The second is paramagnetic, the magnetization has the same direction as the magnetic field in which it is located (Mencuccini & Silvestrini, 2010). When the brain performs a task, "active regions consume oxygen to function, leading to a localized increase in dHb. To meet the need for additional oxygen, nearby blood vessels dilate, causing an increase in local blood flow. The inflowing blood is fully oxygenated, thereby diluting the dHb concentration and leading to an increased BOLD signal" (Gauthier & Fan, 2019, p. 116).

Using contrast means such as BOLD allows to infer a correlation between signal enhancement and the underlying neuronal activity, as demonstrated by electrophysiological studies on non-human primates (Logothetis et al., 2001). fMRI can be also applied while the individual is at rest, called resting-state fMRI (rs-fMRI), as opposed to using this technique while the individual is performing a task, to detect the brain areas activated by the task (Bressler & Menon, 2010).

The various tools listed have made great strides in mapping networks. Instruments such as dMRI highlight the brain's structural connectivity by detecting the arcs — the whitematter bundles — that connect nodes. PET and fMRI, on the other hand, allow us to frame the functionality of the brain areas (Bressler & Menon, 2010). Static connectivity is detected by rs-fMRI when no activity occurs during the MRI (Yeo et al., 2011). This fact implies that even during a "resting" state, the central nervous system still exhibits activation patterns (Beckmann et al., 2005).

#### 2.2 Language and neural networks

The neuroimaging methodologies described above have been extensively used also to explain the representation of language in the brain. Indeed, the concept of neural network paved the way to a distributed and no longer modular conception of verbal production and comprehension. Since the 1990s, much evidence has accumulated which refuted the classical Wernicke-Lichtheim model. For example, Dronkers and her colleagues (2007) used MRI to study the preserved brains of two of Broca's original patients and obtained some surprising results: the lesions of both patients extended beyond Broca's area, involving the deep white matter tracts (Gupta & Padma Srivastava, 2020). Again, studies have found that patients with chronic Broca's aphasia have lesions in Broca's area in only 75% of the cases (Dronkers & Baldo, 2010). Indeed, lesions in this brain region often result in a transient mutism which resolves in three to six weeks: "such mutism is undoubtedly an indicator of the contribution of Broca's area is only one part of a more complex system" (Dronkers et al., 2017, p. 5).

Similarly, the original conception of Wernicke's aphasia has been questioned. As in the case of Broca's aphasia, even in the circumstance of a lesion confined to Wernicke's area, patients present with a transient disturbance that quickly resolves. In the case of persistence of the disorder, lesions can be observed that extend far beyond the region mentioned above (Dronkers & Baldo, 2010). What was thought to be a deficit in language comprehension is actually a difficulty in recovering appropriate phonological representations (Gupta & Padma Srivastava, 2020). Studies on degenerative diseases affecting Wernicke's area mainly report deficits in verbal short-term memory, whereas comprehension of single words is intact (Gupta & Padma Srivastava, 2020).

Several candidates have been put forward to replace the classical model of language; however, over time, the proposal of Hickock and Poeppel (2000; 2004) has received particular attention. The two authors started from one of Wernicke's (1874) insights: the language system must interact with a conceptual and articulatory-motor systems (Hickok & Poeppel, 2004). The existence of "an interface with the conceptual system requires no motivation; such an interface is required if we are to comprehend the meaning of the words we hear. The need for an interface with the motor system may at first seem less

obvious, but in fact, many areas of language either explicitly or implicitly posit an auditory-motor connection. The simplest demonstration of this comes from development: infants must shape their articulatory gestures in a way that matches the phonetic structure of the language they are exposed to; yet the primary input to this motor learning task is acoustic" (Hickok & Poeppel, 2004, p. 68).

Like the organization of the visual cortex (Hickok & Poeppel, 2000), the two authors have therefore formulated the dual stream model, which subdivides the language network into two pathways: the dorsal pathway and the ventral pathway (Hickok & Poeppel, 2004). The dorsal pathway — also referred to as the "where" pathway — connects sounds to their articulatory-motor representations; the ventral pathway — the "what" pathway, underlies the understanding of the meaning of the sounds that are perceived (Hickok & Poeppel, 2004). Ergo, the first pathway connects the temporal lobe with the posterior frontal lobe, which is typically associated with the classical model, (Friederici, 2011). This portion of the brain is the seat of the motor cortex (Pinel, 2006), which is imputed to control of body movements; the connection thus allows sensory-motor integration that enables sound mapping for articulation (Nasios et al., 2019). Instead, the ventral pathway connects Broca's area with the temporal lobe, involved in semantic processing (Friederici, 2011). In the first elaboration of this model, Hickock and Poeppel (2004) had estimated which brain areas were involved in the two pathways. The perception of a word activated the superior temporal gyrus bilaterally, even though language was thought to be a strongly lateralized system on the left; from here the bifurcation occurs. Through the ventral pathway, the superior temporal sulcus and the inferior temporal gyrus are reached (Hickock & Poeppel, 2004) On the other hand, the dorsal pathway involved the sylvianparietal-temporal area, an intermediate region between the temporal and parietal lobe that is involved in the interaction between language and articulation (Hickock & Poeppel, 2004). Inevitably, the two pathways interact with each other in everyday communication (Hickock & Poeppel, 2004). A further important assumption of the dual stream model is the bidirectionality of the brain network:

"In the ventral stream, posterior inferior temporal lobe (pITL) networks mediate the relation between sound and meaning both for perception and production (the involvement need not be symmetrical in perception and production). Similarly, it is hypothesized that sectors of the left STG participate not only in sub-lexical aspects of the perception of

speech, but also in sub-lexical aspects of the production of speech (again, perhaps nonsymmetrically). In the dorsal stream, it is suggested that temporal–parietal systems can map auditory speech representations onto motor representations (as in verbatim repetition tasks, in which access to a motor-based representation is necessary), as well as map motor speech representations onto auditory speech representations" (Hickock & Poeppel, 2004, p. 73).

The new findings concerning the dual stream model make it possible to reconstruct the activation processes of the brain areas that are part of the network, depending on the tasks performed. Sound perception occurs in the auditory cortex, also located in the superior temporal gyrus (Gupta & Padma Srivastava, 2020). The semantic processing role of the ventral pathway takes place mainly in the temporal lobe. However, there is also the participation of parietal and frontal areas (Binder et al., 2009) through the longitudinal fascicles and the inferior fronto-occipital fascicle (Gupta & Padma Srivastava, 2020). For verbal comprehension, the meaning of words is derived from the middle temporal gyrus, through the longitudinal fascicles. The angular gyrus, pars opercularis and interlobular connections are involved through the inferior fronto-occipital fascicle (Gupta & Padma Srivastava, 2020). The internal semantic system — ventral pathway — communicates with the phoneme retrieval system — dorsal pathway for verbal production. As far as visual stimuli are concerned, they are processed in the occipitotemporal region, and the information is communicated to the ventral and dorsal pathways. The ventral pathway deals with meaning, while the dorsal pathway performs the visual-articulatory conversion (Gupta & Padma Srivastava, 2020).

To date, the dual-flow model has been confirmed through various methodologies, such as DTI (Friederici & Gierhan, 2013) and fMRI (Gupta & Padma Srivastava, 2020). These new tools have also made it possible to expand Hickok and Poeppel's original model. In the ventral pathway, the middle temporal gyrus, the inferior temporal gyrus, and the angular gyrus are included (Gupta & Padma Srivastava, 2020). Structural connectivity studies have identified the involvement of the inferior longitudinal fasciculus, the inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus (Gupta & Padma Srivastava, 2020), the external capsule, and the uncinate fasciculus (Nasios et al., 2019). Also, the dorsal pathway includes the supramarginal gyrus and the pars triangularis with the pars opercularis and the precentral gyrus, corresponding to Broca's area (Gupta & Padma Srivastava, 2020) as well as the

insula, an area relevant to the voluntary movement (Na et al., 2022). The white-matter bundles supporting this network's connectivity are the arcuate fasciculus and the SLF — superior longitudinal fasciculus (Nasios et al., 2019). The latter has four main components: "SLF I, II, III connect the frontal and parietal cortices. The temporoparietal SLF (SLF-tp) joins the temporal and parietal cortices" (Gupta & Padma Srivastava, 2020, p. S74).

The dual flow model has also been confirmed by studies on PWA. For example, Fridriksson and colleagues (2018a) showed that fluency problems were more strongly associated with damage to the dorsal pathway; conversely, damage to the ventral pathway led to problems in comprehension. Furthermore, the study confirmed the interaction between the two pathways during naming, repetition, and grammar processing tasks (Fridriksson et al., 2018a). The dual stream can also account for the fact that patients with damage to different brain areas have similar communication deficits: such lesions would involve the interaction between the two pathways. Again, this also makes it possible to understand how people with similar damage can present different difficulties in the language domain (Nasios et al., 2019).

Recently, neuroscientific research has gone beyond the anatomical connectivity of the language systems, investigating their functional connectivity (Hertrich et al., 2020). The results of the studies have been surprising, confirming the involvement of areas that were thought to be irrelevant to language processing such as the right hemisphere (Gainotti, 2016), the motor cortex (Jirak et al., 2010) the cerebellum (Geva et al., 2021), and the prefrontal lobes involved in executive functions processing (Gertel et al., 2020).



**Figure 2.1 Models of language representation. a. classical model.** The classical model consists of Broca's area, involved in speech production, and Wernicke's area, involved in auditory speech comprehension. Adapted from DEJERINE Jules, Anatomie des centres nerveux Tome II, Paris, J. Rueff, éditeur, 1901 p.247. b. dual stream model. The dual stream model subdivides the language network into two pathways: the dorsal, which connects sounds to their articulatory-motor representations, and the ventral, which underlies the understanding of the meaning of the sounds that are perceived. Adapted from "The Cortical Organization of Speech Processing," by G. Hickok and D. Poeppel, 2007, *Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 8*, p. 395. Copyright 2007, Nature Publishing Group. c. connectionist model. The connectionist model considers the language system as part of a network largely distributed across the brain. Adapted from "Core language brain network for fMRI language task used in clinical applications," by Li Qiongge, et al., 2020, *Network Neuroscience, 4*, p.139. Copyright 2020, The MIT Press.

#### 2.2.1 The right hemisphere

For years, the Wernicke-Lichtheim model led neuroscientists to believe that language processing was lateralized, represented only the left hemisphere. However, several pieces of evidence have rendered this conception obsolete. Indeed, following a right-hemisphere infarction, 1-13% of right-handed patients suffer from a language disorder; still, the right hemisphere appears to play an essential role in the recovery of language functions in the case of aphasia (Gajardo-Vidal et al., 2018). The involvement of the other half of the brain is also present in the dual stream model (Hickok & Poeppel, 2004): indeed, within this model, language processing takes place in the left and right superior temporal gyrus.

Regarding the role of the right hemisphere in language, multiple lines of research can be found in the literature that investigates this issue. Some authors argue that the right anterior temporal lobe, the seat of the superior temporal gyrus, is linked to higher-level functions (Gainotti, 2016). Indeed, while the left superior temporal gyrus would help in the semantic processing of simple concepts, the right homolog would be responsible for understanding complex and abstract concepts, such as metaphors (Gainotti, 2016). Several studies have shown that individuals with a right hemispheric lesion "suffer from language deficits that selectively affect the semantic-lexical level" (Gainotti, 2016, p. 69).

Another aspect to be considered is the right-hemispheric involvement in the affective component of language. Following a right-hemispheric lesion, some individuals have reported difficulties in modulating their tone of voice, and thus, in affective prosody (Patel et al., 2018). The findings from various research studies also made it possible to formulate the hypothesis of a dual-flow pattern located in the right hemisphere. It has been proposed that the dorsal "*how*" pathway is critical for evaluating prosodic contours and mapping them to subvocal articulation, while the ventral "*what*" pathway [...] maps prosody to communicative meaning" (Patel et al., 2018, p. 2). Following Hickock and Poeppel's proposal (2004), research has focused on verbal production and verbal comprehension. The study by Patel and colleagues (2018) has confirmed the difficulty in emotional expression; it also identified that this inability is linked to lesions in the right pars opercularis, the right inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus, the right superior longitudinal fasciculus, and the right uncinate fasciculus, analogous to the structures identified by the dual-flow model.

A final line of research focused on the role of the right hemisphere in language comprehension (Sheppard & Hillis, 2018). For example, the complex study by Gajardo-Vidal and colleagues (2018) attempted to determine the right hemisphere's role using behavioral and neuroimaging methods in both neurotypical and neuroatypical subjects. The results of the study concluded that the activity of the right middle thalamus increases during executive processing, which it is necessary for sentence comprehension. The involvement of the thalamus should not surprise: it is a hub, a nerve center that facilitates the interaction among different structures (Hwang et al., 2021). fMRI studies have shown increased thalamic activity during executive function, memory, and perception tasks and how a lesion in this subcortical structure influences people's performance in multiple domains (Hwang et al., 2021).

#### 2.2.2 The motor system

#### 2.2.2.1 The Embodied Cognition Theory

The Embodied Cognition Theory is a current of thought that also has interested neuroscientists in recent years. The basic idea of this theory is "that most cognitive processes occur through the body's control systems" (Caruana & Borghi, 2013, p. 23). Thus, sensory and motor experiences are linked to higher cognitive functions such as the processes of understanding and producing language (Jirak et al., 2010). These concepts imply that the same sensorimotor areas recruited when we perceive or interact with objects or entities in the world are activated in the act of understanding speech involving those aspects (Jirak et al., 2010; Scorolli, 2014, p. 127). From a neuroscientific point of view, this perspective also implies that the brain areas related to motor actions and language understanding can no longer be seen as independent but rather as working in concert. Areas traditionally regarded as pure motor areas as, e.g., the primary motor or the premotor cortex, as well as areas that have traditionally been assigned to the processing of language, e.g., Broca's or Wernicke's region, are not modularized but instead they provide the linkage to action and language (Jirak et al., 2010, p. 712).

The Embodied Cognition Theory has been supported by numerous studies using different methodologies to investigate the relationship between the language and the motor domain (Jirak et al., 2010). Neuroscientific data have, for example, revealed that during the presentation of verbs related to mouth action (e.g., eating, biting) or limb action (e.g.,
kicking, pedaling) a neurophysiological response in the corresponding cortical motor areas is enhanced (Buccino & Mezzadri, 2013). Other studies have focused on the relationship between abstract concepts and the motor system. For instance, it was found that the presentation of abstract words which metaphorically refer to concrete aspects recruit the motor system (Scorolli, 2014).

Anatomical connectivity studies have also revealed white-matter bundles connecting the motor area and regions involved in language processing. Diffusion methods have made it possible to identify the frontal aslant tract (FAT), which connects the inferior frontal gyrus — a portion of Broca's area — with different motor areas (Dick et al., 2019). The supplementary motor areas, part of the secondary motor cortex, perform the execution of complex movements (Pinel, 2006) and are linked to the motor execution of language (Dick et al., 2019). Research suggests that the FAT is, in part, responsible of the initiation of verbal production, and, thus, of verbal fluency; thus, its dysfunction might explain stuttering disorder (Dick et al., 2019).

#### 2.2.3 The cerebellum

Traditionally, it was believed that the role of the cerebellum was restricted to movement functions, such as visual-motor coordination or the regulation of muscle tone (Starowicz-Filip et al., 2017). Today, however, its involvement in language is well known. Indeed, cerebellar lesions give rise to language disorders such as ataxic dysarthria and cerebellar mutism (Silveri, 2021). Several authors have also documented the presence of aphasia following cerebellar injury (Silveri et al., 1994; Geva et al., 2021). Accordingly, the cerebellum is strongly connected to the brain via the cerebello-cortical system (Silveri, 2021). The two cerebellar lobes communicate with the brain areas in a crossed manner; that is, the right cerebellum communicates with the left hemisphere and vice versa (Starowicz-Filip et al., 2017). Leiner and colleagues (1991) specifically identified a connection of the right cerebellum with Broca's area, so today we refer to the *"linguistic cerebellum"* to emphasize its role played in language functions (Starowicz-Filip et al., 2017). Some authors believe that

"The cerebellum's role in the regulation of language functions is analogous to its role in motor performance. As in the case of motor functions the cerebellum's role consists of predicting movement direction and preventing dysmetria (underestimation or overestimation of a distance to an object), in the case of language functions it is responsible for the prediction of the final 'linguistic result', that is identification and control of potential mistakes before the ready utterance occurs" (Starowicz-Filip et al., 2017, p. 664).

Studies seem to confirm this hypothesis: for example, Friederici (2006) found a higher cerebellar activation during the presentation of sentences with grammatical errors than during grammatically correct sentences.

## 2.2.4 The executive functions system

The prefrontal cortex is one of the largest areas in humans compared to other species. This portion of the cortex represents the anatomical substrate of executive functions, which play a crucial role in cognition and behavior (Vallar & Papagno, 2007). These functions regulate the processes of planning, organization of actions, memory, attention, and inhibition (Blair, 2017). This grouping is rather heterogeneous, and different tasks recruit different brain areas. In the first section, for example, it was reported that the executive-control network involves the dorsal and ventral pathways of attention (Hutton et al., 2019) and the working memory system (Deldar et al., 2020). Executive functions also play a key role in language processing. Indeed, to communicate effectively, it is necessary to organize our thoughts by selecting the right words from several alternatives and inhibit the tendency to use the same terms; or, to correctly interpret the incoming messages, executive functions processes help us to choose the most coherent interpretation of the perceived speech (Ye & Zhou, 2009).

Studies with different methodologies affirm the importance of executive functions for language. For example, Gertel et al. (2020) investigated the differences between a young and an old brain. They found that older people have stronger connectivity between executive function and language regions, which allows them to compensate for the language difficulties which might cooccur due to cognitive decline.

One of the executive functions components which mostly interacts with the language system is working memory (WM) (Deldar et al., 2020; Makuuchi & Friederici, 2013). Working memory actively maintains and processes information for a short period, prioritizing the retention of task-relevant information over the irrelevant one (Schacter et

al., 2009). WM is a function involved in several complex cognitive tasks, such as verbal production and comprehension, reasoning, and decision-making. Indeed,

"Language production initiates with mental planning, which results from environmental, cognitive and emotional contextual factors. Once a message is selected, it needs to be encoded into words with an intended meaning (semantics), and grammatically encoded to provide critical contextual information (i.e., syntactic) [...]. This linguistic form goes through a final motor encoding phase to transform the mental process into sounds or written spelling. Every step of language production, from retrieving the mental concept, associating it to the corresponding semantic form, programming, and producing the phonological form, requires WM" (Deldar et al., 2020, p. 17).

### 2.3 Language and the motor system: behavioral evidence on people with aphasia

In the previous section, the relationship between the motor system and language, as assumed by embodied cognition theorists, was reported. However, the link between these two functions has also been observed in clinical practice. Indeed, it was found that left post-stroke patients with upper limb movement and speech disorders experienced more difficulties in motor and language recovery (Primaßin et al., 2015; Xu et al., 2021) In other words, the concomitance of aphasia and hemiplegia can worsen the patient's prognosis (Fang et al., 2003; Haselbach et al., 2014).

Based on this evidence, several studies have investigated the relationship between language and the motor system. These studies are clinically relevant as a better understanding of the relationship between these two domains would allow alternative or even better rehabilitation practices to be implemented (Primaßin et al., 2015). To explore this association, some authors have focused on motor skills performance in patients with and without aphasia. Xu and colleagues (2021) conducted a study on a large sample of patients with and without aphasia following a stroke (n = 435; aphasia = 214; without aphasia = 221). The instruments used to estimate the subjects' language and motor skills were the Western Aphasia Battery (WAB-R), the Boston Diagnostic Aphasia Examination (BDAE-3), the Fugl-Meyer (FM) scale and the Action Research Arm Test (ARAT). The Western Aphasia Battery (Kertesz, 2007) assesses verbal production, verbal comprehension, repetition, and naming. The index used in this study, called the Aphasia Quotient (AQ), is a weighted summary of scores in these four tasks. The Boston

Diagnostic Aphasia Examination (Goodglass et al., 2001) is an extended examination of the degree of language dysfunction, measured on a scale of one to five. The Fugl-Meyer scale (Fugl-Meyer et al., 1975) assesses the individual's motor performance. In this research, only the functioning of the upper limbs was assessed, considering the ability to perform voluntary movements, coordination of speed and reflexes. Finally, the Action Research Arm Test (Lyle, 1981) is a quantitative test for upper limb function and consists of four subtests: grasping, gripping, squeezing and gross movement. While the FM scale emphasizes the amount of difficulty in performing a task, the ARAT measures the activity during a task (Xu et al., 2021). Statistical analyses revealed a significant correlation between the AQ index and the ARAT (r = 0.62; p < 0.001) and between the AQ index and the FM scale (r = 0.70; p < 0.001). To identify which function was most predictive of the relationship between language and the motor system, hierarchical linear regression was performed, where the independent variables were the subtests of the Western Aphasia Battery, and the dependent variables were the motor scales. Only spontaneous verbal production significantly predicted the ARAT ( $R^2 = 0.42$ ; p < 0.001) and the FM performance ( $R^2 = 0.51$ ; p < 0.001).

To confirm the predictive role of language in motor recovery, Gialanella et al. (2011) used a sample of 156 subjects undergoing motor and language rehabilitation. In the sample, 105 were persons with aphasia. The participants' motor and language skills were assessed through the AAT, the NIHSS, the Fugl-Meyer scale, the Trunk Control Test (TCT), and the Functional Independence Measure (FIM). The Aachener Aphasie Test (Luzzati et al., 1996) assesses the individual's language abilities through six indicators: spontaneous production, token test, repetition, written production, naming, and comprehension. The National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale (Brott et al., 1989) measures the severity of the cerebral infarction. As in the previous study, the Fugl-Meyer scale was administered to assess the individual's motor performance (Gialanella, 2011). The Trunk Control Test (Collin & Wade, 1990) is a questionnaire to measure trunk mobility. The Functional Independence Measure (Keith et al., 1987) estimates the person's needs for assistance in daily activities. Statistical analyses concluded that persons with aphasia compared to persons without aphasia had lower scores on the motor subscales of the FIM (p < 0.001), the TCT scale (p < 0.003), the NIHSS (p < 0.001), and the Fugl-Meyer (p < 0.002). Despite this, in the regression model, the AAT size, in contrast with previous studies, was

not significantly predictive, (Gialanella, 2011). Hybbinette and co-workers (2021) conducted a study on the recovery of articulatory disorders in persons with aphasia. The research design provided for the first measurements to be taken within four months from the onset of symptoms, while the follow-up was administered at six months from the onset. The aim of the study was to investigate if the recovery of these symptoms were or were not related to the recovery of other impairments over six months. These were estimated through the Apraxia of Speech Rating Scale (ASRS), the Neurolinguistic Aphasia Examination (A-NING), the Boston Naming Test (BNT), the measurement of Non-Verbal Oral Apraxia (NVOA) and the Fugl-Meyer (FM) scale. The Apraxia of Speech Rating Scale (Strand et al., 2014) is an excellent indicator on the presence and severity of apraxia; the Neurolinguistic Aphasia Examination (Lindström & Werner, 1995) assesses seven language skills to determine the type and severity of aphasia. The Boston Naming Test (Kaplan et al., 2001) was used to detect the patients' naming abilities; the Fugl-Meyer scale was used to assess only the upper limbs disorders. Despite the initial 70 participants, only 15 underwent the second assessment. Interestingly and in line with the hypothesis of a relationship between the language and the motor domains, results showed that the improvement in the FM scale at follow-up was significantly correlated with A-NING (r = 0.72; p = 0.03), ASRS (r = -0.57; p = 0.003), NVOA (r = 0.69; p = -0.003) 0.004) and BNT (r = 0.80; p < 0.001; Hybbinette et al., 2021).

Some other studies investigated the impact of a motor rehabilitation program on language outcomes. Harnish and colleagues (2014) conducted a pre-post study to measure the effects of six weeks of motor rehabilitation on five participants with language and motor difficulties measured through the WAB and the FM scale. After the intervention, an overall increase in both scales' scores was reported in three out of five patients. Despite the low external validity of the study, due to the low number of participants, these results are promising as they suggest possible alternative interventions for language recovery. Similarly, in the study by Primaßin and colleagues (2015), while two out of four patients benefited from motor rehabilitation, an increase in verbal scores was observed only in one patient. Finally, Ginex and his colleagues (2017) investigated the role of motor recovery in PWA taking cognitive aspects into account. Again, the research design was pre-post: the first measurement occurred on admission; the second, after discharge, following motor and language rehabilitation. The instruments used were the AAT (Walter

et al., 1983), the FIM (Keith et al., 1987) and the Raven's colored progressive matrices (CPM) (Basso et al., 1987). The AAT was used to measure the type and severity of aphasia, while the motor scale of the FIM were considered separately in the final analyses. The CPM was used to assess the abstract reasoning abilities of the individuals. Indeed, being a non-verbal test, it is particularly suitable for language difficulties (Basso et al., 1987). The analysis of the scores measured at the time of admission showed a correlation between the FIM motor scale, the token test (p = 0.002), the comprehension test (p =0.001), the naming scale (p = 0.001), as well as the score at the Raven's matrices (p =0.002). At discharge, a positive correlation was observed between the FIM and the naming test (p = 0.02), the FIM and the comprehension test (p = 0.021) and the FIM and the CPM test (p = 0.001). A correlation between the scores at the CPM with the token test, the naming test, and the comprehension test was also found (all p = 0.001). A further analysis identified which factor was predictive of the dependent variable measured by the FIM motor scale score at the discharge time. The multiple regression model identified the dependent variables in the token test and in the motor scale scores at admission (Ginex et al., 2017).

In line with the assumption that the motor system can support language recovery, Marangolo and co-workers' study (2010) investigated whether observing gestures might have a role in promoting long-lasting improvement of lexical deficits in PWA. To do this, six individuals with aphasia were asked to observe, for two consecutive weeks, the therapist executing different everyday actions. After observing each action, they had to produce the corresponding verb. In any presentation, the therapist provided a verbal cue. Results showed increased verb production in the four subjects whose verb retrieval deficits arose from lexical deficits. On the contrary, the two patients with severe semantic disorders did not benefit from the treatment. In agreement with the hypothesis of an interaction between the motor and the language domain (Marangolo et al., 2010), the authors speculated that in those four patients, action observation has activated in the semantic system the sensory-motor features of the action, which have reinforced verb lexical retrieval. Indeed, damage to the semantic system prevented the two remaining patients from correctly producing the verb (Marangolo et al., 2010). In a subsequent study, Marangolo and colleagues (2012) found that observing actions which belong to one's experiential motor repertoire exerts a more significant influence on the recovery of verbs than observing unfamiliar actions. According to the above hypothesis, the authors speculated that the observed familiar action facilitates verb retrieval because its sensory-motor features are recognized at the semantic level. On the contrary, actions which do not belong to the motor repertoire of the observer cannot make use of this matching process (Buccino et al., 2004; Marangolo et al., 2012; Shimada, 2009).

In line with the above studies, to date, several lines of evidence have suggested that the sensorimotor cortex takes part in language processing, at least when speech is translated into sensorimotor actions, such as in the production of verbs denoting actions (Marangolo et al., 2010, 2012; Pulvermüller et al., 2005; Rizzolatti et al., 2009). Consistent with this hypothesis, Gili et al. (2017) investigated through rsfMRI in a group of ten chronic persons with aphasia, the impact on functional connectivity of an action-observation treatment. Two different conditions were considered: 1) actions embedded in real daily life contexts (e.g., the station) 2) actions embedded in pantomimed daily life contexts (e.g., the shop). Results showed that only actions embedded in real contexts exerted significant functional connectivity changes in the right hemisphere and, in particular, in the sensorimotor areas such as the right premotor cortex and the right medial temporal area. These changes were positively correlated not only with the retrieval of action verbs but also of nouns and sentences. Thus, observing action in familiar contexts activates in the observer the sensorimotor properties of the action which, in turn, improves verb actions retrieval. Since verbs play a key role in sentence construction, this improvement resulted in significant changes also in nouns and sentences production (Gili et al., 2017). This improvement was not present in the pantomime condition. This last result suggests that the motor-language system does not simply understand actions, but it actively participates in understanding action intention. Indeed, the authors speculated that if this system was only involved in action understanding (the "what" of an action), a similar response should have been observed also in the absence of context (Gili et al., 2017). Considering the above evidence, it is worth highlighting the importance of the motor system's role in the recovery of specific aspects of language.

# 2.4 Language and the executive system: behavioral evidence on people with aphasia

The hypothesis of a strong relationship between the language and the executive functions system, reported in the previous section, has also influenced the way in which language treatments can be programmed in clinical practice. Indeed, it is not uncommon to detect cognitive difficulties in patients with an aphasic disorder (LaCroix et al., 2021), and a large body of research attests that executive functions play a considerable role in the prognosis of aphasia (Schumacher et al., 2019). One aspect that has been mainly investigated is the relationship between attention and language abilities. The study by LaCroix et al. (2021) compared the performance of PWA and healthy subjects in attention tasks. The 42 participants, 22 of whom had chronic aphasia assessed by the Boston Diagnostic Aphasia Examination, underwent the Attention Network Test (Fan et al., 2002). This computerized test measures the speed and accuracy of reaction to a stimulus. Prior to exposure to the stimulus, visual cues are presented to speed participant's responses and to select the right button. The results of this study are interesting. Indeed, although no differences in accuracy were found between the two groups (p = 0.49), the control group performed significantly faster than the PWA group (p < 0.001). Thus, they suggest the role played by language in attentional control (LaCroix et al., 2021). Lee et al. (2020) performed similar research but with different instruments. The aim of the study was to determine the presence of attentional deficits in chronic aphasia as well as their relationship with language scales scores. They used the revised version of the Western Aphasia Battery and the Conners' Continuous Performance Test II. The revised version of the WAB (Kertesz, 2007) provided general estimates of language performance across several indices. The Conners' Continuous Performance Test II (Conners, 2000) measures sustained attention and the ability to shift attention. Participants are presented with a series of visually presented stimuli: participants must press the space bar when they see any letter of the alphabet except the letter "X". Indices of response omissions, time dedicated to find the stimulus and response time were measured (Lee et al., 2020). The study involved 114 PWA and confirmed the expected results: between 20.2% and 48.2% of the sample had difficulties in one of the indices of the attention task; statistical analysis also revealed a worse overall performance in the case of severe aphasia compared to subjects with a less severe aphasic disorder (Lee et al., 2020). A further study using the Test of Everyday Attention (Robertson et al., 1996) confirmed the above results showing a significant correlation between divided attention and improved language skills (Lambon Ralph et al., 2010).

Simic and colleagues (2019) were interested in the predictive role of executive control in the recovery of PWA. They, therefore, conducted a systematic review to identify research findings in the literature. Of the 15 studies, 11 (73%) confirmed that good executive control, measured before language rehabilitation, correlates to better linguistic and functional treatment outcomes. Two studies found no effect, and two others unexpectedly found an opposite effect. Namely, people with better executive control prior to language rehabilitation had a worse outcome. Most of the evidence, however, shows a key role of executive functions processes in predicting language recovery (Simic et al., 2019).

There are several studies, on the other hand, that have not investigated a single executive component but are aimed at establishing the relationship between the language system and different cognitive functions. One example is the study by Wall et al. (2017), who administered various neuropsychological tests to 36 PWA. The language disorder was assessed by the Boston Naming Test and the Comprehensive Aphasia Test (Swinburn et al., 2005). The latter investigates several language domains; for the purpose of the study, the subjects' verbal comprehension was measured. On the other hand, cognitive functions were estimated using a complex neuropsychological battery. The Star Cancellation (Wilson et al., 1987) consists of an A4 sheet of paper with stimuli and distractors; subjects are required to cancel only the stars. The task of the Brixton Spatial Anticipation Test (Burgess & Shallice, 1997) is to identify a specific pattern of stimuli among different schemas. The Trail Making Test (Reitan & Wolfson, 1993) consists of two sections: in part A, individuals are asked to connect circles containing numbers from 1 to 25 in the shortest possible time; in part B, the task is to connect letters and numbers alternately (A-1-B-2, etc.). The Digit Span Test (Wechsler, 1997) measures verbal working memory in which participants are asked to repeat an increasing string of numbers. The Hopkins Verbal Learning Test-Revised (Brandt & Benedict, 2001) is a test of verbal long-term memory. Subjects are asked to learn 12 words from a list and to repeat them immediately afterwards. After 20 minutes, they are asked again to repeat the same words. During the Rey Complex Figure (Osterrieth, 1944), participants are first asked to copy a complex figure; this figure is then removed, and they are asked to perform the task again, after 5 and 30 minutes from the first presentation, by revoking the figure from memory. The

Kettle Test (Hartman-Maeir et al., 2009) measures the individual's ability to perform everyday functional tasks. The Animal Fluency test (Rosen, 1980) tests the individual's ability to name as many animals as possible in one minute. The analyses conducted on these data revealed a positive correlation in the Comprehensive Aphasia Test and Boston Naming Test — naming and verbal comprehension — with all scores on the cognitive scales (all p < 0.001), except for the Star Cancellation and the Kettle Test.

Schumacher et al. (2019) also investigated the relationship between language impairment and executive functions. Thirty-eight PWA completed several neuropsychological tests: the Test of Attentional Performance, the Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System, the Tower of London, the Kramer test, the PM47, and the Brixton test. The Test of Attentional Performance (Zimmerman & Fimm, 1995) is a computerized procedure that measures accuracy and response times in various attentional tasks. From this battery, five tasks were chosen: alertness, GoNoGo, divided attention, and sustained attention (Schumacher et al., 2019). From the Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System battery (Delis et al., 2001), the Design Fluency and Trail Making tasks were extracted. In the Design test, participants are required to connect dots and lines to form a figure; the latter was illustrated in the previous study. The Tower of London (Shallice, 1982) requires the subject to carry out visuospatial planning tasks, rearranging the order of balls drilled on three beams to build up a new figure. The Kramer test (Balzer et al., 2011) requires the subject to divide eight cards into two groups according to specific criteria. Results showed that the scores of almost half of the participants were below average on at least five of the tests performed. As in previous studies, the work by Marinelli et al. (2017) also investigated the relationship between executive functions and aphasia. The cognitive functions of 189 subjects were examined by administering the Cognitive Test Battery for Global Aphasia (Van Mourik et al., 1992), an instrument explicitly designed for severe PWA. The five subscales of attention, executive functions, reasoning, memory, and visual-auditory recognition do not require verbal responses but rather a response through gestures. In the evaluation of the results, three subgroups were identified based on their educational level. Individuals with a higher degree of education performed better both in the cognitive and in the language tests, suggesting that educational attainment might be a positive prognostic factor in aphasic disorder outcomes (Marinelli et al., 2017).

In the next chapter, a brief overview of the most important tDCS aphasia treatment findings which, according to the traditional approach, have applied the electrodes on the classical areas of language will be reported. Subsequently, in line with the connectionist point of view, more recent studies will be described in which tDCS has been applied on cerebral regions which had never been considered before to support language, such as the motor cortex, the cerebellum, the spinal cord and the prefrontal cortex, which could serve as ancillary systems to promote language recovery.

# **CHAPTER III**

# TRANSCRANIAL DIRECT CURRENT STIMULATION AND APHASIA

#### **3.1 Non-invasive brain stimulation (NIBS)**

Over the past few decades, the introduction and development of non-invasive brain stimulation (NIBS) techniques have provided researchers and clinicians a valuable means to modulate the activity of cerebral areas in humans and, thereby, to contribute to the exploration of brain-behavior relationships. This has also led to the development of treatments for various neurological and psychiatric disorders. NIBS has been shown to not only alter neural activity during application but to also induce long-lasting alterations of cortical excitability and activity. Transcranial Electrical Stimulation (tES) and Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS) are two of the most well-known forms of NIBS that influence neural activity based on different electromagnetic principles (Yavari et al., 2018). tES is a generic term that designates several techniques based on the modality of the applied electricity, which can be direct currents (transcranial direct current stimulation, tDCS), alternating currents (transcranial alternating current stimulation, tACS), or random noise currents (transcranial random noise stimulation, tRNS). tDCS, which is the most widely used form of tES, delivers weak direct currents to the scalp through two or more electrodes. tACS involves the application of a balanced sinusoidal current across the scalp, and tRNS, a specific type of tACS, typically involves the use of a current which randomly fluctuates between a frequency range 0.1–640 Hz (Antal et al., 2008; Antal & Paulus, 2013; Deans et al., 2007; Helfrich et al., 2014; Nitsche & Paulus, 2000; Nitsche and Paulus, 2001). Acute effects of modern NIBS techniques distinguish tES from TMS, where the activation of neurons is pertinent. TMS induces high intensities of short-lasting electromagnetic currents in the cerebral cortex, which subsequently generate a supra-threshold activation of the neurons. In contrast, tES does not generate action potentials in neurons, but bi-directionally modulates their spontaneous firing activity via subthreshold alterations of resting membrane potentials (Barker et al., 1985;

Nitsche & Paulus, 2000; Nitsche et al., 2003a; Purpura & McMurtry, 1965; Wagner et al., 2007). With regard to the after-effects, although the presumed induction procedure differs between respective stimulation protocols, it has been suggested that, depending on the stimulation parameters, all are able to produce long-lasting facilitatory or inhibitory plastic changes in the neural system (Dayan et al., 2013; George & Aston-Jones, 2010; Nitsche & Paulus, 2001; Rossini & Rossi, 2007; Rothwell, 1993). Concurrent application of stimulation with behavioral tasks is more difficult with rTMS compared to tES, as suprathreshold activations may inevitably disrupt task-relevant activity whereas the subthreshold polarization induced by tDCS allows the online stimulation to enhance or reduce task-dependent neuronal activation. Whereas the spatial and temporal resolution of TMS is superior, tES tools are generally more cost-effective, easier to operate, and easily adaptable for double-blind, sham-controlled studies. Both techniques are valuable adjunctive tools in neuroscience research and have the potential to overcome an inherent limitation of neuroimaging techniques: the difficulty to infer causal involvement of brain areas or functional networks in specific motor, perceptual, or cognitive processes (Yavari et al., 2018). For the purpose of my thesis, in the following section, I will focus on tDCS as a technique reintroduced in the field of NIBS.

### **3.2 Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS)**

tDCS was first investigated fifty-eight years ago in anesthetized rats revealing that neural activity and cortical excitability could be modified by the application of direct current on the sensorimotor cortex. These effects depend on stimulation polarity and persist for hours after the end of stimulation (Bindman et al., 1964). A few years later, it was established that a current flow sufficiently large to achieve physiological and functional effects could also be induced into the brain via transcranial application of such direct currents in both healthy subjects and patients suffering from psychiatric diseases (Dymond et al., 1975; Lolas, 1977; Rush & Driscoll, 1968). However, mainly due to the lack of relevant tools to assess its heterogeneous effects, this technique was nearly forgotten in the following years. About twenty years ago, tDCS was re-discovered as a tool to modulate human brain activity and its physiological effects started to be systematically explored (Lefaucheur et al., 2017; Nitsche & Paulus, 2000; Priori et al., 1998).

tDCS is a well-established neurostimulation technique that allows stimulation of the cerebral cortex in a safe and non-invasive way. Stimulation is conducted via two or more electrodes with opposite polarities (i.e., anodal and cathodal) placed on the scalp and connected with a battery-driven constant current stimulator with a maximum output in the milliampere (mA) range. A relatively weak electrical direct current (usually  $1 \sim 2 \text{ mA}$ ) is applied via the electrodes, and a proportion of it enters the brain (Nitsche & Paulus, 2000; Nitsche et al., 2008). At the macroscopic level, anodal stimulation increases cortical excitability, whereas cathodal stimulation decreases it (Stagg & Nitsche, 2011). Generally, in experimental studies the anodal and cathodal stimulations are compared with a placebo condition (the so called "sham" condition) in which the stimulator is turned off after 30 sec (Gandiga et al., 2006).

However, the impact and directionality of the effects of tDCS on cortical excitability are also influenced by stimulation intensity, as suggested by the study by Batsikadze et al. (2013) where both anodal and cathodal tDCS at 2 mA increased corticospinal excitability, whereas 1 mA cathodal tDCS decreased it. The effects on cortical excitability can last for up to 90 min after a single stimulation session of  $13 \sim 20$  min duration (Nitsche & Paulus, 2000), and can be further extended by repeated stimulation (i.e., cumulative effects) (Monte-Silva et al., 2013). The physiological aftereffects of prolonged (i.e., application for several minutes) anodal and cathodal tDCS are dependent on synaptic modulation. This assumption is supported by pharmacological studies in humans (Nitsche et al., 2012) and animal models (Fritsch et al., 2010; Kronberg et al., 2017). For example, enhanced long-term potentiation (LTP) in basal dendrites of rat hippocampal slices has been documented in response to anodal stimulation (Kronberg et al., 2017). Anodal stimulation increases intracortical facilitation (ICF), and its after-effects are prevented by NMDA receptor blockade, but enhanced by respective receptor agonists (Liebetanz et al., 2002; Nitsche et al., 2003b, 2005). NMDA receptor block can also prevent cathodal tDCS-generated after-effects (Nitsche et al., 2003b). Given the role of the glutamatergic receptor on ICF (Keller, 1993), it can, therefore, be assumed that glutamatergic neurons are crucial for the induction of plasticity by tDCS. Moreover, tDCS-induced glutamatergic plasticity might be prompted by tDCS-generated alterations of GABA activity. This is suggested by a magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) study

documenting a reduction of GABA content of the motor cortex (Stagg et al., 2009) following both anodal and cathodal tDCS (Vicario et al., 2019).

In the context of clinical research, several studies have shown that tDCS could induce specific changes in neuropsychologic, psychophysiologic, and motor activity as a function of targeted brain areas (Boggio et al., 2006; Brunoni et al., 2012; Fecteau et al., 2007; Fregni et al., 2005). Indeed, certain appealing characteristics of tDCS (such as the fact that it is noninvasive and has mostly well-tolerated, transient, and mild adverse effects) have sparked an increase in clinical studies particularly for motor deficits (Fregni et al., 2021), mood disorders (Brunoni et al., 2013), chronic pain (Knotkova et al., 2021) and neurological disorders such as Alzheimer's disease (da Silva et al., 2022), Parkinson's disease (Brak et al., 2021) and Aphasia (Marangolo, 2020).

However, despite a growing body of studies, the real clinical impact of tDCS needs to be further determined since the variety of the published studies, to date, has not yet made it possible to clearly define which parameters (i.e., number of treatments, type of dosage, target area, intensity, and duration of stimulation) are the most effective to obtain the greatest effectiveness of the technique.

In conclusion, tDCS is a valid tool for the following reasons:

- 1. Safety: the technique does not appear to have any major adverse effects, provided that the stimulation parameters comply with safety limits (Lefaucheur et al., 2017).
- 2. Practicality: tDCS is a practical, inexpensive, and easy-to-use tool compared to other techniques. It is also can be used as a home-based device (Alonzo & Charvet, 2016).
- 3. Simple way of inducing placebo effect: subjects cannot easily distinguish between real and sham conditions (Gandiga et al., 2006).
- 4. Efficacy in treating several clinical conditions: psychiatric and neurological disorders (Fregni et al., 2021).

In the next paragraphs, a brief overview of the most important tDCS aphasia treatment findings which, according to the traditional approach, have applied the electrodes on the classical areas of language will be reported.

Subsequently, in line with the connectionist point of view, more recent studies will be described in which tDCS has been applied on cerebral regions which had never been considered before to support language, such as the motor cortex, the cerebellum, and the spinal cord. In addition, a section will be devoted to tDCS stimulation over the prefrontal regions, including the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, which have strong interconnections with the frontal areas and seem to support aphasia recovery. Indeed, given that the majority of the left-brain damaged patients present large cortical lesions, it is becoming increasingly urgent to explore other neural structures which could serve as ancillary systems to promote language recovery.

# **3.3 tDCS and the classical language areas: evidence on post-stroke aphasia**

As reported in literature, a growing body of evidence has already suggested that tDCS provides an adjunctive treatment approach for language deficits in patients with chronic stroke-induced aphasia (Marangolo & Caltagirone, 2014; Marangolo, 2020). Indeed, there is substantial agreement on its role in rebalancing the activity of both hemispheres after a stroke. Particularly, it has been proposed that in patients with left hemispheric damage, the homotopic contralateral right hemispheric areas may be in a state of abnormally high activation and may exert an inhibitory effect over the left damaged hemisphere (Belin, 1996; Murase et al., 2004). Thus, language recovery may be enhanced either by increasing the output of the perilesional left hemisphere through excitatory stimulation (Baker et al., 2010; Campana et al., 2015; Fiori et al., 2011, 2013; Fridriksson et al., 2011, 2018b; 2018c; Lee et al., 2013; Marangolo et al., 2011, 2013a, 2013b, 2014a; Norise et al., 2017; Richardson et al., 2015; Santos et al., 2017; Shah-Basak et al., 2015; Spielmann et al., 2018; Vestito et al., 2014; Vila-Nova et al., 2019; Woodhead et al., 2018) or decreasing the inhibition from the intact right hemisphere over the left hemispheric areas by applying inhibitory current over the contralesional cortex (Fiori et al., 2019; Flöel et al., 2011; Kang et al., 2011; Norise et al., 2017; Shah-Basak et al., 2015; Silva et al., 2018; Vines et al., 2011). There were no reported side effects in any of the studies, even when tDCS was applied in a multiple session paradigm (Fregni et al., 2021; Lefaucheur et al., 2017). Together with these two approaches, more recently, dual stimulation has been proposed in which the left and right hemisphere are simultaneously

targeted with anodal and cathodal stimulation, respectively, to enhance activity into the left perilesional cortex (Guillouët et al., 2020; Marangolo et al., 2013c, 2014b, 2016). Indeed, a modeling study by Galletta et al. (2015), which compared the most used electrode montages in tDCS aphasia studies, has suggested that unilateral stimulation over the left perilesional area exerts higher electric field magnitude over this region compared to the right unilateral inhibition. Moreover, this effect was even higher after dual stimulation. Thus, most of the tDCS aphasia studies have used these montages to exert the highest effects over the left perilesional region and, thus, to enhance the recovery of language.

The classical modular approach has been most often adopted; thus, positioning the active electrode either over the left Broca's area (Baker et al., 2010; Campana et al., 2015; Fiori et al., 2013; Guillouët et al., 2020; Lee et al., 2013; Marangolo et al., 2011, 2013a, 2013b, 2013c, 2014a, 2014b, 2016; Norise et al., 2017; Santos et al., 2017; Spielmann et al., 2018; Vestito et al., 2014; Vila-Nova et al., 2019; Woodhead et al., 2018), the left Wernicke's area (Fiori et al., 2011, 2013; Flöel et al., 2011; Fridriksson et al., 2011, 2018b, 2018c; Marangolo et al., 2013a, 2013b, 2014a; Spielmann et al., 2018) and, less often, over the right homologues (Cipollari et al., 2015; Fiori et al., 2019; Flöel et al., 2011; Kang et al., 2011; Norise et al., 2017; Shah-Basak et al., 2015; Silva et al., 2018; Vines et al., 2011). Indeed, most of the research has proven that anodal stimulation over these areas combined with language therapy increases different aspects of language. Not surprisingly, the Broca's area is a crucial part of the language network involved in different aspect of language processing (Gough et al., 2005; Hagoort, 2005; Marini & Urgesi, 2012) and it also plays an important role in the recovery of units with high communicative value, such as content units (Marangolo et al., 2013b, 2014a). More specifically, a significant improvement has been shown in noun naming after anodal tDCS over the left frontal gyrus (Baker et al., 2010; Campana et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2013; Marangolo et al., 2014b; Norise et al., 2017; Vestito et al., 2014), the left temporal gyrus (Fiori et al., 2011, 2013; Fridriksson et al., 2011, 2018b, 2018c; Marangolo et al., 2013a), or the right homologues (Flöel et al., 2011; Kang et al., 2011; Norise et al., 2017; Silva et al., 2018). Some other studies have targeted the left inferior frontal gyrus in order to improve verb naming (Campana et al., 2015; De Aguiar et al., 2015; Fiori et al., 2013; Marangolo et al., 2013a, 2013b, 2014b), speech fluency (Campana et al., 2015;

Marangolo et al., 2013b, 2014a, 2014b), repetition (Marangolo et al., 2011, 2013c, 2016; Vila-Nova et al., 2019) and reading (Woodhead et al., 2018). A couple of reports (Cipollari et al., 2015; Vines et al., 2011) have also investigated whether melodic intonation therapy (MIT) combined with anodal stimulation over the right inferior frontal gyrus would increase articulatory difficulties in post-stroke aphasia. Both studies showed positive results with a greater improvement in syllables, words, and sentences repetition after the active condition (Cipollari et al., 2015; Vines et al., 2015; Vines et al., 2011).

With regard to the number of stimulation sessions, the studies were not homogeneous varying from one (Lee et al., 2013; Santos et al., 2017) to five (Baker et al., 2010; Fiori et al., 2011, 2013, 2019; Fridriksson et al., 2011; Guillouët et al., 2020; Kang et al., 2011; Marangolo et al., 2011, 2013a, 2013c; Silva et al., 2018; Vila-Nova et al., 2019; Woodhead et al., 2018) to fifteen sessions (Cipollari et al., 2015; Fridriksson et al., 2018b, 2018c; Marangolo et al., 2016). While for current intensity, there was a substantial agreement to use 1 mA (Baker et al., 2010; De Aguiar et al., 2015; Fiori et al., 2011, 2013, 2019; Flöel et al., 2011; Fridriksson et al., 2011, 2018b, 2018c; Marangolo et al., 2011, 2013a, 2013b, 2013c, 2014a; Richardson et al., 2015; Spielmann et al., 2018; Vila-Nova et al., 2019) to 2 mA (Campana et al., 2015; Cipollari et al., 2015; Fiori et al., 2019; Guillouët et al., 2020; Kang et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2013; Marangolo et al., 2014b, 2016; Norise et al., 2017; Santos et al., 2017; Shah-Basak et al., 2015; Silva et al., 2018; Woodhead et al., 2018). Unfortunately, almost half of the reported studies did not include follow-up sessions (Campana et al., 2015; De Aguiar et al., 2015; Guillouët et al., 2020; Kang et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2013; Marangolo et al., 2014a; Santos et al., 2017; Spielmann et al., 2018; Vines et al., 2011) and, in the remaining studies, tDCS effects were measured up to 1-4 weeks after the treatment (Baker et al., 2010; Cipollari et al., 2015; Fiori et al., 2011, 2013, 2019; Flöel et al., 2011; Fridriksson et al., 2011, 2018b, 2018c; Marangolo et al., 2011, 2013a, 2013b, 2013c, 2014b, 2016; Norise et al., 2017; Richardson et al., 2015; Shah-Basak et al., 2015; Silva et al., 2018; Vestito et al., 2014; Vila-Nova et al., 2019; Woodhead et al., 2018).

Anyway, beyond this variability, the literature agrees on some aspects which might assure the long-term maintenance of stimulation efficacy. Long term effects are more easily obtained stimulating the subjects for several consecutive days (Baker et al., 2010; Cipollari et al., 2015; Fiori et al., 2011, 2013, 2019; Fridriksson et al., 2011, 2018b, 2018c; Marangolo et al., 2011, 2013a, 2013b, 2013c, 2014b, 2016; Norise et al., 2017; Richardson et al., 2015; Shah-Basak et al., 2015; Silva et al., 2018; Vestito et al., 2014; Vila-Nova et al., 2019; Woodhead et al., 2018). Indeed, the hypothesis underlying multiple session paradigms is that short-lasting effects from a single session will accumulate with repeated sessions and eventually lead to a permanent improvement in the treated function and/or on untrained materials (for a review, see Marangolo, 2020). It has also been suggested that higher current intensity (i.e., 2 mA) brings greater benefits than lower (i.e., 1 mA) (Fiori et al., 2019). Fiori et al. (2019) highlighted that the systematic determination of stimulation intensity appears to be crucial for obtaining relevant effects. The authors found a significant improvement in verb naming only after cathodal high definition (HD)-tDCS at 2 mA compared to 1 mA.

One important point on which there is a total agreement is that tDCS must be delivered with concomitant language treatment (Fregni et al., 2021; Marangolo, 2020). Indeed, the rationale of the treatment is to potentiate the training (Marangolo, 2020).

In summary, although the results of these studies look very promising, it is worth noting that most of the studies have used a naming treatment approach (i.e., computerized matching, picture naming; Fiori et al., 2011, 2013; Flöel et al., 2011; Fridriksson et al., 2018b; Kang et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2013; Marangolo et al., 2013a; Norise et al., 2017; Santos et al., 2017; Shah-Basak et al., 2015; Vestito et al., 2014) which has not always been considered effective in the literature (Brady et al., 2016).

However, this approach has been combined with tDCS because it offers a highly constrained replicable treatment method, possibly aimed at promoting repetition and intensity of the treatment, which are both aspects known to promote neuroplasticity (Kleim & Jones, 2008). Only very few studies have considered combining tDCS with evidence-based treatment (Cipollari et al., 2015; De Aguiar et al., 2015; Marangolo et al., 2013c, 2014a, 2014b; Vines et al., 2011). Indeed, it is possible that pairing noninvasive brain stimulation with appropriate cognitive tasks and behavioral therapies may increase the "behavioral resolution" of the stimulation procedures. A final missed point was the lack of outcome measures for quantifying the improvement in functional communication. Indeed, one of the major challenges in aphasia rehabilitation is to find the persistence of

gains in language and generalization to functional communication outcomes after the intervention (Brady et al., 2016).

In conclusion, although several aspects need to be clarified, there are a series of advantages that make tDCS suitable to be combined with aphasia treatment. tDCS is costeffective, very well tolerated with low adverse effects, easy-to-use, thus, it can be administered easily in a variety of settings, as during language therapy (Bikson et al., 2016; Lefaucheur et al., 2017). Moreover, the low spatial and temporal resolution which does not allow for specifically targeting a particular language area (Ardolino et al., 2005; Boros et al., 2008; Kwon et al., 2008; Lang et al., 2015; Marshall et al., 2004) might result in a further advantage. Indeed, the diffusion of current inside a damaged system (i.e., the left hemisphere), if it exerts its influence also far away from the targeted area, it may not be entirely negative since it might simultaneously affect several undamaged areas resulting in greatest language recovery (Marangolo, 2020).

### **3.4 tDCS and the motor cortex: evidence on post-stroke aphasia**

In line with the assumption outlined in Chapter 2 that the motor system can support language recovery due its anatomically and functionally link with perisylvian eloquent areas, new approaches to the use of tDCS for aphasia treatment have relied to the hypothesis of modulating the motor regions.

In a pilot study Santos and colleagues (2013) examined whether motor cortex modulation improved language recovery in patients with aphasia. For this purpose, nineteen chronic aphasics underwent ten transcranial direct current stimulation sessions lasting 20 minutes each on consecutive days, using a current of 2 mA. The anode was positioned over the supraorbital area and the cathode over the contralateral motor cortex. They chose to apply tDCS on this area to revert increased transcallosal inhibition of the affected motor cortex in stroke. In all patients, language measures (i.e., oral language comprehension, copying, dictation, reading, writing, naming and verbal fluency) were collected before (T0) and at the end (T10) of treatment. The findings showed that that cathodal tDCS of the unaffected primary motor cortex was associated with significant improvements in simple phrase comprehension, naming, and verbal fluency in relation to names of animals (Santos et al., 2013).

In Meinzer et al.'s work (2016) it was explored whether anodal tDCS delivered over the left motor cortex with concomitant language training improved the naming abilities and functional communication in post-stroke aphasia, also addressing the long-term maintenance of tDCS effects. In a randomized, parallel group, sham-controlled, doubleblind clinical trial, 26 aphasics received a highly intensive naming therapy over 2 weeks (8 days,  $2 \times 1.5$  h/day). Concurrently, anodal or sham stimulation was administered to the left primary motor cortex twice daily at the beginning of each training session. The primary outcome was naming ability for specifically trained items. Secondary outcomes comprised transfer to untrained items and generalization to everyday communication ability. All outcome measures were evaluated before and immediately after the end of the intervention and during a 6-month follow-up period. Naming ability for trained items was significantly improved immediately after the end of the intervention in both the anodal and sham-transcranial direct current stimulation groups, with a trend for larger gains in the anodal-transcranial direct current stimulation group. Treatment effects for trained items were significantly better maintained in the anodal-transcranial direct current stimulation group 6 months later. In addition, transfer to untrained items was significantly larger in the anodal-transcranial direct current stimulation group after the training and during the 6-month follow-up assessment. Interestingly, transfer effects were only maintained in the anodal-transcranial direct current stimulation group. Functional communication was significantly more improved in the anodal-transcranial direct current stimulation group at both time points compared to patients treated with sham-transcranial direct current stimulation (Meinzer et al., 2016).

To corroborate this benefit from anodal-tDCS over the motor cortex, in another study (Stahl et al., 2019), 130 chronic aphasics received real or placebo stimulation associated to intensive speech-language therapy consisting of computerized naming treatment and face to-face communicative-pragmatic therapy, after an extensive baseline screening. These tasks included a variety of situations of everyday life that required verbal and non-verbal skills in social interaction. The treatment was administered in two daily sessions over a period of three consecutive weeks (2 h of daily naming therapy; 30 min of daily communicative-pragmatic therapy). Results indicated that intensive SLT combined with A-tDCS on the primary motor cortex enhanced naming and communication skills in chronic post-stroke aphasia, with medium to large effect sizes (Stahl et al., 2019).

Darkow et al. (2017) applied anodal tDCS during fMRI in 16 patients with chronic aphasia and mild naming impairments to investigate how neuromodulation interacts with the residual language network. Anodal tDCS was applied over the left primary motor cortex, as in Meinzer et al.' study (2016). To measure "pure" stimulation effects independent of performance and language treatment, the authors selectively included items that could be reliably named by the patients without therapy. Relative to sham tDCS, anodal tDCS significantly decreased activity in domain-general brain regions that were previously associated with high-level cognitive control. An independent component analysis further revealed increased activity in a larger language-related network and increased connectivity between these regions. In comparison with unstimulated healthy controls, tDCS resulted in a normalization of network activity and connectivity in PWA. The overall reduction in task-related activity was taken to reflect enhanced neural efficiency and less effortful processing (Darkow et al., 2017).

To test whether tDCS stimulation of the motor cortex was able to influence and modulate some aspects of specific lexico-semantic information (i.e., object vs. action words), Branscheidt and colleagues (2018) conducted an experiment in which 16 post-stroke aphasics were asked to perform a lexical decision task judging whether the presented stimuli were words or pseudowords. In all subjects, anodal tDCS delivered over the left motor cortex (20 min, 2 mA; reference electrode over the right subraorbital area) improved accuracy in lexical decision, especially for words with action-related content and pseudowords with an "action-like" ending but not for words with object-related content and pseudowords with "object-like" characteristics. Given the functional role of the motor cortex in processing word meanings related to actions and motor activity (Pulvermüller, 2005), the authors assumed that the stimulation on this site has strengthen content-specific word-to-semantic concept associations only for words, such as action verbs, associated to motor schemata (Branscheidt et al., 2018).

Recently, a study of PWA with severe apraxia of speech (Wang et al., 2019) found that, combined with speech therapy, anodal tDCS administered on the left primary motor cortex (A-tDCS-M1 group) significantly promoted participants' performance in tasks such as auditory word-picture matching and picture naming, and this positive effect was more evident than in the Broca's and sham stimulation group (Wang et al., 2019). In the same study, results for approximate entropy revealed that not only the left motor cortex

but also the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex and Broca's area in the ipsilateral hemisphere were significantly activated in the A-tDCS-M1 group, suggesting that stimulation over the left motor cortex could result in an extensive effect on the activation of other speech-related areas in the articulatory network, improving language production (Wang et al., 2019).

In conclusion, these studies show that tDCS over the motor cortex combined with language treatments improves the retrieval of language stimuli with sensorimotor features, such as action verbs and articulatory abilities, providing a novel 'backdoor' approach in aphasia rehabilitation.

## 3.5 tDCS and the cerebellum: evidence on post-stroke aphasia

Given that the cerebellum is involved in motor coordination, and it is functionally and anatomically linked to major language areas in the left hemisphere, several researchers wondered whether it might be a promising alternative stimulation target site for language recovery.

In a pioneering work, Sebastian et al. (2017) applied anodal tDCS over the right cerebellum in a double-blind, sham-controlled, within-subject cross-over case design studying a mute chronic, stroke patient with bilateral lesions in the middle cerebral artery territory. The stimulation protocol was applied over 2 intervention phases (anodal vs sham) of 15 sessions, 3–5 per week, separated by 2 months, concurrently with a behavioral spelling treatment. The findings showed that both anodal and sham resulted in improved spelling to dictation for trained and untrained words immediately after and 2 months post-treatment, but the improvement was greater with anodal tDCS than with sham especially for untrained items. Further, generalization to written picture naming was noted only with tDCS. Finally, the resting state functional connectivity data indicated that improvement in spelling was accompanied by an increase in cerebro-cerebellar network connectivity (Sebastian et al., 2017).

Similarly, Marangolo and colleagues (2018) aimed to verify whether the cerebellum, as part of the motor system, contributed to verb retrieval. In particular, the authors wanted to investigate if cerebellar stimulation would be efficacious for any language task or only if the task would require cognitive efforts and, thus, the activation of some other cognitive components (i.e., working memory) which supports language processing. Indeed, several studies have already suggested that the role of the cerebellum in language processing depends on task demands (Ackermann et al., 2007; Pope & Miall, 2014; Stoodley et al., 2010; Stoodley et al., 2012). Ackermann et al. (2007) have argued that non-linguistic aspects of task performance, such as the amount of effort or the degree of automaticity, might account for cerebellar involvement during verb generation. Similarly, Stoodley and Schmahmann (2009) have claimed that the cerebellum takes part not in the language function *per sé* but only when the task is cognitively demanding and, thus, engages other cognitive components, such as working memory and/or executive functions (Stoodley & Schmahmann, 2009). Indeed, apart from motor control and higher order aspects of speech production, a variety of studies have pointed to a contribution of the cerebellum in executive and memory tasks (Ackermann et al., 2007). Because the paradigm of verb generation involves the production and selection of different verbal responses (Thompson-Schill et al., 1998), pre-articulatory rehearsal processes are engaged as well, which rely on working memory processes (Ackermann et al., 2007, Helmuth et al., 1997).

Following these hypotheses, Marangolo and collaborators (2018) investigated the effect of cerebellar DCS coupled with a verb training in 12 PWA by contrasting two different language tasks with different demands in terms of cognitive effort: a verb naming and a verb generation task. Indeed, with respect to verb naming in which the production of the correct answer is facilitated by the presented picture, verb generation requires the patient to creatively link a noun to a verb choosing among competing response alternatives (Thompson-Schill et al., 1998), thus, relies on different cognitive strategies (Ackermann et al., 2007; Justus et al., 2005).

Interestingly, although verb generation is a task more cognitively demanding than verb naming and persons with aphasia generally experience greatest difficulty with verb generation (Martin & Cheng, 2006; Thompson-Schill et al., 1998), in Marangolo et al.'s study (2018), PWA benefited only for this task after right cerebellar cathodal stimulation. Because these results point to potential therapeutic benefits of cerebellar stimulation only for complex language tasks, the authors believe that these findings have important implications for aphasia. Indeed, they address the possibility that the cerebellum might support cognitive functions which sustain language recovery (Marangolo et al., 2018).

In a recent follow-up investigation, Sebastian et al. (2020) performed a randomized, double-blind, sham-controlled, within-subject cross-over study design, where individuals with chronic aphasia received 15 treatment sessions (3–5 sessions per week, washout period of 2 months) of anodal cerebellar tDCS (N=12) or cathodal cerebellar tDCS (N=12) plus computerized aphasia therapy as well as sham plus computerized aphasia therapy. The authors found that tDCS was more effective than sham in the immediate post-treatment phase for participants who received "tDCS first"; a significant effect of tDCS for untrained naming was also observed immediately and 2 months post-treatment. Greater gains in naming (relative to sham) were noted for participants receiving cathodal stimulation for both trained and untrained items (Sebastian et al., 2020).

To date, only an open-label pilot study by DeMarco and colleagues (2021) demonstrated that anodal cerebellar tDCS does not enhance language processing. In this study, 24 patients with chronic post-stroke aphasia were recruited: 10 individuals received active stimulation and 14 individuals sham stimulation. The stimulation protocol (5 consecutive days of 1 hour for both conditions) was associated with a multimodal speech therapy targeted anomia. Before treatment, once at 24 hours post treatment, and at the 3-month follow-up, all participants underwent five behavioral tests to assess aphasia quotient, speech production at the sentence level, lexical retrieval and category and letter fluency. Cloze sentence completion, verb generation, verb naming and motor production were only administered to the stimulation group. Cerebellar tDCS did not significantly enhance language processing measured either immediately following treatment or at the 3-month follow-up. The effect sizes of tDCS over sham treatment were generally nil or small, except for the mean length of utterance on the picture description task and for the response time on the verb generation task (DeMarco et al., 2021).

Despite this controversial outcome, the above-mentioned studies corroborate the concept that cerebellar stimulation might be an optimal target site for aphasia rehabilitation, especially for heterogeneous patients whose left hemisphere lesions vary in size and location.

### **3.6 tDCS and the spinal cord: evidence on post-stroke aphasia**

Following the hypothesis of an involvement of the motor system in processing some aspects of speech (i.e., action verbs), Marangolo et al. (2017) investigated whether the spinal cord might also take part in verb retrieval. Indeed, several studies have shown that the spinal cord possesses capacities of activity-dependent plasticity for the acquisition and maintenance of behavioural pattern on motor function/ skills both in normal condition and after spinal cord injury (see Wolpaw & Tennissen, 2001 for review).

Moreover, given the well-known strong reciprocal connections between the cortex and the spinal cord (Di Lazzaro et al., 2012, 2013; Roche et al., 2009, 2011), the authors assumed that the stimulation of the spinal cord would influence activity into the sensorimotor cortex, through its ascending spinal pathways, which, in turn, would facilitate words with sensorimotor properties, such as action verbs. Indeed, it has been shown that transcutaneous spinal direct current stimulation (tsDCS) delivered over the thoracic vertebrae modulates spinal cord activity along the lemniscal pathways increasing or reducing cortical excitability possibly by inducing depolarization or hyperpolarization of the neural membrane resting potential (Bocci et al., 2015a, 2015b).

Thus, Marangolo et al. (2017) explored the combined effect of tsDCS and language treatment for the recovery of verbs and nouns in 14 chronic aphasics. During each treatment, each subject received tsDCS (20 min, 2 mA) over the thoracic vertebrae (10th vertebra) in three different conditions: (1) anodal, (2) cathodal and (3) sham, while performing a verb and noun naming tasks. In all conditions, the reference electrode was placed over the right shoulder. Each experimental condition was run in five consecutive daily sessions over 3 weeks with 6 days of intersession interval. Results showed that anodal tsDCS differently affected the amount of improvement in noun and verb naming. Indeed, while nouns and verbs significantly improved in all patients in each condition at the end of training due to the language treatment, anodal tsDCS boosted recovery only for verbs. There were no significant differences for the recovery of nouns in the three experimental conditions. This specificity argues against an effect simply due to enhanced cognitive arousal which should have influenced both verb and noun naming. Given that one of the main functions of the spinal cord is to translate sensory information into motor output and that tsDCS exerts its influence also into the brain (Bocci et al., 2015a,

2015b, 2015c; Nitsche et al., 2005), the authors argued that tsDCS contributed to the recovery of verbs since action verbs are made of motor properties (i.e., to bite). Conversely, nouns not related to specific action (i.e., cloud) did not activated the motor pathways and, therefore, did not benefit from this facilitation (Marino et al., 2012, 2014). Very recently, the same authors (Marangolo et al., 2020) replicated the above study also through resting state functional measuring, magnetic imaging (rs-fMRI), possible functional connectivity changes due to spinal stimulation. As in the previous study, after anodal stimulation, PWA showed a significant greater improvement in verb retrieval with respect to the sham condition. Interestingly, this improvement was significantly correlated with functional connectivity changes into a cerebellar-cortical network which involved the left cerebellum, the right parietal lobe and the premotor cortex, all regions related to action semantics and verb processing (Marangolo et al., 2020).

Although this finding seems surprising and it requires further investigation, it suggests that spinal stimulation exerts its influence at the cortical level, thus, acting as a "bridge" for conveying tsDCS induced changes into brain networks involved in verb production.

## 3.7 tDCS and the prefrontal cortex: evidence on post-stroke aphasia

A new approach in aphasic neurorehabilitation is to move from a language-centric understanding of aphasia toward one focusing on non-linguistic factors that can support and possibly reshape neural networks engaged in language recovery (Cahana-Amitay & Albert, 2015). This alternative approach involves targeting stimulation to areas of the brain that are farther away from the damaged regions but interconnected to the linguistic areas. The few studies that have considered this perspective in aphasia have primarily focused on stimulating the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) (Pestalozzi et al., 2018; Riley et al., 2022; Saidmanesh et al., 2012). It is well known that DLPFC is engaged in higher level cognition and, in particular, in executive functions control (i.e., inhibition, set-shifting and updating components) (Miller & Cohen, 2001). Although the DLPFC has never been considered as specifically related to language tasks, its role for implementing functional connectivity between the language network and other cognitive domains has been widely recognized (for a review see Hertrich et al., 2021).

Based on this assumption, in Saidmanesh et al.'s work (2012) it was investigated whether anodal tDCS (2 mA, 20 min) over the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) and cathodal tDCS over the right DLPFC versus sham stimulation improves working memory and aphasia quotient in individuals with post-stroke aphasia. Twenty patients with chronic non-fluent aphasia received both real and sham tDCS for ten days. Before and after the interventions, the Persian Aphasia and the 2-Back Test were administered. The Persian AQ scores improved significantly in the active stimulation group compared to sham, as did working memory by 2-Back test. The latter improvement implied that there had been an effect on DLPFC. Although increase in working memory leading to improvement in speech performance might be one way to speculate the significant increase in AQ, in the work, it is not clearly discussed how dual stimulation over DLPFC might have played a role in speech recovery.

Interestingly, Pestalozzi and colleagues (2018) have explored whether strengthening executive control through anodal tDCS over the left DLPFC facilitated lexical access in chronic poststroke aphasia. In a randomized-controlled and double blind within-subject design, 14 participants with chronic poststroke aphasia underwent language assessment (baseline) and two tDCS sessions (1mA; 20 min): anodal and sham, separated by one week interval. Performances in picture naming, verbal fluency, and word repetition were evaluated immediately after stimulation. The authors found that anodal stimulation of the intact left DLPFC modulated performance of PWA in a verbal fluency task, supporting the idea that increasing prefrontal excitability could have exerted beneficial effects on language functioning in aphasia. Moreover, despite no overall effects on picture naming and repetition, prefrontal stimulation had a facilitative effect on naming high-frequency words. Therefore, the present study indicated that strengthening executive control functions after stroke could complement speech and language–focused therapy (Pestalozzi et al., 2018).

Based on evidence that non-perilesional tDCS stimulation targets have the potential to improve response to aphasia treatment, in an open-label study Riley and co-workers (2022) wanted to verify whether anodal tDCS over DLPFC improved sustained attention, facilitating language learning in persons with aphasia. Twelve participants with mild/moderate aphasia received ten 30-min training sessions (20 minutes of simultaneous tDCS and artificial grammar training and 10 minutes of only artificial grammar training).

During the artificial grammar task, participants were presented with strings of forms that followed specific rules of an artificial grammar and asked to recall them in a matching task using laminated cards while the examiner provided auditory feedback on response accuracy. Sustained attention was measured pre- and post-training using a Continuous Performance Task (CPT) and artificial grammar learning was measured post-training using a 2-choice grammaticality judgment task and an artificial grammar rules test. The findings showed an improvement in CPT accuracy and in two artificial grammar learning measures. Despite the small sample size and the lack of a control treatment condition, this research emphasizes how anodal tDCS over DLPFC can enhance cognitive and linguistic performance in post-stroke aphasia (Riley et al., 2022).

Taken together, these studies support the idea that increasing prefrontal excitability through tDCS might have positive effects on language recovery after stroke-induced aphasia. Indeed, future studies are needed to better understand the effects of DLPFC stimulation on different linguistic aspects.

In the following chapter, I will present the research carried out during my three Ph.D. years which pursued the hypothesis to further investigate the effectiveness of tDCS for language recovery. In particular, starting from the traditional assumption of stimulating the classical language areas, I will first report a study on tDCS application for the recovery of writing abilities. Then, to further explore the role of the spinal cord in the processing of sensorimotor language components, a study on the effectiveness of spinal cord stimulation for apraxia of speech disorders will be described. Finally, to further understand the relationships between the executive control domain and the ability to rely on functional communication in severe aphasia, a tDCS study will be reported which, applying tDCS over the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, measures the language and communication improvement by using executive tasks.

# **CHAPTER IV**

# EXPERIMENTAL SECTION

This chapter describes all the research conducted during my three years of Ph.D. which led to the publication of three scientific articles reported in the next paragraphs. In all studies, the use of tDCS for the recovery of language in post-stroke chronic aphasia was investigated. In the first experiment, following the traditional approach of language representation, tDCS was applied over the left temporo-parietal cortex to investigate its role for the recovery of writing disorders. In the second experiment, the use of transpinal stimulation was compared with tDCS applied over the frontal region to verify which of the two techniques is the most effective for the recovery of articulatory difficulties. In the third experiment, following the connectionist approach, an executive function training combined with tDCS over the right dorsolateral frontal cortex was investigated to evaluate its impact on functional communication in severe aphasia.

## 4.1 EXPERIMENT 1

# **DUAL-tDCS** Treatment over the Temporo-Parietal Cortex Enhances Writing Skills: First Evidence from Chronic Post-Stroke Aphasia<sup>1</sup>

### Abstract

The learning of writing skills involves the re-engagement of previously established independent procedures. Indeed, the writing deficit an adult may acquire after left hemispheric brain injury is caused by either an impairment to the lexical route, which processes words as a whole, to the sublexical procedure based on phoneme-to-grapheme conversion rules, or to both procedures. To date, several approaches have been proposed for writing disorders, among which, interventions aimed at restoring the sub-lexical procedure were successful in cases of severe agraphia. In a randomized double-blind crossover design, fourteen chronic Italian post-stroke aphasics underwent dual transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) (20 min, 2 mA) with anodal and cathodal current simultaneously placed over the left and right temporo-parietal cortex, respectively. Two different conditions were considered: (1) real, and (2) sham, while performing a writing task. Each experimental condition was performed for ten workdays over two weeks. After real stimulation, a greater amelioration in writing with respect to the sham was found. Relevantly, these effects generalized to different language tasks not directly treated. This evidence suggests, for the first time, that dual tDCS associated with training is efficacious for severe agraphia. Our results confirm the critical role of the temporo-parietal cortex in writing skills.

#### 4.1.1 Introduction

Aphasia is an acquired language impairment following left-hemisphere brain injury (Ali et al., 2015). The aphasic symptoms vary in terms of severity and degree of involvement across the different language modalities, such as oral expression, comprehension, reading, and writing. Despite the fact that clinicians and therapists are generally more attentive to spoken than written language disorders, persons with aphasia (PWA) also show severe difficulties in writing (Sinanović et al., 2011; Thiel et al., 2015), which interferes with everyday activities (e.g., to take notes; to make a shopping list). Indeed, to date, due to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Pisano, F., Caltagirone, C., Incoccia, C., & Marangolo, P. (2021). DUAL-tDCS Treatment over the Temporo-Parietal Cortex Enhances Writing Skills: First Evidence from Chronic Post-Stroke Aphasia. *Life (Basel, Switzerland)*, *11*(4), 343. https://doi.org/10.3390/life11040343

the overuse of internet devices (i.e., computers, tablets, mobile phones, emails), written language has become more important than previously considered.

One of the major models proposed for writing is the dual-route model (DRM). In its most simplified version, the model assumes two independent procedures which operate in parallel: a lexical route that processes words as a whole, and a sublexical one based on phoneme-to-grapheme conversion procedures (Beeson et al., 2002; Ellis, 2000; Kiran, 2005). A dual-route model accounts for how a literate person can write both regular, and irregular words and legal nonwords. As within the lexical route for word naming, the lexical route for writing includes two stores encompassing the phonological and orthographic lexical representation of words and a semantic store that contains their semantic representation (Coslett et al., 2000). This route allows a person to write any type of familiar words (regular vs. irregular) but cannot be used when spelling unfamiliar words or nonwords; thus, it is the only method available for writing irregular words (Beeson et al., 2002; Ellis, 2000; Kiran, 2005). On the contrary, sublexical procedures rely on phoneme-to-grapheme conversion rules which translate a string of sounds (i.e., phonemes) into its corresponding graphemes. This procedure is used to write regular words and nonlexical phonemic strings (nonwords) (Angelelli et al., 2018; Beeson et al., 2002; Ellis, 2000; Kiran, 2005).

The major evidence for a dual-route procedure for writing derives from the observation of PWA affected by writing disorders (Baxter & Warrington, 1985; Beauvois & Dérouesené, 1981; Harris & Coltheart, 1986; Patterson, 1986; Shallice, 1981). Indeed, the writing deficits an adult subject may acquire after left hemispheric brain injury might be caused by either an impairment to the lexical route, to the sublexical one, or to both procedures. The most frequent syndrome due to a damage to the lexical pathway is surface dysgraphia (Beauvois & Dérouesené, 1981; Goodman & Caramazza, 1986). Errors in spelling irregular words are the most frequent symptom. Thus, this syndrome is more easily detected in languages with irregular spelling such as English. In "transparent languages" (i.e., Italian, Spanish), this difficulty translates into "dysorthography" (Angelelli et al., 2018; Ardila et al., 1996; Bigozzi et al., 2016; Luzzi et al., 2003). Indeed, in those languages, the sub-lexical route allows a person to correctly transcribe the phonological strings through the phoneme-to-grapheme correspondence based on either sound–letter conversion or syllabic conversion so that the lexical route is largely

superfluous (Angelelli et al., 2018; Bigozzi et al., 2016; Laiacona et al., 2009). The alternate pattern of impairment, due to damage to the phoneme-to-grapheme conversion procedure, leads to phonological dysgraphia. In this case, if the word is common and stored in the orthographic lexicon, the word may still be spelled appropriately, while, if the word is unknown, writing errors would occur (Roeltgen et al., 1983; Shallice, 1981). Thus, patients with selective damage to the phonological pathway may still be able to write both regular and irregular familiar words, but they cannot write unfamiliar words or stimuli that are not real words (nonwords) which rely on the sub-lexical route (Roeltgen et al., 1983; Shallice, 1981). In the most severe cases, both the lexical and the sublexical routes are damaged, resulting in central agraphia—the complete loss of the ability to communicate through writing (Bub & Kertesz, 1982).

To date, several rehabilitative approaches have been proposed for writing disorders which aim either at restoring the compromised written subcomponents or at promoting compensatory strategies (Beeson, 2004; Hillis & Heidler, 2005; Johnson et al., 2019; Thiel et al., 2015). Treatments targeting sub-lexical processes in writing require the patient to segment the words and/or nonwords into syllables and phonemes, to write graphemes for each dictated phoneme, and to associate a specific grapheme with the words starting with that grapheme (Beeson et al., 2000; Cardell & Chenery, 1999; Kiran, 2005; Luzzatti et al., 2000; Thiel et al., 2015). In the case of Italian, specific training aimed at restoring the sub-lexical route was also successful in cases of severe agraphia since, due to the transparency of the language, this procedure also offers a rapid generalization of the acquired learning to untrained items (Carlomagno & Luzzatti, 1997). Indeed, generalization to untreated items is expected as, through this procedure, the patient learns the correspondence between sounds and graphemes regardless of their position within the word. Since in the Italian language the conversion procedures take place at the syllabic level (Bigozzi et al., 2016; Caravolas, 2004; Marinelli et al., 2015; Notarnicola et al., 2012), syllabic segments were used to stimulate the sublexical processes. Accordingly, from a development point of view, in the early phases of writing acquisition, Italian children segment the phonological input string and translate into the corresponding orthographic sequence. Later on, after a rapid development of the sublexical route, they gradually acquire the orthographic lexical representation of the whole

word, relying on the lexical route (Bigozzi et al., 2016; Caravolas, 2004; Marinelli et al., 2015; Notarnicola et al., 2012).

To date, new treatment approaches have emphasized the role of non-invasive brain stimulation techniques, such as transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS), in enhancing language improvement in PWA (for a review, see Marangolo, 2020). Through tDCS, a weak electrical current (1-2 mA) is administered via two surface electrodes applied to the scalp. It is generally assumed that anodal stimulation increases the excitability over the targeted area, while cathodal stimulation diminishes it by affecting the resting membrane potential of the cell (Stagg & Nitsche, 2011). Depending on the duration, polarity and intensity of stimulation, these effects may last for minutes to hours compared with a placebo condition (known as a "sham" condition), in which the stimulator is turned off after 30 s (Lefaucheur et al., 2017; Nitsche & Paulus, 2011). More recently, a new approach, "Dual-tDCS", has been suggested, in which the left and the right hemisphere are simultaneously stimulated with opposite current. In the case of aphasic disorders, generally, anodal stimulation has been delivered over the left injured language areas with cathodal stimulation over the right homologous ones (De Aguiar et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2013; Marangolo et al., 2013c, 2016). Indeed, although several studies have shown that the chronically reorganized language system can sometimes engage homotopic language areas in the right hemisphere (Crinion & Price, 2005; Leff et al., 2002; Robson et al., 2014), particularly in the case of an extended lesion to the left hemisphere (Leff et al., 2002; Robson et al., 2014; Turkeltaub et al., 2011), an abnormal interhemispheric imbalance due to an increase in the excitability of the undamaged right hemisphere which exerts interhemispheric inhibition (IHI) over the lesioned one has also been often described after unilateral left-hemispheric stroke. Thus, in order to restore this maladaptive condition, dual-tDCS has also been proposed (see for a review Marangolo, 2020; Picano et al., 2021). To our knowledge, to date, only a single case with post-stroke aphasia has been reported in which the use of dual tDCS resulted in successful improvement of written language (De Tommaso et al., 2017). In this study, the concurrent application of dual-tDCS over the left and right temporo-parietal regions for twelve sessions (three consecutive days for four weeks) combined with sublexical procedure training (i.e., reading and writing lists of syllables) resulted in greater effects of real stimulation compared to sham. Indeed, after dual-tDCS, the patient improved in nonword and word writing, with a generalization effect also in reading (De Tommaso et al., 2017). Indeed, recent meta-analyses of neuroimaging studies have reported a considerable overlapping between the cortical regions involved in writing and reading (DeMarco et al., 2017; Planton et al., 2013; Purcell et al., 2011). In particular, these studies have corroborated the role of several perysilvian cortical areas for gaining access to sublexical procedures, among which is the temporo-parietal cortex (Beeson et al., 2003; Clark & Wagner, 2003; DeMarco et al., 2017; Purcell et al., 2011; Rapcsak & Beeson, 2015; Tsapkini & Rapp, 2010). Accordingly, most tDCS studies have targeted the left temporoparietal cortex through real stimulation in order to improve word reading efficiency (Turkeltaub et al., 2012) and nonword reading speed (Cancer & Antonietti, 2018; Costanzo et al., 2016, 2019). Interestingly, with reference to the present study, the left temporoparietal region showed greater activation during nonword with respect to real word writing, suggesting a specific involvement of this region in sublexical processing (DeMarco et al., 2017; Ludersdorfer et al., 2015).

Thus, in line with all the previous literature, the aim of the present work was to investigate the effect of dual-tDCS over the left and right temporo-parietal cortex combined with a writing treatment in a group of post-stroke chronic aphasia patients with central agraphia. Since all were Italian subjects, we used syllabic segments in order to restore the sublexical route (Bigozzi et al., 2016; Caravolas, 2004; Marinelli et al., 2015; Notarnicola et al., 2012).

#### 4.1.2 Materials and Methods

#### **Participants**

Fourteen chronic post-stroke non-fluent aphasics (7 females and 7 males) with a single left hemisphere stroke were recruited in the study (see Table 4.1.1). Inclusion criteria were native Italian proficiency, a single left hemispheric stroke at least 6 months prior to the investigation, pre-morbid right handedness (based on the "Edinburgh Handedness Questionnaire"; Oldfield, 1971) and no acute or chronic neurological symptoms needing medication. Subjects over 75 years of age and those with seizures, implanted electronic devices (e.g., pacemaker) and previous brain damage were excluded. In order to avoid

confounding therapy effects, none of the participants had received language treatment for at least 6 months before the time of inclusion in the study.

Р	Sex	Age	Ed. Level	Time post onset	Stroke type	Lesion side (LH)	Oral NN	Oral VN	Written NN	Written VN	WR	NWR	W Read	NW Read	W D	N W D	ТТ
1	М	57	13	3 y	Ι	FTI	7.5	10	0	0	35	22.5	15	5	0	0	4
2	М	59	13	3y	Ι	Т	0	0	0	0	25	30	17.5	15	0	0	2.5
3	Μ	53	17	1y	Ι	FTI	0	0	0	0	22.5	30	12.5	15	0	0	6
4	F	65	8	3у	Ι	FTI	15	15	0	0	42.5	20	20	10	0	0	10
5	М	55	13	4y	Ι	Т	15	10	0	0	20	15	15	5	0	0	10
6	М	64	13	1y	Ι	FTP	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2
7	М	62	17	1y	Ι	FTI	7.5	0	0	0	40	32.5	12.5	2,5	0	0	10
8	М	63	17	4y	Ι	FTI	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2
9	F	55	13	3y	Ι	FTP	15	15	0	0	80	35	32.5	10	0	0	8
10	F	57	8	1y	Ι	Т	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10
11	F	55	13	1y	Н	FTP	15	15	0	0	85	70	15	15	0	0	10
12	F	65	13	2y	Ι	FTP	10	15	0	0	15	10	15	15	0	0	10
13	F	58	8	4y	Ι	FTP	10	10	0	0	20	20	12,5	5	0	0	7.5
14	F	65	13	3у	Ι	FTP	15	12.5	0	0	10	15	15	5	0	0	4

 Table 4.1.1 Sociodemographic and clinical data of the fourteen non-fluent aphasic patients (Ciurli et al., 1996).

**Legend**: P = Participants; M= male; F= female; Ed. Level = Educational Level; y=year/years; I = Ischemic; H = Hemorrhagic; LH = Left hemisphere; FTI = fronto-temporo-insular; T = temporal; FTP = fronto-temporo-parietal; Oral NN = Noun Naming; Oral VN = Verb Naming; Written NN = Noun Naming; Written VN = Verb Naming; WR = Word Repetition; NWR = Nonword Repetition; W Read = Word Reading; NW Read = Nonword Reading; WD = Word under Dictation; NWD = Nonword under Dictation; TT = Token Test (cut-off score 29/36).

#### Ethics Statement

The data analyzed in the current study were collected in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration and the Institutional Review Board of the IRCCS Fondazione Santa Lucia, Rome, Italy. Prior to participation, all patients signed informed consent forms. In particular, they acknowledged that: "The most common reported adverse effects of tDCS in the literature (Lefaucheur et al., 2017) include skin tingling, itching, mild burning sensations, and discomfort, most of which are temporary and well tolerated. The physical adverse effects are restricted to the site of stimulation. The therapist is thoroughly informed as to the technique and adverse effects and the procedure will be fully
supervised by a neurologist". They also knew that: "If you take part in this study, the insurance will cover any possible damage resulting from the application of tDCS".

## Clinical Data

All patients were affected by severe non-fluent aphasia. Subjects were not able to spontaneously speak, but they did not present with articulatory difficulties. To investigate their language performance in depth, each participant underwent a standardized language test (Esame del Linguaggio II; Ciurli et al., 1996). The test included different language tasks: oral and written noun and verb-naming (n = 20 for noun naming, i.e., penna (pen); n = 10 for verb naming, i.e., mangiare (to eat), dormire (to sleep)), words and sentences repetition, reading and writing under dictation (words, n = 20, i.e., tavolo (table), sentences, n = 10, i.e., il marinaio sale sulla nave (the sailor gets on the ship)), nonword syllable repetition, reading and writing under dictation (n = 20, i.e., bo, fime, tarino), and oral and written word (i.e., pipa (pipe)) and sentence (i.e., apra il libro (open the book)) comprehension. Since the test has been constructed in order to investigate language abilities in severe aphasia, all were high and medium frequency words. The stimuli were divided according to the grammatical class (nouns, verbs), frequency (high  $\geq$  30/million, medium  $\geq$  20/million) and length (short = 4/6 phonemes, long  $\geq$  6 phonemes).

All subjects were able to produce few words in noun and verb naming, and to repeat and to read some words and nonwords (see Table 4.1.1). They presented with a very severe impairment in writing. They were not able to write any single words and/or syllables (nonwords), showing severe damage both to the lexical and sublexical procedures (Ellis & Young, 2000). All subjects were able to auditorily comprehend simple words and commands of the language test (Esame del Linguaggio II; Ciurli et al.,1996), while they were not able to accomplish more complex auditory comprehension tasks (Token test cut-off 29/36, De Renzi & Faglioni, 1978).

#### Materials

Two lists of sixty stimuli were constructed. Each list contained twenty syllables (e.g., BU, CE, FO), twenty disyllabic (CVCV consonant–vowel, e.g., BUCE) and twenty trisyllabic

nonwords (CVCVCV consonant-vowel, e.g., BUCEFO). According to the International Phonetic Alphabet (International Phonetic Association, Smith, 1999), syllables encompass different places (e.g., plosive, nasal, fricative) and manners of articulation (e.g., bilabial, dental, velar).

## Procedure

#### Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation (tDCS)

Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) was applied using a battery driven Eldith (neuroConn GmbH) Programmable Direct Current Stimulator with a pair of surfacesoaked sponge electrodes (5 cm  $\times$  7 cm). Real stimulation consisted of 20 min of 2 mA direct current with the anode placed over the ipsilesional and the cathode over the contralesional temporo-parietal cortex (CP5 and CP4 of the extended International 10-20 system for EEG electrode placement). For sham stimulation, the same electrode positions were used. The current was ramped up to 2 mA and slowly diminished over 30 s to guarantee the typical initial tingling sensation (Gandiga et al., 2006). In both conditions (real vs. sham), patients were administered simultaneous language treatment (see below), which was performed in ten daily one-hour treatment sessions (Monday-Friday, weekend off, Monday-Friday). There was a 14-day intersession interval between the real and the sham condition. The order of conditions was randomized across subjects. Both the clinician and the patient were blinded with respect to the administration of tDCS, which was applied by a third person who was not involved in the study. At the end of each condition, subjects were asked if they were aware of which condition (real or sham) they were in. None of the subjects was able to determine differences in sensation and intensity between the two conditions.

## Language Treatment

All patients underwent the standardized language test at the beginning (baseline; T0), at the end (T10) of each treatment condition, and one week after the end of the treatment (follow-up; F/U).

Since each patient showed the presence of severe agraphia which equally affected the lexical and sublexical route (Beeson et al., 2002; Ellis & Young, 2000; Kiran, 2005) and our patients were all native Italian speakers, based on previous evidence (Beeson et al.,

2010; Cardell & Chenery, 1999; Kiran, 2005), the intervention was aimed at restoring the sublexical route via syllable repetition, reading and writing.

Before the treatment, all 120 stimuli (syllables, disyllabic and trisyllabic nonwords) were auditorily randomly presented to each patient. The participant had to read and write each stimulus within 30 s. As all participants failed to correctly write all the presented stimuli, the whole lists were subdivided into two lists of sixty stimuli. Each list was randomly assigned to each participant and to one of the two experimental conditions (real vs. sham). For each condition, the order of presentation of stimuli was randomized across the training sessions. The therapy method was similar for all patients. For each condition (real vs. sham), during each session, the whole list of stimuli was presented. The clinician presented one stimulus at a time and for each stimulus, the treatment relied on three different steps which would progressively facilitate the patient in correctly writing it.

Step 1: The clinician auditorily presented the whole stimulus and asked the patient to write it. If the patient correctly wrote the stimulus, the clinician would proceed with the other stimulus, but if he or she made mistakes the clinician would move on to the next step.

Step 2: The clinician auditorily presented the stimulus again and asked the patient to write it. If the patient correctly wrote the stimulus, the clinician would ask the participant to read it, but if he or she made mistakes the clinician would move on to the next step.

Step 3: The clinician wrote the stimulus and asked the patient to read it. After a few seconds, the clinician covered the stimulus and asked the patient to write it again. If the patient could not solve the task, the clinician proceeded with another stimulus.

The response was registered as correct only if the patient wrote the stimulus in the first step. The clinician manually recorded the response type on a separate sheet.

## Data Analysis

The patients' performance was evaluated by considering the mean percentage of response accuracy for syllables and disyllabic and trisyllabic nonwords for each condition (real vs. sham). Data were analyzed using SPSS 20.0 software (IBM SPSS Statistics, version 20,

Armonk, NY, USA). Three repeated measures ANOVAs were performed separately for syllables and disyllabic and trisyllabic nonwords. For each analysis, two "within" factors were considered: CONDITION (real vs. sham) and TIME (baseline (T0) vs. end of treatment (T10) vs. follow-up (FU)). The post hoc Bonferroni test was conducted on the significant effects observed in the ANOVA. The values of  $p \le 0.05$  were considered statistically significant. Before and after each treatment condition, the patients' responses to the different re-administration of the standardized language test (Language Examination II; Ciurli et al.,1996) were also analyzed using  $\chi^2$ -test.

## 4.1.3 Results

Accuracy Data Syllables

The analysis showed a significant effect of CONDITION (real vs. sham, F (1,13) = 83,27, p < 0.001) and TIME (baseline (T0) vs. end of treatment (T10) vs. follow-up (F/U), F (2,26) = 353,78, p < 0.001). The interaction TIME × CONDITION was also significant (F (2,26) = 88,65, p < 0.001). Bonferroni's post hoc test revealed that, while no significant differences emerged in the mean percentage of correct syllables between the two conditions at T0 (real 5% vs. sham 5% p = 1), the mean percentage of accuracy was significantly greater in the real than in the sham condition at T10 (real 70% vs. sham 40%, p < 0.001) and persisted at F/U (real 70% vs. sham 40% p < 0.001). Significant differences also emerged between T0 and T10 for the sham condition (35%, p < 0.001) (see Figure 4.1.1).



**Figure 4.1.1** Mean percentage of response accuracy for syllables at baseline (T0), at the end of treatment (T10), and at follow-up (F/U) for the real and sham condition, respectively.

We ran further analysis by adding the order of conditions (real vs. sham) as a fixed factor. The analysis revealed that the results were not significantly affected by the order of condition (F (1,12) = 1.16, p = 0.30). Moreover, a mixed analysis of variance (ANOVA) with ORDER of CONDITIONS as the between-subjects factor (first treatment vs. second treatment) and CONDITION (real vs. sham) and TIME (baseline (T0) vs. last day (T10) vs. follow up (FU)) as two within-subjects factors confirmed that the ORDER of CONDITIONS was not significant (F(1,12) = 1.40, p = 0.26) as well as the interaction of ORDER of CONDITIONS × CONDITION (F (1,12) = 0.00 p = 1), ORDER OF CONDITIONS × TIME (F (2,24) = 0.02, p = 0.98) and ORDER of CONDITIONS × TIME (F (2,24) = 1.64, p = 0.21). As in the previous analysis, independently of the order of conditions, the interaction of CONDITION × TIME was significant (F (2,24) = 55.30, p < 0.001).

## Disyllabic Nonwords

The analysis showed a significant effect of CONDITION (real vs. sham, F (1,13) = 104,99, p < 0.001) and TIME (baseline (T0) vs. end of treatment (T10) vs. follow-up (F/U), F (2,26) = 223.08, p < 0.001). The interaction TIME × CONDITION was also significant (F (2,26) = 117.19, p < 0.001). Bonferroni's post hoc test revealed that, while

no significant differences emerged in the mean percentage of correct syllables between the two conditions at T0 (real 5% vs. sham 5%, p = 1), the mean percentage of accuracy was significantly greater in the real than in the sham condition at T10 (real 80% vs. sham 25%, p < 0.001) and persisted at F/U (real 80% vs. sham 20% p < 0.001). Significant differences also emerged between T0 and T10 for the sham condition (20%, p < 0.001) (see Figure 4.1.2).



**Figure 4.1.2** Mean percentage of response accuracy for disyllabic nonwords at baseline (T0), at the end of treatment (T10), and at follow-up (F/U) for the real and sham condition, respectively.

We ran further analysis by adding the order of conditions (real vs. sham) as a fixed factor. The analysis revealed that the results were not significantly affected by the order of condition (F (1,12) = 1.77, p = 0.21). Moreover, a mixed analysis of variance (ANOVA) with ORDER of CONDITIONS as the between-subjects factor (first treatment vs. second treatment) and CONDITION (real vs. sham) and TIME (baseline (T0) vs. last day (T10) vs. follow up (FU)) as two within-subjects factors confirmed that the ORDER of CONDITIONS was not significant (F(1,12) = 3.7, p = 0.09) as well as the interaction of ORDER of CONDITIONS × CONDITION (F (1,12) = 0.06, p = 0.81), ORDER OF CONDITIONS × TIME (F (2,24) = 0.49, p = 0.62) and ORDER of CONDITIONS × CONDITIONS × TIME (F (2,24) = 0.02, p = 0.98). As in the previous analysis,

independently of the order of conditions, the interaction of CONDITION × TIME was significant (F (2,24) = 108.32, p < 0.001).

#### Trisyllabic Nonwords

The analysis showed a significant effect of CONDITION (real vs. sham, F (1,13) = 408.82, p < 0.001) and TIME (baseline (T0) vs. end of treatment (T10) vs. follow-up (F/U), F (2,26) = 477.66, p < 0.001). The interaction TIME × CONDITION was also significant (F (2,26) = 386.56, p < 0.001). Bonferroni's post hoc test revealed that, while no significant differences emerged in the mean percentage of correct syllables between the two conditions at T0 (real 0% vs. sham 0%, p = 1), the mean percentage of accuracy was significantly greater in the real than in the sham condition at T10 (real 50% vs. sham 5%,  $p \le 0.001$ ) and persisted at F/U (real 50% vs. sham 5% p < 0.001). No significant differences emerged between T0 and T10 for the sham condition (0%, p = 1) (see Figure 4.1.3).



**Figure 4.1.3** Mean percentage of response accuracy for trisyllabic nonwords at baseline (T0), at the end of treatment (T10), and at follow-up (F/U) for the real and sham condition, respectively.

We ran further analysis by adding the order of conditions (real vs. sham) as a fixed factor. The analysis revealed that the results were not significantly affected by the order of condition (F (1,12) = 1.000, p = 0.34). Moreover, a mixed analysis of variance (ANOVA) with ORDER of CONDITIONS as the between-subjects factor (first treatment vs. second treatment) and CONDITION (real vs. sham) and TIME (baseline (T0) vs. last day (T10) vs. follow up (FU)) as two within-subjects factors confirmed that the ORDER of CONDITIONS was not significant (F(1,12) = 0.09, p = 0.77) as well as the interaction of ORDER of CONDITIONS × CONDITION (F (1,12) = 0.44, p = 0.52), ORDER OF CONDITIONS × TIME (F (2,24) = 0.61, p = 0.55) and ORDER of CONDITIONS × CONDITIONS × CONDITION (F (1,2) = 0.44, p = 0.52), ORDER OF CONDITION × TIME (F (2,24) = 0.61, p = 0.55) and ORDER of CONDITIONS × conditions, the interaction of CONDITION × TIME was significant (F (2,24) = 369.57, p < 0.001).

Finally, "generalization effects" in the language test indicated that, in most of the patients, there was a significant difference in the percentage of correct responses before and after the treatment in different language tasks, which was greater after the real than in the sham condition (see Table 4.1.2).

**Table 4.1.2** Percentage of Correct Responses in the Different Language Tasks (Esame del Linguaggio II, Ciurli et al., 1996) at Baseline (T0) and at the End of Treatment (T10) for the real and sham condition, respectively (Cut-off Score100%).

		Oral		Oral		Written		Written		W		NW		W		NW		W		NW	
р	С	NN		VN		NN		VN		R		R		Read		Read		Dict		Dict	
		T0	T10	<b>T0</b>	T10	T0	T10	T0	T10	T0	T10	T0	T10	T0	T10	T0	T10	<b>T0</b>	T10	<b>T0</b>	T10
Real First																					
1	R	7.5	80^	10	60^	0	55^	0	$40^{\circ}$	35	92.5^	22.5	90^	15	67.5^	5	50^	0	72.5^	0	55^
	S	80	85	60	70	55	55	40	45	92.5	90	90	95	67.5	70	50	45	72.5	75	55	55
3	R	0	67.5^	0	60^	0	37.5^	0	35^	22.5	85^	30	80^	12.5	42.5^	15	60^	0	50^	0	52.5^
	S	67.5	80*	60	80**	37.5	35	35	40	85	92.5	80	95**	42.5	45	60	60	50	55	52.5	62.5
5	R	15	70^	10	80^	0	42.5^	0	32.5^	20	$82.5^{\circ}$	15	80^	15	60^	5	62.5^	0	57.5^	0	67.5^
	S	70	77.5	80	85	42.5	42.5	32.5	35	82.5	97.5^	80	80	60	60	62.5	62.5	57.5	57.5	67.5	52.5
7	R	7.5	55^	0	60^	0	30^	0	27.5^	40	72.5^	32.5	87.5^	12.5	62.5^	2.5	47.5^	0	40^	0	45^
	S	55	75**	60	70	30	35	27.5	27.5	72.5	72.5	87.5	87.5	62.5	57.5	47.5	47.5	40	40	45	45
9	R	15	45^	15	65^	0	40^	0	15^	80	100^	35	82.5^	32.5	80^	10	50^	0	50^	0	12.5^
	S	45	54	65	70	40	55*	15	15	100	92.5	82.5	92.5*	80	80	50	50	50	42.5	12.5	17
11	R	15	60^	15	80^	0	55.5^	0	17.5^	85	95*	30	92.5^	15	60^	15	77.5^	0	65^	0	20^
	S	60	60	80	80	55.5	60	17.5	20	95	97.5	92.5	95	60	60	77.5	82	65	65	20	27.5
13	R	10	67.5^	10	75^	0	42.5^	0	30^	20	65^	20	70^	12.5	65^	5	45^	0	55^	0	47.5^
	S	67.5	65	75	80	42.5	50	30	30	65	72.5	70	70	65	65	45	50	55	57.5	47.5	47
Sham																					
First																					
2	S	0	20^	0	5	0	$10^{**}$	0	5	25	35	30	35	17.5	12.5	15	15	0	20^	0	5
2	R	20	45^	5	10	10	40^	5	20**	35	85^	35	90^	12.5	57.5^	15	57.5^	20	50^	5	42.5^
4	S	15	27.5*	15	30*	0	5	0	$10^{**}$	42.5	47.5	20	20	20	30	10	10	0	25^	0	25^
4	R	27.5	55^	30	62.5^	5	50^	10	35^	47.5	62.5*	20	62.5^	30	75^	10	62.5^	25	55^	25	67.5^
6	S	0	2.5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	$17.5^{\circ}$	0	20^	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	5
	R	2.5	15**	0	0	0	10**	0	0	17.5	$47.5^{\circ}$	20	65^	0	10**	5	15*	0	0	5	25^
8	S	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	R	0	20^	0	0	0	15^	0	0	5	17.5**	5	25^	0	12.5^	0	15^	0	0	0	20^
10	S	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	20^	0	20^	0	15^	0	2.5	0	0	0	0
	R	0	45^	0	35^	5	35^	0	10**	20	65^	20	62.5^	15	42.5^	2.5	25^	0	40^	0	35^
10	S	10	15	15	20	0	10**	0	0	15	20	10	22.5*	15	30*	15	20	0	25^	0	10**
12	R	15	60^	20	65^	10	55^	0	15^	20	72.5^	22.5	75^	30	75^	20	65^	25	70^	10	50^
14	S	15	32.5**	12.5	20	0	5	0	0	10	17.5	15	15	15	27.5*	5	10	0	15^	0	5
	R	32.5	80^	20	80^	5	45.5^	0	20^	17.5	72.5^	15	65^	27.5	75^	10	35^	15	65^	5	57.5^

**Legend:** P= Participants; C= Conditions; Oral NN= Noun Naming; Oral VN= Verb Naming; Written NN= Noun Naming; Written VN=Verb Naming; WR= Word Repetition; NWR= Nonword Repetition; W/NW

## 4.1.4 Discussion

The aim of the present study was to explore whether dual-tDCS combined with a language treatment would improve writing skills in fourteen chronic patients with severe agraphia. Since all were Italian patients, we employed as a treatment nonword writing in order to rely on the sublexical procedure (Bigozzi et al., 2016; Caravolas, 2004; Marinelli et al., 2015; Notarnicola et al., 2012). We used dual-tDCS based on the hypothesis that simultaneously up- and down-regulating activity, respectively, in the left and right temporo-parietal cortex would enhance the recovery process in the left hemisphere (Galletta et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2013; Marangolo et al., 2013c, 2016). Indeed, the comparison between different electrode montages, which have been used in tDCS poststroke aphasia studies, has shown that bilateral stimulation over the left and right inferior frontal gyrus (IFG) determines a clear incoming current into the left hemisphere more focally distributed over the left perilesional region and a component of outgoing current from the right hemisphere with respect to unilateral montage with the anode placed over the left IFG (Galletta et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2013; Marangolo et al., 2013c, 2016). Accordingly, our findings showed that, after real stimulation, there was a greater improvement in syllables and disyllabic and trisyllabic nonword writing with respect to the sham condition which persisted after one week from the end of the treatment. This last result is consistent with the previous tDCS literature in healthy subjects and braindamaged individuals showing longer-term changes in motor abilities, learning and language recovery (Dockery et al., 2009; Kadosh et al., 2010; Marangolo et al., 2011, 2013c; Meinzer et al., 2016; Reis et al., 2009). Indeed, unlike single tDCS session effects, which are mediated by transient neural modulations (Stagg & Nitsche, 2011), repeated stimulation sessions combined with training are thought to act via mechanisms similar to long-term potentiation, which is critical for neuroplasticity and memory consolidation (Fritsch et al., 2010; Reis et al., 2009, 2015). Significant differences were also present in the sham condition, but only for syllabic and disyllabic nonwords. Thus, the language training alone was successful, but only for the simplest stimuli. Interestingly, patients had a better writing performance with disyllabic nonwords with respect to one syllable. Although we do not have a final interpretation of this result, we believe that it could be determined by the partial sparing of nonwords repetition which was already present at the beginning of the treatment in most of the subjects (see Table 4.1.1). Indeed, subjects might have made use of spared phonological rehearsal processes which have facilitated the retention of longer nonwords and, thus, their conversion into the corresponding graphemes.

Moreover, most of the patients showed significant changes in different oral and written language tasks of the language test, administered before and after the treatment, particularly in oral and written noun and verb naming, nonword and word writing to dictation and word/nonword reading. Thus, as already suggested by previous studies, relying on the sublexical procedure also resulted in generalization effects of the acquired learning on untrained items (Beeson et al., 2000, 2010; Cardell & Chenery, 1999; Carlomagno & Luzzatti, 1997; Kiran, 2005; Luzzatti et al., 2000; Thiel et al., 2015). Indeed, recent meta-analyses of neuroimaging studies have shown that the cortical areas involved in written language overlap with those implicated in reading (Planton et al., 2013; Purcell et al., 2011). Thus, in agreement with those studies, our results showed that dual temporo-parietal tDCS also exerted its influence on reading. Accordingly, high frequency repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) over the left inferior parietal lobule (IPL) improves nonword reading accuracy (Costanzo et al., 2012). A similar improvement was also found in dyslexic patients (Costanzo et al., 2013) after stimulation of the left IPL and in adults with typical reading after anodal stimulation over the left posterior temporal cortex compared to sham (Turkeltaub et al., 2012). Several tDCS studies have also suggested that the left temporo-parietal region refers to a large network implicated in phonological processing (Costanzo et al., 2016, 2019) and in the acquisition of new vocabulary (Fiori et al., 2011, 2017; Flöel et al., 2008; Meinzer et al.,2014; Perceval et al., 2017; Savill et al., 2015). Indeed, Price (2012) has pointed out that the left temporo-parietal cortex is involved in several language processes, including phonological, orthographic and semantic processing and grapheme-to-phoneme conversion. In particular, according to several neuroimaging studies, the temporo-parietal cortex is activated during phonological encoding and memory performance for new words (Breitenstein et al., 2005; Clark & Wagner, 2003; Paulesu et al., 2009). In line with this evidence, Savill and collaborators (2015) have shown that tDCS over the temporoparietal cortex facilitated word learning by enhancing the acquisition of phonological forms during a serial word recall task. In addition, Maloney's work (2009) has indicated that nonword letter strings can be easily represented in the orthographic input and phonological output lexicon after a small number of repetitions. Indeed, the authors have shown the development of a new orthographic and phonological lexical route through the conversion from sublexical to lexical procedures for nonwords.

Thus, given the role played by the left temporo-parietal cortex in several language tasks, we should have expected a generalization effect to other language tasks, which was the case.

Before concluding, a final point is worth noting, which we believe is highly relevant from a clinical perspective. Indeed, since all of our patients were in the chronic phase and they had very severe agraphia, the presence of an improvement, after dual-tDCS, for the most difficult items (i.e., trisyllabic nonwords) and generalization effects in the language tasks was not necessarily taken for granted. Previous results on chronic post-stroke aphasia led to similar results (De Aguiar et al., 2015; Marangolo et al., 2013c, 2016), suggesting that the combination of tDCS with language training also boosts the recovery process in cases of severe aphasia. Indeed, tDCS induces neuroplasticity in humans, thus, it has the potential to foster physiological plasticity in neurological diseases such as post-stroke chronic aphasia (Hamilton et al., 2011; Hartwigsen, 2016; Kuo et al., 2014). Given that, in the chronic phase, interhemispheric connections between the left and the right hemisphere might be detrimental for language recovery, we might hypothesize that, in our work, dual tDCS has temporarily reversed the interhemispheric imbalance, thus improving language skills in our patients (Kiran, 2012; Sehm et al., 2012).

## 4.1.5 Conclusion

Although our results are encouraging for identifying tDCS protocols for language improvement in chronic post-stroke aphasia, we are aware that they have some limitations due to the small sample size considered and the absence of pre-treatment mapping of spared language regions using functional MRI. Indeed, we know that the choice of our stimulation sites might have been not entirely appropriate due to variable lesion sizes and locations among our patients as well as interindividual differences in functional language

network reorganization. Thus, fMRI would have helped us to better identify the stimulation sites.

However, apart from these limitations, we believe that research concerning tDCS in aphasia is crucial to promote our understanding of the neural mechanisms by which tDCS improves language functions in the chronic stage.

## 4.2 EXPERIMENT 2

# Spinal or cortical direct current stimulation: Which is the best? Evidence from apraxia of speech in post-stroke aphasia<sup>2</sup>

## Abstract

To date, new advances in technology have already shown the effectiveness of noninvasive brain stimulation and, in particular, of transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS), in enhancing language recovery in post-stroke aphasia. More recently, it has been suggested that the stimulation over the spinal cord improves the production of words associated to sensorimotor schemata, such as action verbs. Here, for the first time, we present evidence that transpinal direct current stimulation (tsDCS) combined with a language training is efficacious for the recovery from speech apraxia, a motor speech disorder which can co-occur with aphasia. In a randomized-double blind experiment, ten aphasics underwent five days of tsDCS with concomitant treatment for their articulatory deficits in two different conditions: anodal and sham. In all patients, language measures were collected before (T0), at the end (T5), and one week after the end of treatment (F/U). Results showed that only after anodal tsDCS patients exhibited a better accuracy in repeating the treated items. Moreover, these effects persisted at F/U and generalized to other oral language tasks (i.e., picture description, noun and verb naming, word repetition, and reading). A further analysis, which compared the tsDCS results with those collected in a matched group of patients who underwent the same language treatment but combined with tDCS, revealed no differences between the two groups.

Given the persistency and severity of articulatory deficits in aphasia and the ease of use of tsDCS, we believe that spinal stimulation might result a new innovative approach for language rehabilitation.

## 4.2.1 Introduction

Speech is one of the most complex and fully exercised motor skills in humans. All normally developing individuals acquire it from birth and exercise speech motor behavior day by day, over their whole lifetime (Levelt et al., 1999; McNeil et al., 1997; Spencer &

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Pisano, F., Caltagirone, C., Incoccia, C., & Marangolo, P. (2021). Spinal or cortical direct current stimulation: Which is the best? Evidence from apraxia of speech in post-stroke aphasia. *Behavioural brain research*, *399*, 113019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2020.113019

Rogers, 2005). According to Levelt's theory (1999), in any language, the frequent use of the same articulatory gestures participating in the construction of words transforms the correspondent motor pattern into a stable, overlearned movement program represented onto the motor-cortical hard-disk which stores the human's phonetic lexicon (Kearney & Guenther, 2019, Levelt et al., 1999).

Focal brain damage to the dominant (typically left) hemisphere can cause an alteration in this orchestration of movements, known as "apraxia of speech" (AOS) (Dronkers et al., 2004; Hillis et al., 2004; Maas et al., 2008; Marangolo et al., 2013c, 2016). AOS is an acquired motor speech disorder characterized by an impaired ability to coordinate the sequential, articulatory movements necessary to produce speech sounds (Knollman-Poter, 2008; Ogar et al., 2005; Wertz et al., 1984). Darley first described AOS as "a disorder of motor speech programming manifested primarily by errors in articulation" (Darley et al., 1975). It varies from a complete inability to articulate any given syllable and/or word to distortions of consonants and vowels that may be perceived as sound substitutions in the absence of reduced strength or tone of muscles and articulators controlling phonation (Duffy, 2005; McNeil et al., 2000). Over the last decades, a variety of treatment approaches has been developed to remediate the AOS disorder with no one approach proved to be effective for all patients (Knock et al., 2000; Rosenbek et al., 1973; Wambaugh, 2002). For patients with moderate to severe AOS, therapy is mostly focused on relearning oral postures of individual speech sounds through nonwords (i.e., syllables) and word repetition. Indeed, repetition is a multistage process dependent upon the leftdominant dorsal pathway which maps sound-based codes to articulatory codes which involve pre-articulatory planning in Broca's area and subsequent planning of articulatory gestures prior to motor execution in the premotor and motor cortices (Flinker et al., 2015; Hickok & Poeppel, 2004). Thus, nonword and word repetition results specially adapted to the needs of patients with AOS disorders (Bailey et al., 2017; Baker et al., 2001; Coady & Evans, 2008; Dell et al., 1999; Rvachew & Brosseau-Lapré, 2012; Shriberg et al., 2009). Accordingly, studies in patients with AOS have suggested that together with damage to the Broca's area (Hillis et al., 2004; Mohr et al., 1978; Moser et al., 2009), impairment to other brain structures, such as the left anterior insula (Dronkers et al., 2004; Moser et al., 2009) and the premotor and motor regions (Basilakos et al., 2015; Graff-Radford et al., 2014; Itabashi et al., 2016; Jonas, 1981; Josephs et al., 2006, 2012) leads to AOS. A recent voxel-based lesion mapping study by Basilakos and colleagues (2015) revealed that the pattern of brain damage associated with AOS is most strongly associated with damage to the left cortical motor regions, with additional involvement of the left somatosensory areas (Terband et al., 2009, 2014). Thus, taken together, all of these results point to a crucial role of the sensorimotor network in speech articulation (Hickok et al., 2014).

In more recent years, new advances in technology have shown that transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS), a noninvasive brain stimulation technique, results efficacious in the recovery of different cognitive abilities (Lefaucheur et al., 2017; Schlaug et al., 2008, 2011) among which language in aphasic individuals (Fridriksson et al., 2018b; Marangolo, 2020). During tDCS weak polarizing direct currents are delivered to the cortex via two electrodes placed on the scalp. The nature of the effects depends on the polarity of the current. Generally, the anode increases cortical excitability when applied over the region of interest with the cathode above the contralateral orbit or above the shoulder (as the reference electrode), whereas the cathode decreases it, limiting the resting membrane potential. These effects may last for minutes to hours depending on the polarity, duration, and intensity of stimulation, and they are generally compared with a placebo condition (the so-called "sham" condition) in which the stimulator is turned-off after 30 s (Nitsche & Paulus, 2011). With regard to AOS disorder, previous tDCS studies have shown that bihemispheric tDCS, with simultaneous excitatory stimulation over the left inferior frontal gyrus and inhibition over the right homologous, combined with a repetition language training improves the patients' performance not only in terms of better accuracy in articulating the treated stimuli but also for untreated items on different language tasks (picture description, noun, and verb naming, word repetition, word reading) (Marangolo et al., 2013c, 2016). Moreover, according to the hypothesis of sensorimotor involvement (Basilakos et al., 2015; Graff-Radford et al., 2014; Hickok et al., 2014; Itabashi et al., 2016; Josephs et al., 2006, 2012; Kearney & Guenther, 2019), in the Marangolo et al. study (2016), anodal stimulation exerted stronger functional connectivity changes into the left premotor and motor areas and in the left cerebellum compared to sham (2016).

Given that speech articulation requires the involvement of motor planning (Basilakos et al., 2015; Itabashi et al., 2016; Levelt et al., 1999), in the present study, we wondered

whether other auxiliary systems functionally connected to the brain, which process sensorimotor information, might facilitate the recovery of AOS. Indeed, it has already been shown that spinal cord stimulation induces neurophysiological modifications at the cortical level through the activation of tonic afferent pathways to the cortex (Bocci et al., 2015a, 2015b; Marangolo et al., 2017). In particular, transpinal direct current stimulation (tsDCS) applied over the thoracic vertebrae (T9-T11 level, 2 mA, 20 min) induced supraspinal effects by modulating intracortical excitability in the motor cortex. Anodal tsDCS decreased motor-evoked potentials (MEPs), while cathodal tsDCS elicited opposite effects (Bocci et al., 2015a; Cogiamanian et al., 2008; Truini et al., 2011). Accordingly, recent modeling studies have proved that, despite some inter-individual differences, the electric field induced by thoracic tsDCS is longitudinally directed along the vertebral column, especially when the return electrode is placed over the right arm (Fiocchi et al., 2016; Parazzini et al., 2014). Yet, the electric field induced by thoracic tsDCS is maximum at the thoracic level and it increases somatosensory activity from the spinal cord to the brain (Fiocchi et al., 2016; Parazzini et al., 2014). More recently, by using resting state functional imaging (rs-fMRI), Schweizer and co-workers (2017) investigated whether tsDCS-induced reported changes in neurophysiological measures (Bocci et al., 2015a, 2015b; Cogiamanian et al., 2008; Truini et al., 2011) might also be reflected in spontaneous brain activity. In their study, resting state functional connectivity was measured in twenty healthy subjects by using blood oxygenation level-dependent, functional magnetic resonance imaging before and after anodal, cathodal, and sham tsDCS (20 min, 2.5 mA) with the active electrode centered over the thoracic vertebrae (T9-T11). As compared with sham, anodal tsDCS resulted in connectivity changes into the somatosensory cortex (S1) and the ipsilateral posterior insula for both left and right hemispheres. Additional changes were present in the thalamus and in the anterior cingulate cortex. Thus, these results provide further evidence for supraspinal effects induced by tsDCS suggesting that spinal stimulation might be considered a new noninvasive intervention for targeting cortical networks (Schweizer et al., 2017).

Given that speech articulation requires the activation of motor plans (Levelt et al., 1999; McNeil et al., 1997; Spencer & Rogers, 2005) and that tsDCS induces changes in cortical areas (Bocci et al., 2015a, 2015b; Schweizer et al., 2017; Truni et al., 2011) involved in speech articulation (Basilakos et al., 2015; Dronkers et al., 2004; Moser et al., 2009), we might hypothesize that spinal stimulation, by influencing activity into the sensorimotor networks, would result efficacious for AOS recovery.

In line with this hypothesis, very recently, in a group of fourteen PWA, Marangolo et al. (2017) have shown that anodal tsDCS delivered over the thoracic vertebrae combined with a picture naming task led to a greater increase of words related to sensorimotor schemata, such as action verbs (i.e., *to run*), compared to nouns not typically related to specific action (i.e., *the cloud*). More importantly, in a more recent rs-fMRI study (Marangolo et al., 2020), the authors found that the amount of verb improvement found after anodal tsDCS significantly correlated with supraspinal functional changes into a cerebello-cortical network which specifically influenced regions, such as the left premotor cortex and the left cerebellum known to be involved in motor processing (Mariën et al., 2019; Priftis et al., 2020).

Thus, given all of the above evidence, in the present study we wanted to investigate if tsDCS combined with a repetition training would facilitate AOS in post-stroke aphasic individuals.

## 4.2.2. Materials and methods

## **Participants**

Ten patients with chronic aphasia (6 females and 4 males) who had suffered a single left hemisphere stroke were included in the study. All participants were native Italian speakers with right premorbid manual dominance (based on the "Edinburgh Handedness Questionnaire", Oldfield, 1971), they were all affected by a single left hemispheric stroke occurred at least 6 months prior to experimentation. Subjects over 75 years of age with seizures, previous brain injuries, possible spinal cord comorbidity and any type of implanted electronic device (e.g., pacemaker) were excluded. None of the participants has received structured language therapy for at least 6 months before the time of inclusion in the study in order to prevent confounding therapy effects.

## Ethics statement

The data analysed in the current study were conformed with the Helsinki Declaration. Our named Institutional Review Board (IRCCS Fondazione Santa Lucia, Rome-Italy) specifically approved this study with the understanding and written consent of each subject.

## Clinical data

In all patients, magnetic resonance imaging showed an ischemic lesion involving the left hemisphere. All patients presented non-fluent speech with severe AOS. Subjects were not able to produce any words in spontaneous speech. Their language production was limited to a few syllables with severe articulatory groping and distortions of phonemes in naming, repetition and reading tasks of twenty simple syllables (e.g., PA, MA, FU) and words [e.g., pipa [pipe]), casa [home] of a standardized test for the evaluation of articulation (Fanzago, 1983). To thoroughly investigate the language performance, each participant was also administered a standardized language test (Esame del Linguaggio II, Ciurli et al., 1996). Articulatory errors and distortions of phonemes were present in naming, repetition and reading aloud. Noun and verb written naming and word writing under dictation were also severely impaired. Auditory comprehension abilities were adequate for simple words and commands in the language test (Esame del Linguaggio II, Ciurli et al., 1996), while patients experienced significant difficulties in more complex auditory comprehension tasks (Token test cut-off 29/36, De Renzi & Faglioni, 1978). To evaluate nonverbal oral motor skills, the Buccofacial Apraxia Test was also administered (De Renzi et al., 1966). None of the patients showed buccofacial apraxia (see Table 4.2.1).

Р	Sex	Age	Ed. Level	Time post onset	PD	NN	VN	WR	NWR	W Read	NW Read	WNN	WVN	WD	NWD	ТТ
1	F	65	8	7y 2mo	0	5	5	2,5	0	2,5	10	15	5	2,5	0	12
2	F	75	8	2у	0	5	5	5	5	5	0	0	0	5	0	14
3	F	73	18	12y	0	0	0	5	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	10
4	F	64	13	6y 6mo	0	2,5	0	2,5	0	5	15	0	0	5	5	12
5	F	68	18	1y 2mo	0	0	2,5	0	0	5	5	0	0	0	0	18
6	М	56	13	2y 6mo	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	14
7	F	70	5	4y	0	7,5	10	10	7,5	0	0	0	0	5	0	15
8	М	51	13	8mo	0	0	0	5	5	5	5	5	0	5	5	12
9	М	58	8	8mo	0	0	0	0	0	10	15	0	0	5	0	14
10	М	61	13	1 y 7mo	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	14

**Table 4.2.1** For each language task, the percentage of correct responses are reported (Esame del Linguaggio II, cut-off 100%, Ciurli et al., 1996).

**Legend:** P= Participants; M= male; F= female; Ed. Lev. = Educational Level; PD = Picture Description; NN = Noun Naming; VN = Verb Naming; WR = Word Repetition; NWR = Non Word Repetition; W Read = Word Reading; NW Read = Non word Reading; WNN = Written Noun Naming; WVN = Written Verb Naming; WD = Word under Dictation; NWD = Non Word under Dictation; TT = Token Test (cut-off score 29/36).

## Materials

Two lists of 90 stimuli each were prepared. Each list included 28 CV syllables (eg. MA, NA, RI), 15 CCV syllables (e.g., STA, TRA, PLE), 25 CVCV and CVCCV bysillabic words (e.g. pipa (pipe), luna (moon), nonno (grandfather), panna (cream)), 12 CVCVCV trisyllabic words (e.g. tavolo (table), limone (lemon)) and 10 sentences made of the syllables and words presented in the list (e.g. il nonno fuma la pipa (the grandfather smokes the pipe)). According to the International Phonetic Alphabet (Smith, 1999), syllables included different places (e.g., plosive, nasal, fricative) and manners of articulation (e.g., bilabial, dental, velar).

## Procedure

#### Transcutaneous spinal direct current stimulation

tsDCS was applied using a battery driven Eldith (NeuroConn GmbH, Germany) Programmable Direct Current Stimulator with a pair of surface-soaked sponge electrodes  $(5 \times 7 \text{ cm})$ . Real stimulation consisted of 20 min of 2 mA direct current with the anode placed over the 10th thoracic vertebra (spanned from the ninth to the 11th thoracic vertebrae) while the reference electrode was positioned over the right shoulder on the deltoid muscle. For sham stimulation, the same electrodes position was used. The current was ramped up to 2 mA and slowly decreased over 30 s to ensure the typical initial tingling sensation (Gandiga et al., 2006). Since in previous works it was shown that only anodal tsDCS exerted a significant improvement on verb recovery (Marangolo et al., 2017, 2020), only two experimental conditions were used: anodal tsDCS and sham. All patients underwent the two conditions in a randomized double-blind procedure. Both the experimenter and the patient were blinded with respect to the stimulation condition and the stimulator was turned on/off by another person. At the end of each condition, none of the participants noticed differences in the intensity of sensation between the two conditions, not being aware of what condition they were performing (O'Connell et al., 2012). In both conditions, patients underwent concurrent speech therapy for their articulatory disorders. The language treatment was performed in five daily sessions (Monday to Friday). There was 14-day intersession interval between the real and the sham condition. The assignment of each list of stimuli (N = 90) to each stimulation condition (anodal vs. sham) was randomized across conditions and the order of stimuli presentation was randomized between treatment sessions.

## Language treatment

For each condition, patients were administered all the standardized language tests at the beginning (baseline; T0), at the end (T5) and 1 week after the end of treatment (follow-up; F/U). Once the electrodes were placed, subjects performed the language treatment for their articulatory disorders. Different from our previous published studies (Marangolo et al., 2017, 2020), whose aim was to enhance verb production, here, we wanted to restore the patient's ability to translate speech plans into its correspondent motor programs in

order to improve speech articulation. Thus, we chose a very simple repetition task which requires to translate the incoming sensory information (i.e., the auditory target) into its outgoing motor production (Duffy, 2005; Knock et al., 2000; McNeil et al., 2000; Rosenbek et al., 1973; Wambaugh, 2002).

The therapy method was similar for all patients (for the same method see also Marangolo et al., 2011, 2013c). For each condition, the entire list of stimuli was presented in each daily session. The therapist and the patient were seated face to face so that the patient could watch the articulatory movement of the therapist as she spoke. The therapist presented one stimulus at a time and the treatment involved four consecutive steps, which were designed to progressively induce the patient to reproduce correctly the stimulus.

Step 1: The clinician auditorily presented the whole stimulus and asked the patient to repeat it. If the patient correctly repeated the stimulus, the clinician would present another stimulus, if she/he made errors the clinician would move on the next step. Step 2: The clinician auditorily presented the stimulus with a pause between each syllable, prolonged the vowel sound, exaggerated the articulatory gestures and asked the patient to do the same.

Step 3: As in Step 2, the clinician auditorily presented the stimulus again with a pause between each syllable, prolonged the vowel sound, exaggerated the articulatory gestures and asked the patient to do the same.

Step 4: The clinician auditorily presented one syllable at a time, prolonged the vowel sound, exaggerated the articulatory gestures and asked the patient to do the same.

Step 5: As in step 4, the clinician auditorily presented one syllable at a time again, prolonged the vowel sound, exaggerated the articulatory gestures and asked the patient to do the same. Each participant's response was transcribed and recorded on audiotape.

In order to assure the double-blind procedure, all responses, without any identification label, were analyzed by an independent external examiner, who was totally unaware of the aim of the treatment and/or of the experimental condition (anodal vs. sham) to which the patient has been subjected. Responses were scored as correct only if all sounds in the syllables, words or sentences were correctly articulated.

## Data analysis

The patients' performance was evaluated by taking into account the mean percentage of response accuracy for syllables, words and sentences. Data were analysed using SPSS 17.0 software. Three repeated measures ANOVAs were performed separately for syllables, words and sentences. For each analysis, two "within" factors were considered: TIME (baseline (T0) vs. end of treatment (T5) vs. follow up (FU) and CONDITION (anodal vs. sham). The post-hoc Bonferroni test was conducted on the significant effects observed in the ANOVA. The values of  $p \le 0.05$  were considered statistically significant.

Inter-rater and intra-rater reliability were established using a two-way mixed, consistency single measures by the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC). For the intra-rater reliability, ICC was > 0.90 for syllables, words and sentences treatments, indicating excellent reliability.

Inter-rater reliability (IRR) was established by the primary rater and another examiner who rated patients by independently listening to speech recordings. ICC was computed for ratings on syllables, words and sentences treatments. The ICC was > 0.80 for the three treatments, indicating good reliability between the two raters.

Before and after each treatment condition, the patients' responses to the different readministration of the standardized language tests (Esame del Linguaggio II, Ciurli et al., 1996) were also analyzed using  $\chi^2$ -test.

## 4.2.3. Results

## Accuracy data

## Syllables

The analysis showed a significant effect of TIME [Baseline (T0) vs. End of treatment (T5) vs. Follow-up (F/U), F (2,18) = 11,31, P = .001] and CONDITION (anodal vs. Sham, F (1,9) = 25,14, P = .001). The interaction TIME x CONDITION was also significant (F (2,18) = 6,86, P = .01). Bonferroni's post-hoc test revealed that, while no significant differences emerged in the mean percentage of correct syllables between the two conditions at T0 (anodal 33 % vs. sham 33 %, P = 1), the mean percentage of accuracy

was significantly greater in the anodal than in the sham condition at T5 (anodal 56 % vs. sham 37 %, P = .01) and persisted at F/U (anodal 51 % vs. sham 30 % P = .00). No significant differences emerged in the mean percentage accuracy between T0 and T5 for the sham condition (4%, P = 1) (see Figure 4.2.1).



**Figure 4.2.1** Mean percentage of response accuracy for syllables at baseline (T0), at the end of treatment (T5) and at follow-up (F/U) for the anodal and sham condition, respectively.

## Words

The analysis showed a significant effect of TIME [Baseline (T0) vs. End of treatment (T5) vs. Follow-up (F/U), F (2,18) = 13,17, P = .000) and CONDITION (anodal vs. sham; F (1,9) = 23,69, P = .001). The interaction TIME x CONDITION was also significant (F (2,18) = 8,79, P = .002). Bonferroni's post-hoc test revealed that, while no significant differences emerged in the mean percentage of correct syllables between the two conditions at T0 (anodal: 35 % vs. sham 38 %, P = 1), the mean percentage of accuracy was significantly greater in the anodal than in the sham condition, at T5 (anodal 65 % vs. sham 41 %, P = .002) and persisted at F/U (anodal 54 % vs. sham 30 %, P = .003). No significant differences emerged in the mean percentage accuracy between T0 and T5 for the sham condition (3%, P = 1) (see Figure 4.2.2).



**Figure 4.2.2** Mean percentage of response accuracy for words at baseline (T0), at the end of treatment (T5) and at follow-up (F/U) for the anodal and sham condition, respectively.

## Sentences

The analysis showed a significant effect of TIME [Baseline (T0) vs. End of treatment (T5) vs. Follow-up (F/U), F (2,18) = 14,33, P = .000) and CONDITION (anodal vs. sham, F (1,9) = 26,57, P = .001). The interaction TIME x CONDITION was also significant F (2,18) = 5,19, P = .02). Bonferroni's post-hoc test revealed that, while no significant differences emerged in the mean percentage of correct syllables between the two conditions at T0 (anodal: 10 % vs. sham 10 %, P = 1), the mean percentage of accuracy was significantly greater in the anodal than in the sham condition, at T5 (anodal 50 % vs. sham at 20 %, P = .01) and persisted at F/U (anodal 40 % vs. sham 20 %, P = .03). No significant differences emerged in the mean percentage accuracy between T0 and T5 for the sham condition (10 %, P = 1) (see Figure 4.2.3).



**Figure 4.2.3** Mean percentage of response accuracy for sentences at baseline (T0), at the end of treatment (T5) and at follow-up (F/U) for the anodal and sham condition, respectively.

Finally, results on the "transfer of treatments effects" in the language examination indicated that, in most of the patients, there was a significant difference in the percentage of correct responses before and after the treatment in different oral language tasks, which was more pronounced after the anodal than after the sham condition (see Table 4.2.2).

VERB NOUN NW WRIT WRIT NW W NW W Repet Р C PICTDESC W READ Ν Ν Repet Ν w READ DICT DICT T0 T5 T0 T5 T0 T5 Τ0 T5 T0 T5 REAL FIRST 5 50^ 2,5 65^ 42,5^ 15 20 5 2,5 56,5^ 10 15 2,5 10 R 20^ 50^ S 50 25 65 42,5 42,5 37,5 20 25 5 7,5 56,5 42,5 15 22,5 10 15 R 10^ 25^ 52,5^ 42,5^ 0 2,5 S 52,5 42,5 42,5 32,5 2,5 2,5 2,5 R 2.5 25^ 32^ 52^ 22.5^ S 47,5 25 20 32,5 52,5 52,5 22,5 R 10 20 7,5 17,5\* 10 57,5^ 7,5 22,5\*\* 10^ S 57.5 42.5 22.5 R 2,5 15^ 35^ S 2,5 7,5 5 5 15 12,5 20 17,5 5 SHAM FIRST S 12,5 0 2,5 2,5 15\* 10^ R 20^ 30 50\*\* 10 37^ 12,5 47\*\* 22,5 2,5 5 2,5 5 45^ 10 27\*\* 10 10 10 20 S 2,5 55^ 2,5 10 35^ R 15^ 55 77,5^ 10 62,5^ 82^ 25 10 17,5 S 20^ R 20 92,5^ 10 67,5^ 7,5 S 5 2,5 R 32,5^ 22,5 50^ 32,5 2,5 0 10 17,5 10 S 2,5 20\*\* 2,5 R 

**Table 4.2.2**. Mean Percentage of Correct Responses in the Different Language Tasks (Esame del Linguaggio II, Ciurli et al., 1996) at Baseline (T0) and at the End of Treatment (T5) for the anodal and sham condition, respectively (Cut-off Score100%).

**Legend:** P= Participants; C= Conditions; PICTDESC= Picture Description; VERB N= Verb Naming; NOUN N= Noun Naming; W Repet= Word Repetition; NW Repet= Nonword Repetition; WRIT N= Written Noun Naming; WRIT V= Written Verb Naming; W/NW READ= Word/Nonword Reading; W/NW DICT= Word/Nonword under Dictation; S= Sham; R= Real stimulation; \*= p < 0.05; \*\*=p < 0.01;  $^=p < 0.001$ .

#### Comments

In summary, the above results clearly suggest that tsDCS is effective for improving articulatory deficits and, more importantly, it exerts its influence not only on treated items but also on untreated ones of the language examination test. Interestingly, these data very

much resemble those of our previous published results performed on two different groups of patients which underwent the same language treatment but combined with bihemispheric tDCS (Marangolo et al., 2013c, 2016). Since these patients were all nonfluent aphasics with severe AOS disorders (Marangolo et al., 2013c, 2016) and shared the same clinical characteristic of our tsDCS group, in the next experiment, we wanted to investigate if the two techniques would result equally efficacious for improving apraxia of speech. Thus, we compared the tsDCS results with the results collected in two subgroups of patients from our previous published studies (N = 5 from each study) (Marangolo et al., 2013c, 2016) who were called back again in order to perform a new study.

## 4.2.4 tDCS vs. tsDCS comparison

#### Participants

The experiment included ten participants whose clinical characteristics were the same as the tsDCS group. Patients were part of two subgroups (N = 5 for each subgroup) from our previously published tDCS studies (Marangolo et al., 2013c, 2016) but they were called back again in order to perform a new experiment. Details of the ten patients have been reported previously (for details see Marangolo et al., 2013c, 2016). All patients had nonfluent speech. Subjects were not able to produce any words in spontaneous speech. Their language production was limited to a few syllables due to their apraxia of speech disorder.

#### Procedure

The materials, the experimental procedure and the language treatment were the same as in the tsDCS experiment.

#### Bihemispheric transcranial direct current stimulation

Transcranial direct current stimulation was applied using a battery driven Eldith (NeuroConn GmbH, Germany) Programmable Direct Current Stimulator with a pair of surface-soaked sponge electrodes ( $5 \times 7$  cm). Real stimulation consisted of 20 min of 2 mA direct current with the anode placed over the ipsilesional and the cathode over the contralesional IFG (F5 and F7 of the extended International 10–20 system for EEG electrode placement). For sham stimulation, the same electrode positions were used. In

both conditions, patients underwent concurrent speech therapy for their apraxia of speech disorder.

#### Results

#### Data analysis

Data were analyzed with SPSS 17.0 software. The outcome for each group was the mean percentage of correct responses. A three-way mixed analysis of variance (ANOVA) with one between-subjects factor [GROUP (spinal vs. bihemispheric)] and two within-subjects factors [CONDITIONS (anodal vs. sham) and TIME (baseline (T0) vs. last day (T5) vs. follow up (FU)] was performed. The post-hoc Bonferroni test was conducted on the significant effects observed in the ANOVA. The values of p = < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

#### **Syllables**

The three-way mixed ANOVA showed a significant effect of CONDITION (anodal vs. sham, F (1,18) = 52,70, P = .000) and TIME [Baseline (T0) vs. End of treatment (T5) vs. Follow-up (F/U), F (2,36) = 52,95, P = .000]. The interaction CONDITION x TIME was also significant (F (2,36) = 10,72, P = .000), but the interaction GROUP\*TIME\* CONDITION was not significant (F (2,36) = 0.12, P = 0.89). In particular, for both groups, Bonferroni's post-hoc test revealed that, while no significant differences emerged in the mean percentage of correct syllables between the two conditions at T0 (anodal spinal: 33 % vs. sham spinal 33 %, P = 1; anodal cortical: 37 % vs. sham cortical: 31 % P = 1), the mean percentage of accuracy was significantly greater in the anodal than in the sham condition at T5 (anodal spinal 56 % vs. sham spinal 37 %, P = .006; anodal cortical 72 % vs. sham cortical 46 %, P = .002) and persisted at F/U (anodal spinal 51 % vs. sham spinal 30 %, P = .005; anodal cortical 67 % vs. sham cortical 44 % P = .006).

#### Words

The three-way mixed ANOVA showed a significant effect of CONDITION (anodal vs. sham, F (1,18) = 36,39, P = .000) and TIME [Baseline (T0) vs. End of treatment (T5) vs. Follow-up (F/U), F (2,36) = 49,88, P = .000]. The interaction CONDITION x TIME was also significant (F (2,36) = 14,86, P = .000) but the interaction GROUP\*TIME\* CONDITION was not significant (F (2,36) = 1.73, P = 0.19). In particular, for both groups, Bonferroni's post-hoc test revealed that, while no significant differences emerged

in the mean percentage of correct syllables between the two conditions at T0 (anodal spinal: 35 % vs. sham spinal 38 %, P = 1; anodal cortical: 36 % vs. sham cortical: 29 % P = 1), the mean percentage of accuracy was significantly greater in the anodal than in the sham condition at T5 (anodal spinal 65 % vs. sham spinal 41 %, P = .002; anodal cortical 66 % vs. sham cortical 42 %, P = .000) and persisted at F/U (anodal spinal 54 % vs. sham spinal 30 %, P = .003; anodal cortical 60 % vs. sham cortical 43 % P = .001).

## Sentences

The three-way mixed ANOVA showed a significant effect of CONDITION (anodal vs. Sham, F (1,18) = 41,06, P = .000) and TIME [Baseline (T0) vs. End of treatment (T5) vs. Follow-up (F/U), F (2,36) = 45,40, P = .000]. The interaction CONDITION x TIME was also significant (F (2,36) = 15,43, P = .000), but the interaction GROUP\*TIME\* CONDITION was not significant (F (2,36) = 0,02 P = 0.98). In particular, for both groups, Bonferroni's post-hoc test revealed that, while no significant differences emerged in the mean percentage of correct syllables between the two conditions at T0 (anodal spinal: 10 % vs. sham spinal 10 %, P = 1; anodal cortical: 3% vs. sham cortical: 1% P = 1), the mean percentage of accuracy was significantly greater in the anodal than in the sham condition at T5 (anodal spinal 50 % vs. sham spinal 20 %, P = .008; anodal cortical 44 % vs. sham cortical 15 %, P = .000) and persisted at F/U (anodal spinal 40 % vs. sham spinal 20 %, P = .03; anodal cortical 35 % vs. sham cortical 11 % P = 0.000) (see Figure 4.2.4).



**Figure 4.2.4** Mean percentage of response accuracy for syllables, words, and sentences at baseline (T0), at the end of treatment (T5) and at follow-up (F/U) for the anodal and sham condition in the tDCS and tsDCS group, respectively.

## 4.2.5 Discussion

The aim of this study was to investigate whether tsDCS would improve speech articulation in a group of ten chronic aphasic patients with concurrent AOS. At the end of treatment, results showed that only after anodal tsDCS articulatory errors significantly decreased for the treated stimuli (syllables, words and sentences). Moreover, this improvement also persisted at one week after the treatment (F/U) and generalized to the language test. Indeed, most of the patients showed significant changes in different oral language tasks (noun and verb naming, word and non-word repetition, word and non-word reading) administered before and after the treatment. No significant changes were found before and after the treatment in writing (see Table 4.2.2). This specificity argues against an effect simply due to enhanced cognitive arousal which should have influenced both oral and written tasks.

Thus, after anodal tsDCS, most patients showed a progressive reduction of phonological distortions in different oral tasks, the reduction being due to improvement in AOS. Interestingly, as also noted in our previous tDCS works (Marangolo et al., 2013c, 2016), only anodal stimulation produced significant changes. Indeed, the language treatment alone did not produce significant improvement in the sham condition. This result could be ascribed primarily to the severity and chronicity of the articulatory deficit present in

all patients, which is in itself particularly resistant to change (Au et al., 2016; Knock et al., 2000; McNeil et al., 2000; Wambaugh, 2002). Indeed, since the treatment of AOS requires to plan intensive language training with repetitiveness of the exercises, it could be hypothesized that in the sham condition five days of language training were insufficient to improve performance. However, interestingly, the same amount of treatment associated with anodal tsDCS over the same period exerted beneficial effects. Thus, similarly to previous results (Marangolo et al., 2013c, 2016), combining stimulation with language training boosted language recovery overcoming the difficulties caused by the severity of the deficit. These findings are, thus, very promising as five days of tsDCS produced beneficial effects that were not achieved in the absence of stimulation.

of To date, а growing body evidence has already suggested that the neurostimulation provided by tDCS might enhance the effects of traditional language treatments for people with aphasia (Fridriksson et al., 2018b; Marangolo, 2020). With regard to AOS, previous tDCS studies have already been proven effective in improving speech articulation in post-stroke chronic aphasia (Marangolo et al., 2013c, 2016). In particular, bihemispheric tDCS with simultaneous excitatory stimulation to the left Broca's area and inhibitory current over the right homologous improved articulatory performance in a group of aphasic individuals (Marangolo et al., 2013c, 2016). Interestingly, these effects significantly correlated with functional connectivity changes which were most pronounced in the left perilesional cortex (Marangolo et al., 2016). In particular, since the behavioural treatment was focused on the motor aspects of speech production, significant changes were found in regions related to planning, maintenance, and execution of speech, such as the left premotor cortex, the left supplementary motor area and the cerebellum (Marangolo et al., 2016). Thus, the results of this study revealed the activation of different sensorimotor structures involved in speech articulation confirming that articulatory processing is related to motor activity (Darley et al., 1975; Levelt et al., 1999; McNeil et al., 1997; Spencer & Rogers, 2005).

As stated in the Introduction, to date, a growing body of evidence has suggested that spinal stimulation exerts supraspinal changes by specifically influencing cortical regions, such as the sensorimotor cortices (Bocci et al., 2015a, 2015b; Truini et al., 2011). Modelling studies have further supported this issue confirming that the current delivered

over the spinal thoracic vertebrae, by increasing somatosensory activity from the spinal cord to the brain, induces neurophysiological changes over the cortex (Fiocchi et al., 2016; Parazzini et al., 2014). Accordingly, in a very recent rs-fMRI study, Schweizer and co-workers (2017) have shown that anodal tsDCS resulted in connectivity changes into the somatosensory cortices. Similarly, Marangolo and collaborators (2020) have reported a significant correlation between the amount of verb improvement found after anodal tsDCS and supraspinal functional changes into the motor network.

Thus, given that speech articulation involves the activation of motor plans (Basilakos et al., 2015; Graff-Radford et al., 2014; Itabashi et al., 2016; Jonas, 1981; Josephs et al., 2006, 2012; Moser et al., 2009) and that tsDCS induces changes into the motor cortex (Bocci et al., 2015a, 2015b; Marangolo et al., 2020), we might expect that in our study tsDCS would have influenced activity into the sensorimotor networks resulting efficacious for AOS recovery, which was the case.

Therefore, it could be hypothesized that either directly delivering the current over the frontal cortex through bihemispheric tDCS (Marangolo et al., 2013c, 2016) or influencing the sensorimotor network in a bottom-up manner through spinal cord stimulation (Bocci et al., 2015a, 2015b; Marangolo et al.,2020) would result equally effective for the recovery of AOS. Indeed, a direct comparison of the results obtained in the tsDCS group with those collected in the bihemisperic tDCS group, revealed no differences between the two techniques. Thus, spinal stimulation resulted efficacious as cortical stimulation.

Even if the exact underlying tsDCS mechanisms over the corticospinal system, in our study, remain largely speculative, in line with previous suggestions (Lang et al., 2004; Monti et al., 2008), the hypothesis might be advanced that anodal tsDCS has decreased the excitability of cortical inhibitory interneurons in the motor cortex, thus improving the efficacy of their correspondent areas. Indeed, while anodal tDCS is generally facilitatory to the cortex (Di Lazzaro et al., 2012, 2013; Nitsche et al., 2005), it has been suggested that anodal tsDCS exerts inhibition due to a hyperpolarization of the axons running along the spinal columns (Cogiamanian et al., 2008, 2011). An effect of tsDCS on neurotransmitters cannot also be ruled out. For instance, neurotransmitters such as GABA and glutamate undergo substantial changes after cortical tDCS over the motor cortex (Stagg et al., 2009, 2011). Although this effect might be task specific, one further

hypothesis might be that, in our study, the inhibitory current delivered through anodal tsDCS has decreased both GABA and glutamate levels into the sensorimotor cortices leading to an improvement of their function (Kim et al., 2014; Stagg et al., 2009, 2011). According to previous hypothesis (Bocci et al., 2015c), we cannot also rule out the possibility that anodal tsDCS has induced an interhemispheric delay in motor connectivity, thus, enhancing the functionality of the left sensorimotor cortices through inhibition of its right homologs (Bocci et al., 2015c). Indeed, the model of interhemispheric interaction (similar to models of motor recovery after stroke) suggests that, after a left hemisphere damage to the language areas, the homotopic right hemisphere regions could result abnormally activated and, thus, might exert an inhibitory effect over the residual left language area (Belin et al., 1996; Murase et al., 2004). In this way, improvement could be possible either by stimulating the left-damaged hemisphere (Baker et al., 2010; Fiori et al., 2011, 2013) or inhibiting the right contralesional areas (Kang et al., 2011; Naeser et al., 2005; Yung et al., 2011). Thus, the hypothesis could also be advanced that tsDCS has inhibited the motor regions of the right hemisphere increasing activity of the left correspondent areas which in turn facilitated speech articulation.

In summary, since the two techniques, in our study, yield the same results, we might suggest that, due to the ease with which tsDCS can be applied over the spinal cord, tsDCS might represent a valid new tool for the recovery of language in aphasia, at least for those aspects related to motor processing, such as action verbs and speech articulation. Indeed, current theories postulate that the language function, among which articulatory planning, is subserved by a large network of regions widely distributed across the brain (Dick et al., 2014; Klingbeil et al., 2019; Ripamonti et al., 2018). It has also been recently suggested that a wide circuitry of distributed left motor cortical areas can be modulated by tsDCS (Marangolo et al., 2020). Thus, differently from previous tDCS paradigms (Marangolo, 2020), we might hypothesize that tsDCS could result easier to use than tDCS for those language units which carry motor information, because an appropriate positioning of the anode over the spinal cord would remove the need to establish in advance which part of the sensorimotor system should be specifically targeted with DCS. Given that PWA, very frequently, report difficulties in verb production and/or articulatory deficits which dramatically impact the ability to produce informative speech and its intelligibility, if our

results will be further confirmed in the future, we believe that tsDCS might be considered as a suitable method for the recovery of these deficits.

## 4.2.6 Conclusion

We are aware that our study has some limitations, the major ones are represented by the small samples of participants included and the lack of longitudinal follow-ups. Indeed, despite previous works that have been already published, due to the above reported limitations, there is still conflicting evidence for the efficacy of tDCS in post-stroke aphasia. However, considering all of these limitations, we believe that our study provides preliminary suggestions that spinal stimulation might be considered a new approach for language recovery.

## 4.3 EXPERIMENT 3

# **Does Executive Function Training Impact on Functional Communication? A Randomized Controlled tDCS Study on Post-Stroke Aphasia<sup>3</sup>**

## Abstract

New approaches in aphasia rehabilitation have recently pointed out the crucial role of executive functions (EFs) in language recovery, especially for people with severe aphasia (PWSA). Indeed, EFs include high-order cognitive abilities such as planning and problem-solving which enable humans to adapt themselves to novel situations and are essential for everyday functional communication. In a randomized double-blind crossover design, twenty chronic Italian PWSA underwent ten workdays of transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) (20 min, 2 mA) over the right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC). Two different conditions were considered: (1) anodal, and (2) sham, while performing four cognitive tasks (alertness, selective attention, visuo-spatial working memory, and planning) all related to executive functions processing. After anodal tDCS, a greater improvement in selective attention, visuospatial working memory, and planning abilities was found compared to the sham condition; this improvement persisted one month after the intervention. Moreover, a significant improvement was also observed in functional communication, measured through the Communication Activities of Daily Living Scale, in noun and verb naming, in auditory and written language comprehension tasks and in executive functions abilities. This evidence emphasizes, for the first time, that tDCS over the right DLPFC combined with executive trainings enhances functional communication in severe aphasia.

## 4.3.1 Introduction

The traditional model of language organization, often referred to as the "Broca– Wernicke–Lichtheim–Geschwind model" (Geranmayeh et al., 2014; Poeppel & Hickok, 2004), focuses almost exclusively on the involvement of the inferior frontal and posterior temporal regions for expressive and receptive language functions, respectively, and the connection between these sites (arcuate fasciculus) as a key pathway for language

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Pisano, F., Manfredini, A., Castellano, A., Caltagirone, C., & Marangolo, P. (2022). Does Executive Function Training Impact on Communication? A Randomized Controlled tDCS Study on Post-Stroke Aphasia. *Brain sciences*, *12*(9), 1265. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci12091265

comprehension and production interaction. However, in recent years, behavioral and neuroimaging results have shown that the network subserving the language function is much larger distributed across the brain than previously considered (Duncan & Small, 2017; Tremblay & Dick, 2016; Ulm et al., 2018). Indeed, most contemporary models propose a much more complex architecture encompassing regions which might also include bilateral cortical networks as well as subcortical circuits (Crosson, 2013; Hebb & Ojemann, 2013; Hickok & Poeppel, 2008; Marien et al., 2014; Price, 2010). In line with this view, a growing body of evidence has led to the concept of "neuronal multifunctionality", in which these complex neuronal circuits subserve both linguistic and non-linguistic information, creating dynamic cognition-language interactions in the brain (Blumstein & Amso, 2013; Cahana-Amitay & Albert, 2015). Based on this perspective, new approaches in aphasia rehabilitation have emphasized that non-linguistic functions may also subserve language recovery. Accordingly, several works have already shown that multiple cognitive domains, including attention (Erickson et al., 1996; Hula & McNeil, 2008; Lesniak et al., 2008; Murray, 2012; Peach et al., 1994), memory (Helm-Estabrooks, 2002; Lapointe & Erickson, 1991) and executive functions, may be utilized to improve communication and language performance in aphasia (Fridriksson et al., 2006; Keil & Kaszniak, 2002; Ramsberger, 2005; Schumacher et al., 2019). Since in persons with severe aphasia (PWSA) language does not always adequately meet the communicative needs (e.g., social interaction and information transfer) of the individual (Darrigrand et al., 2011), to communicate successfully it is necessary to enhance skills and strategies that allow PWSA to bypass their limitations in everyday activities. The impact of inadequate strategic competence in everyday life in PWSA clearly points out to the importance of training executive functions for successful functional communication in aphasia (Olsson et al., 2019, 2020). Indeed, executive functions (EFs) include highorder cognitive abilities such as cognitive flexibility, planning and problem solving which enable humans to achieve goals, to adapt themselves to novel everyday life situations, and to manage social interactions (Miyake & Friedman, 2012; Miyake et al., 2000; Toplak et al., 2012). To date, several definitions, and theoretical models for EFs processing have been proposed which were specifically designed to achieve different research purposes (Suchy et al., 2017). With regard to the relationship between executive functions and functional communication, clinically oriented models are the most suitable choice.
Indeed, clinical models, which originate from clinical neuropsychology, tend to be comprehensive, including multiple sub-components of EF which correspond to the deficits observed in brain-damaged populations. Examples of such models include those by Lezak, et al. (2012), Stuss (2011), and Suchy (2015). Particularly, Suchy and colleagues (2017) have proposed a model which describes the relationship between executive functions and functional communication. The model comprises five components: 1) planning and problem-solving skills based on working memory and mental flexibility; 2) initiation and continuation of the behaviors necessary to implement a given action; 3) response selection, i.e. the ability to choose an appropriate action among several competitors, based on the processes of inhibition and updating; 4) multitasking, i.e. monitoring and coordinating multiple goals in a prospective view; 5) social cognition, i.e. understanding socially relevant verbal communication and paralinguistic messages. Thus, the authors consider the importance of executive functions to accomplish several communication skills (Suchy et al., 2017). As an example, while holding a conversation, the speaker should contemporarily store the interlocutor's information, plan the responses to be given, and sometimes inhibit inappropriate ones, all tasks implemented by EF processing.

Consistent with this hypothesis, several lines of evidence have already emphasized how executive functions could provide support to conversational skills when spared but they might also interfere with functional communication when impaired (Ramsberger, 2005). Indeed, different reports to date have clearly shown that PWA may also present with executive deficits, which negatively affect language treatment outcomes (Gilmore et al., 2019; Schumacher et al., 2019; Simic et al., 2019) and communication skills (Fridriksson et al., 2006; Olsson et al., 2019, 2020). Very recently, Olsson and colleagues (2019) have specifically investigated the relationship between executive function, language abilities and functional communication in a large sample of forty-seven PWSA. Participants were first divided into two groups with respect to their ability to rely or not on verbal output (spoken or written). The nonverbal group presented with a more severe aphasia than the verbal group. In order to evaluate executive functions processing, the authors administered four subtests from the "Cognitive Linguistic Quick Test (CLQT)" (Helm-Estabrooks, 2001). Language abilities were examined through the "Comprehensive Aphasia Test" (CAT) (Swinburn et al., 2005), while the "Scenario test" (van der Meulen

et al., 2010) and the "Communicative Effectiveness Index" (Lomas et al., 1989) were included to measure functional communication. The results showed that most of the PWA (79%), presented with executive functions deficits which partially correlated with the participants verbal and communication abilities. As a group, the nonverbal participants had more severe impairments of executive functions which partially correlated with functional communication when controlling for linguistic ability. In the verbal subgroup, no relations were found between executive functions, language, and functional communication.

In recent years, new technological advances have shown the effectiveness of transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS), a non-invasive brain stimulation technology, in the recovery of several cognitive abilities, including language recovery (Lefaucheur et al., 2017; Marangolo, 2020). Through tDCS a weak current at low intensity (1-2mA) is delivered on the scalp by means of two electrodes: the anode and the cathode (Nitsche & Paulus, 2011). Depending on the polarity of the current, there is a general agreement that anodal stimulation causes a depolarization of the neural membrane resulting in excitability of the target area, whereas cathodal stimulation might induce hyperpolarization with an inhibition of the activity of the stimulated region (Sudbrack-Oliveira et al., 2021). Typically, these two conditions (anodal, cathodal) are compared with a sham condition (placebo condition) in which the stimulator is switched off after 30 seconds without the subject's awareness (Fregni et al., 2020; Lefaucheur et al., 2017).

It is well known that the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) is involved in higherlevel cognition and, in particular, in domain general executive functional control such as in selective attention, inhibition, switching, planning, and working memory (WM) tasks (Badre & Wagner, 2004; Brunoni & Vanderhasselt, 2014; Fassbender et al., 2006; Hart et al., 2013; for a review see Hertrich et al., 2021). Despite this consensus, to date, the research regarding the role of the left or right DLPFC involvement for the different cognitive functions (Badre & Wagner, 2004; Brunoni & Vanderhasselt, 2014; Fassbender et al., 2006; Hart et al., 2013) has led to inconsistent conclusions in the tDCS literature (Medina & Cason, 2017). With regard to selective attention, which requires not only the selection of an adequate and relevant response but also the inhibition of inappropriate reactions, a couple of works have indicated an increase in response inhibition capacity after anodal tDCS over the left DLPFC (Loftus et al., 2015), while others have

emphasized the effectiveness of either anodal (Friehs & Frings, 2018; Hsu et al., 2011) or cathodal tDCS over the right DLPFC (Weidacker et al., 2016) in selective attention performance. Very recently Chen et al. (2021) have investigated the effects of tDCS over the DLPFC on response inhibition in ninety-two healthy subjects. Three groups of participants were recruited: 1) the anodal tDCS over the right DLPFC group, 2) the cathodal tDCS over the right DLPFC group and 3) the sham group. Before and after stimulation, all participants underwent a computerized behavioral response inhibition task. Although an improvement in the inhibition component was observed in the anodal and cathodal tDCS group compared to the sham group, only after anodal stimulation the participants were more attentive to discrimination and decision-making processes. In the context of WM, while some studies have successfully targeted the left DLPFC (Brunoni & Vanderhasselt, 2014; Dedoncker et al., 2016; Zaehle et al., 2011), others have addressed the role of its right homologous (Trumbo et al., 2016; Wu et al., 2014). Jeon and Han (2014) investigated whether tDCS over the DLPFC improve different cognitive abilities among which visuospatial working memory. To verify this, thirty-two healthy adults were divided into three groups: 1) the anodal tDCS right DLPFC group; 2) the anodal tDCS left DLPFC group and 3) the sham group. Interestingly, only after anodal tDCS over the right DLPFC, an enhancement in the ability to resolve a computerized visuo-spatial working memory task was found. Similar findings were shown by Giglia et al. (2014) and Trumbo et al. (2016). Particularly, Trumbo et al. (2016) have confirmed that stimulation over the right but not the left DLPFC improves spatial n-back task performance, indicating that the right DLPFC is involved in spatial WM locationmonitoring.

It is worth noting that planning is a higher-level cognitive function (Cristofari et al., 2019) in which several cognitive sub-processes come into play, such as decision-making, reflective judgement, monitoring. Not surprisingly, people who have difficulty in planning in real-life contexts may manifest a failure to shift between mental sets and have poor judgment regarding adequacy and completeness of a plan (Cristofari et al., 2019). According to the literature, the right DLPFC has a key role in cognitive control and set shifting involved in judgment, decision-making performance, and error awareness (Fleming et al., 2012; Toplak et al., 2011). In line with these assumptions, Harty and colleagues (2014) have investigated the effects of both anodal and cathodal stimulation

over the right and left DLPFC in a group of 106 healthy older adults, who presented a low error awareness. For the first time, an association between anodal tDCS over the right DLPFC and an increase in error awareness was found, measured through the Error Awareness Task (EAT) (Hester et al., 2005). In a sample of fifty-five healthy subjects, Heinze and colleagues (2014) investigated the effects of bilateral tDCS over the DLPFC combined with an eye-tracking while performing a planning task by using the Tower of London test. Results showed a reduction in initial thinking time following left cathodal/right anodal DLPFC stimulation in parallel with a shorter duration of the last gaze before task's solution. Based on these findings, the authors concluded that anodal stimulation over the right DLPFC is associated with a reduction in the time spent in evaluation processes during planning tasks. With regard to decision making and judgement processes, very recently Edgcumbe et al. (2021) have shown an amelioration of the cognitive reflection performance after anodal tDCS over the right DLPFC with respect to left DLPFC stimulation and sham condition in forty-four participants.

Although the DLPFC has never been considered as specifically related to language tasks, its role for implementing functional connectivity between the language network and other cognitive domains has been widely recognized (for a review, see Hertrich et al., 2021). Thus, several studies have stimulated the left DLPFC to improve error detection in sentences (Nozari et al., 2014) or to reduce interference in picture naming tasks (Wirth et al., 2010). Very recently, Pestalozzi and collaborators (2018) have investigated whether strengthening executive control through anodal tDCS over the left DLPFC would facilitate lexical retrieval processing in a group of fourteen PWA. Results showed an increase in verbal fluency and in naming speed of high frequency words during anodal condition with respect to sham.

As far as we know, to date, none of the reported studies have investigated whether tDCS over the DLPFC combined with executive functions trainings improves the recovery of functional communication in PWSA.

It is widely known that pragmatic language skills such as the ability to use language properly in a social context (Lindell, 2006), encompass linguistic (i.e., appropriate initiation, turn-taking, topic maintenance) and extralinguistic functions (gestures, facial expression, body movement) (Holler & Levinson, 2019), relying on different cognitive

systems and higher order abilities, such as executive functions processing (Barkley, 2001; Camia et al., 2022; Martin & McDonald, 2003; Rad, 2014). For instance, in production and comprehension of narratives, the actors have to hold in mind and update the information, to suppress one's self-perception and flexibly respond to the interlocutor. These pragmatic abilities require the involvement of the right hemisphere, which helps to keep track of the topic or theme of a speech, to draw high-level inferences and to integrate the meaning into a broader discourse or social context (Stemmer, 2005).

Since the most recent tDCS literature has clearly suggested the involvement of the right DLPFC in different executive functions processes and in pragmatic language skills, in the present study we investigated whether anodal tDCS over the right DLPFC combined with different cognitive trainings involving executive functions processing would enhance the ability to communicate in everyday life in twenty PWSA.

## 4.3.2 Materials and Methods

#### Study Design

A randomized double-blinded cross-over design was conducted from January 2020 to June 2022 at the Behavioral Neurological Laboratory of the IRCCS Santa Lucia in Rome, Italy. Thirty chronic persons with post-stroke aphasia were examined through a detailed neuropsychological assessment. Ten were excluded for the following reasons: failure to meet the inclusion criteria, difficulty in transporting means and personal reasons. Thus, a final sample size of twenty patients was recruited.

G\*Power 3.1 (Faul et al., 2009) was used to calculate the sample size with  $\alpha = 0.05$ , a power = 90%, two measurements (anodal vs sham), and effect size f = 0.4. The analysis indicated that a total sample size of N  $\geq$  19 was necessary to detect a significant effect in our study.

All twenty patients received both interventions (AB  $\rightarrow$  anodal-sham and BA  $\rightarrow$  shamanodal). The order of conditions was randomized across subjects. Half of the participants (n = 10) started with condition A (anodal tDCS) followed by condition B (sham tDCS), while the other half began (n = 10) with condition B (sham tDCS) followed by condition A (anodal tDCS). The allocation sequences were generated by a technician of the laboratory. To avoid carryover effects, a washout period of four weeks was established between condition A and B (and vice versa). As this was a double-blinded study, both the examiner and the patient were blinded regarding the stimulation condition and the stimulator was turned on/off by a third person, who assigned participants to the AB or BA intervention.

## Participants

Twenty left-brain-damaged participants (ten men and ten women, mean age: 61.04; SD 7.02) with severe chronic aphasia were included in the study. Inclusion criteria were native Italian proficiency, a single left ischemic stroke at least 6 months prior to the investigation, pre-morbid right handedness (based on the "Edinburgh Handedness Questionnaire"; Oldfield, 1971) and no acute or chronic neurological symptoms needing medication. Subjects over 75 years of age and those with seizures, implanted electronic devices (e.g., pacemaker) and previous brain damage were excluded. None of the participants has received structured language therapy for at least 6 months before the time of inclusion in the study in order to prevent confounding therapy effects (see Table 4.3.1).

**Table 4.3.1** Sociodemographic and clinical data of the twenty non-fluent aphasic patients (Esame del Linguaggio II (Ciurli et al., 1996), cut-off 100%; Token test (TT) (De Renzi & Vignolo, 1962), cut-off score 29/36). In each test, the percentages of correct responses are reported except for the Token Test whose score cannot be converted in percentage.

Р	Sex	Age	Ed. Level	Time Post- Onset	Stroke Type	Lesion Side LH	Oral NN	Oral VN	Writ NN	Writ VN	WR	NWR	W Read	NW Read	WD	NW D	TT
1	М	50	8	4 y	Ι	FTP	5	5	0	0	20	15	12.5	5	0	0	5
2	М	58	13	3 y	Ι	FTP	0	5	0	0	10	0	10	0	0	0	5
3	М	60	8	1 y	Ι	FT	0	0	0	0	17.5	10	10	5	0	0	4
4	F	72	8	1 y	Ι	FTI	0	0	0	0	0	0	10	0	0	0	5
5	М	66	13	1 y	Ι	FT	0	0	0	0	20	12.5	15	5	0	0	4
6	М	67	17	2 у	Ι	FT	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5
7	F	58	13	2 у	Н	FTI	5	5	0	0	20	10	10	0	0	0	5
8	F	72	8	1 y	Ι	FTP	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	7
9	М	59	13	2 у	Ι	FTI	0	5	0	0	17.5	10	10	0	0	0	5
10	М	59	17	6 mo	Ι	FTI	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4
11	F	72	8	2 у	Ι	FTP	0	0	0	0	15	5	12.5	5	0	0	7.5
12	М	54	17	6 mo	Ι	FTP	5	0	0	0	15	5	15	0	0	0	4
13	F	58	13	3 y	Ι	FTP	5	0	0	0	15	5	10	0	0	0	5
14	F	65	17	1 y	Ι	FT	5	0	0	0	10	0	10	0	0	0	4
15	М	69	8	2 у	Ι	FTP	5	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4
16	М	55	13	3у	Ι	FT	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	6
17	F	52	17	6mo	Ι	FTP	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5
18	F	61	8	1 y	Ι	FTI	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5
19	F	53	13	2 у	Ι	FTP	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4
20	F	68	13	4 y	Ι	FTP	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5

**Legend:** P = Participants; M= male; F= female; Ed. Level = Educational Level; y=year/years; mo=months; I = Ischemic; H = Hemorrhagic; LH = Left hemisphere; FTP = fronto-temporo-parietal; FT=fronto-

temporal; FTI = fronto-temporo-insular; Oral NN = Noun Naming; Oral VN = Verb Naming; Writ NN = Written Noun Naming; Writt VN = Written Verb Naming; WR = Word Repetition; NWR = Nonword Repetition; W Read = Word Reading; NW Read = Nonword Reading; WD = Word under Dictation; NWD = Nonword under Dictation; TT= Token Test.

#### Ethics Statement

The data analyzed in the current study were collected in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and the institutional review board of the IRCCS Fondazione Santa Lucia, Rome, Italy. Before participation, all patients signed informed consent forms.

#### Clinical Data

All patients were diagnosed with severe non-fluent aphasia. Subjects were not able to spontaneously speak, as their verbal output was totally absent. The aphasic disorders were assessed using standardized language testing (Esame del Linguaggio II (EDL), Ciurli et al., 1996) and the Token Test (De Renzi & Vignolo, 1962). The EDL test included different tasks among which oral and written noun and verb-naming (n = 20 for noun naming, i.e., topo (mouse); n = 10 for verb naming, i.e., leggere (to read)), words repetition, reading and writing under dictation (words, n = 20, i.e., *tavolo* (table)), nonwords repetition, reading and writing under dictation (n = 20, i.e., bo, fime, tarino). Although some residual repetition and reading abilities were still present, all subjects were severely affected in the naming tasks and in the auditory comprehension test (Token test; cut-off 29/36) (see Table 4.1). Oral (n=60, i.e., la moto ha superato la macchina (the motorbike passed the car) and written comprehension (n=45, i.e., le bambine sono applaudite dal bambino (the girls are applauded by the boy) were also assessed through two subtests of the BADA test (Batteria per l'analisi dei deficit afasici, Miceli et al., 1994). In both tests, the aphasic performance was very compromised (see Table 4.2). To assess functional communication, we used the Italian version of CADL-2 (Pigliautile et al., 2019), an ecological evaluation tool which consists of 50 items in the form of roleplaying activities revolving around fictitious environments (e.g., going to the doctor's office, grocery shopping, making a phone call, looking for directions, driving a car), depicted by questions and pictures (Pigliautile et al., 2019). All PWA obtained low CADL-2 percentage scores, indicating a poor level of functional communication (0-23

low percentage scores, 24-77 average percentage score, 78-100 high percentage score). To investigate executive functions processing, all participants were also administered the attention Visual Search test (Spinnler & Tognoni, 1987; cut-off score 30), the spatial short-term memory Corsi test (Monaco et al., 2012; cut-off score 3,08), the non-verbal Smirni subtest which measures the ability to recognize previously presented faces and buildings (Smirni et al., 2010; cut-off percentage score >10) and, for planning abilities, the Tower of London test (TOL, Krikorian et al., 1994; cut-off percentage score 80). In the Visual Search task, all patients performed close to the cut-off score, while in the Corsi test their performance was not impaired. In the Smirni test and in the TOL test, all patients were below the cut-off percentage score (see Table 4.3.2).

**Table 4.3.2** Clinical data of the twenty non-fluent aphasic patients in Auditory and Written sentence comprehension of the BADA test (Batteria per l'Analisi dei Deficit Afasici, Miceli et al., 1994), in the CADL-2 test (Communication Activities of the Daily Living, Pigliautile et al., 2019; 0–23 low percentage scores, 24–77 average percentage score, 78–100 high percentage score), in the Visual Search (Spinnler & Tognoni, 1987; cut-off score 30), in the Corsi Span Backward (Monaco et al., 2013; cut-off score 3,08), in the Smirni test (Smirni et al., 2010; cut-off percentage score > 10) and in the TOL test (Tower of London, Krikorian et al., 1994; cut-off percentage score 80). The percentages of correct responses are reported for all tests except for Auditory and Written sentence comprehension of the BADA test, the Corsi test and the Visual Search whose score cannot be converted in percentage.

Р	Auditory Sentence Compreh	Written Sentence Compreh	CADL-2	Visual Search	Corsi backward	Smirni	TOL
1	5	5	20	31	4	5	75
2	4	2	23	31	5	10	72
3	4	3	21	32	5	10	78
4	3	2	16	34	4	5	70
5	2	4	17	33	4	5	78
6	3	4	15	32	4	5	72
7	5	5	23	32	4	10	71
8	2	2	20	34	4	5	76
9	4	4	19	33	5	10	76
10	3	3	22	32	4	10	73
11	4	2	18	31	4	5	70
12	5	4	19	31	4	10	71
13	5	3	20	34	5	10	70
14	4	2	17	32	5	5	71
15	3	4	18	31	4	5	76
16	2	4	21	34	4	5	74
17	3	5	19	31	4	5	72
18	3	5	20	33	4	5	73
19	5	3	21	34	4	10	70
20	4	4	22	31	5	10	78

**Legend:** P= Participants; Compreh= Comprehension; CADL-2= Communication Activities of the Daily Living; TOL=Tower of London

#### Materials

Cogniplus software (Schuhfried, <u>https://www.schuhfried.com/cogniplus/</u> (accessed on 15 January 2020), Mödling, Austria, Europe), a cognitive battery for training different cognitive abilities embedded in lifelike scenarios, was used. Four cognitive tasks were selected: alertness, selective attention, visuo-spatial working memory, and planning.

In the alertness training, the patient drove a motorcycle at varying speed along a winding road. The aim was to carefully observe the stretch of the road in front of him/her and to press the keyboard as quickly as possible when an obstacle appeared on the road (i.e., a

level crossing closes, a tree falls unexpectedly in the driver's path), in order to brake promptly before it.

In the selective attention task, the patient was an explorer on a boat along a river surrounded by a forest. During the journey, several animals appeared, including hippos, giraffes, elephants. The patient was asked to press the keyboard only when he/she saw the hippos.

In the spatial working memory task, the patient watched colorful butterflies in a natural environment. The butterflies flew over a meadow or sandy area. From time to time, one butterfly landed, and another started its flight and so on. Depending on the level of difficulty, the patient was asked to remember the position of the last butterfly, the second-to-last butterfly, the third-to-last butterfly and so on.

In the planning training, the patient saw a map of the city with nine buildings (e.g., post office, café, insurance office, cultural center). On the right side of the map, a box appeared in which pending and completed errands were listed. The patient was asked to accomplish several tasks in each building, formulating an appropriate strategy to decide in which order running the errands. The task difficulty varied according to the number of errands to be completed and the time spent.

## Procedure

#### Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation (tDCS)

tDCS was applied using a battery driven Eldith (neuroConn GmbH) Programmable Direct Current Stimulator with a pair of surface-soaked sponge electrodes ( $5 \times 7$  cm). Anodal stimulation consisted of 20 min of 2 mA direct current with the anode placed over the right DLPFC (F4 of the extended International 10–20 system for EEG electrode placement) and the cathode (the reference electrode) above the contralateral frontopolar cortex (Fp1). For sham stimulation, the same electrode position was used. The current was ramped up to 2 mA and slowly decreased over 30 s to ensure the typical initial tingling sensation (Gandiga et al., 2006). The order of conditions was randomized across subjects. Half of the participants started with the anodal condition and the remaining half with the sham condition. There were four weeks of intersession interval between the two experimental conditions. Thus, after four weeks, the order of condition was inverted. For each experimental condition (anodal vs. sham), the rehabilitative program consisted of 10 one-hour sessions over two weeks (Monday-Friday, weekends off, Monday-Friday). Although tDCS stimulation was delivered from the beginning of the cognitive training up to 20 min, the cognitive training lasted 1 h per day. At the end of each treatment condition (anodal vs. sham) and after four weeks (follow-up), the neuropsychological battery was readministered to all patients. During the training, none of the participants noticed differences in the intensity of sensation between the two stimulation conditions (anodal vs. sham), not being aware of what condition they were performing (O'Connell et al., 2012).

#### Cognitive treatments

The cognitive treatment was administered through the Cogniplus software (Schuhfried). During each one-hour session, all participants underwent four types of training: alertness, selective attention, visuo-spatial memory, and planning presented in randomized order.

#### Data Analysis

Before, after the treatment and at follow-up (FU), the patients' performance was evaluated by comparing the mean score obtained in the alertness, selective attention, visuo-spatial working memory, and planning training. Data were analyzed using STATISTICA10 software. The Shapiro–Wilk test was applied which revealed a normal distribution of the data. Four repeated measures ANOVAs were performed separately for the four types of training. For each analysis, two "within" factors were considered: CONDITION (anodal vs. sham) and TIME (baseline (T0) versus end of treatment (T10) versus follow up (FU)). The post-hoc Bonferroni test was conducted on the significant effects observed in the ANOVA. The values of  $p \le 0.05$  were considered statistically significant. Before and after each treatment condition, the patients' responses to the different re-administration of the standardized language tests (EDL and BADA), CADL-2 test, Visual Search test, Smirni subtest and TOL test were also analyzed using  $\chi$ 2-test.

#### 4.3.3 Results

#### Accuracy Data

#### Alertness

The analysis showed no significant effect of CONDITION (anodal versus Sham, F (1,19) = 1.51, p = 0.23, partial  $\eta 2 = 0.07$  and observed power =0.21), but a significant effect of

TIME [Baseline (T0) versus End of treatment (T10) versus Follow-up (F/U), F (2,38) = 360.40,  $p \le 0.001$ , partial  $\eta 2 = 0.95$ , and observed power =1.000]. The interaction CONDITION×TIME was not significant (F (2,38) = 1.76, p = 0.19, partial  $\eta 2 = 0.08$  and observed power =0.35).

#### Selective Attention

The analysis showed a significant effect of CONDITION (anodal versus Sham, F (1,19) = 222.13,  $p \le 0.001$ , partial  $\eta 2 = 0.92$  and observed power =1.000) and of TIME (Baseline (T0) versus End of treatment (T10) versus Follow-up (F/U), F (2,38) = 427.84,  $p \le 0.001$ , partial  $\eta 2 = 0.96$  and observed power =1.000). The interaction CONDITION x TIME was also significant (F (2,38) = 199.19,  $p \le 0.001$ , partial  $\eta 2 = 0.91$  and observed power =1.000). Bonferroni's *post-hoc* test revealed that, while no significant differences emerged in the mean score between the two conditions at T0 (anodal 2 versus sham 2, p = 1), the mean score was significantly greater in the anodal than in the sham condition at T10 (anodal 8 versus sham 4,  $p \le 0.001$ ) and persisted at F/U (anodal 8 versus sham 4,  $p \le 0.001$ ). Significant differences also emerged between T0 and T10 for the sham condition (2,  $p \le 0.001$ ) (see Figure 4.3.1).



**Figure 4.3.1** Mean score in the selective attention training at baseline (T0), at the end of treatment (T10) and at follow-up (F/U, 1 month after the end of treatment) for the anodal and sham condition, respectively. Sig. ANOVA: \*  $p \le 0.001$ .

#### Visuo-spatial working memory

The analysis showed a significant effect of CONDITION (anodal versus Sham, F (1,19) = 20.29,  $p \le 0.001$ , partial  $\eta 2 = 0.52$  and observed power =0.99) and TIME (Baseline (T0) versus End of treatment (T10) versus Follow-up (F/U), F (2,38) = 169.29,  $p \le 0.001$ , partial  $\eta 2 = 0.90$  and observed power =1.000). The interaction CONDITION x TIME was also significant (F (2,38) = 18.99,  $p \le 0.001$ , partial  $\eta 2 = 0.50$  and observed power =0.99). Bonferroni's *post-hoc* test revealed that, while no significant differences emerged in the mean score between the two conditions at T0 (anodal 2 versus sham 2, p = 1), the mean score was significantly greater in the anodal than in the sham condition at T10 (anodal 10 versus sham 7,  $p \le 0.001$ ) and persisted at F/U (anodal 9 versus sham 7,  $p \le 0.001$ ). Significant differences also emerged between T0 and T10 for the sham condition (5,  $p \le 0.001$ ) (see Figure 4.3.2).



**Figure 4.3.2** Mean score in the visuo-spatial working memory training at baseline (T0), at the end of treatment (T10) and at follow-up (F/U, 1 month after the end of treatment) for the anodal and sham condition, respectively. Sig. ANOVA: \*  $p \le 0.001$ .

#### Planning

The analysis showed a significant effect of CONDITION (anodal versus Sham, F (1,19) = 201.06, p  $\leq$  0.001, partial  $\eta$ 2 = 0.91 and observed power =1.000) and TIME (Baseline (T0) versus End of treatment (T10) versus Follow-up (F/U), F (2,38) = 438.24, p $\leq$ 0.001,

partial  $\eta 2 = 0.96$  and observed power =1.000). The interaction CONDITION x TIME was also significant (F (2,38) = 237.05,  $p \le 0.001$ , partial  $\eta 2 = 0.93$  and observed power =1.000). Bonferroni's *post-hoc* test revealed that, while no significant differences emerged in the mean score between the two conditions at T0 (anodal 3 versus sham 4, p= 1), the mean score was significantly greater in the anodal than in the sham condition at T10 (anodal 16 versus sham 10,  $p \le 0.001$ ) and persisted at F/U (anodal 16 versus sham 9,  $p \le 0.001$ ). Significant differences also emerged between T0 and T10 for the sham condition (6,  $p \le 0.001$ ) (see Fig. 4.3.3).



**Figure 4.3.3** Mean score in the planning training at baseline (T0), at the end of treatment (T10) and at follow-up (F/U, 1 month after the end of treatment) for the anodal and sham condition, respectively. Sig. ANOVA: \* $p \le 0.001$ .

Interestingly, the  $\chi$ 2-test also revealed that, when the training was combined with anodal stimulation, all patients significantly improved not only in the CADL-2 test but also in oral noun and verb naming and in oral and written comprehension of sentences (see Table 4.3.3).

Р	С	ORAL NN			ORAL VN			AUDITORY SENT COMP			WRITTEN SENT COMP			CADL-2		
		Т0	T10	FU	T0	T10	FU	T0	T10	FU	Т0	T10	FU	T0	T10	FU
REAL FIRST																
	R	5	30^	30	5	30^	30	5	17**	17	5	16*	14	20	48^	42
1	S	30	32,5	25	30	35	30	17	19	16	16	18	14	48	50	40
2	R	0	17,5^	15	0	12,5^	15	4	15*	13	3	13*	13	21	50^	50
3	S	17,5	17,5	15	12,5	15	12,5	15	17	14	13	16	14	50	54	52
_	R	0	15^	15	0	10**	10	2	14*	13	4	13*	11	17	36**	38
5	S	15	15	10	10	10	10	14	14	12	13	14	13	36	40	38
-	R	5	20**	20	5	40^	42,5	5	15*	15	5	12	11	23	55^	50
7	S	20	25	20	40	45	40	15	16	15	12	11	9	55	59	48
0	R	0	12,5^	15	5	30^	25	4	20^	20	4	18**	18	19	36**	40
9	S	12,5	15	15	30	30	20	20	19	19	18	19	18	36	40	40
	R	0	10**	10	0	20^	20	4	12	13	2	11*	12	18	40^	40
11	S	10	15	15	20	25	25	12	13	13	11	11	11	40	46	44
10	R	5	15*	15	0	10**	10	5	13	11	3	14**	15	20	51^	51
13	S	15	20	17,5	10	10	7,5	13	13	9	14	16	16	51	55	50
15	R	5	20**	20	5	30^	32,5	3	15**	15	4	16**	16	18	39**	36
15	S	20	22,5	20	30	30	30	15	18	18	16	19	16	39	43	40
10	R	0	20^	17,5	5	25^	25	3	10	11	5	13	12	19	44^	48
17	S	20	30	25	25	30	30	10	13	13	13	13	11	44	46	46
10	R	0	17,5^	15	0	20^	17,5	5	14*	14	3	13*	14	21	48^	48
19	S	17,5	25	20	20	20	15	14	13	13	13	15	14	48	47	47
SHAM FIRST																
-	S	0	0	0	5	10	10	4	7	7	2	4	5	23	27	23
SHAM FIRST 2	R	0	15^	12,5	10	35^	30	7	18*	15	4	14*	14	27	46**	40
4	S	0	5	5	0	0	0	3	8	8	2	7	6	16	20	20
4	R	5	25^	22,5	0	20^	15	8	18*	18	7	19*	17	20	44^	44
(	S	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	7	6	4	5	5	15	18	20
6	R	0	10**	10	0	0	0	7	17*	14	5	14*	13	18	42^	44
0	S	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	4	4	2	4	4	20	25	25
0	R	0	12,5	15	0	15^	15	4	15*	15	4	19^	18	25	53^	50
10	S	5	10	10	0	5	5	3	8	8	3	5	4	22	25	22
10	R	10	30^	30	5	25^	22,5	8	23**	21	5	14*	13	25	55^	50
12	S	5	7,5	5	0	0	0	5	10	10	4	7	7	19	23	23

**Table 4.3.3** Correct Responses in the Different Language Tasks (Esame del Linguaggio II(EDL), Ciurli et al., 1996); Battery for the Analysis of Aphasic Disorders test (BADA, Miceli et al., 1994) and in the Communication Activities of the Daily Living test (CADL-2, Pigliautile et al., 2019), at Baseline (T0), at the End of Treatment (T10), and at Follow up (FU) for the real and sham condition, respectively.

	R	7,5	20*	20	0	20^	20	10	20	21	7	18*	19	23	47^	47
	S	5	10	10	0	0	0	4	6	5	2	4	4	17	22	20
14	R	10	25**	20	0	20^	17,5	6	16*	15	4	15**	16	22	46^	42
1(	S	0	5	5	0	10**	10	2	4	4	4	6	5	21	26	24
16	R	5	22,5^	20	10	35^	30	4	14*	14	6	16*	14	26	53^	48
	S	5	10	10	0	0	0	3	5	6	5	9	9	20	22	20
18	R	10	25**	25	0	15^	15	5	17**	19	9	18	19	22	41**	41
20	S	0	0	0	5	10	10	4	7	7	4	8	7	22	24	24
	R	0	10**	7,5	10	30^	25	7	19*	19	8	20*	19	24	53^	53

**Legend**: P= Participants; C = Condition; ORAL NN = Noun Naming; ORAL VN = Verb Naming; AUDITORY SENT COMP = Auditory Sentence comprehension; WRITTEN SENT COMP = Written Sentence Comprehension; CADL-2= Communication Activities of the Daily Living; R = Real stimulation; S = Sham stimulation; \*= p < 0.05; \*\*=p < 0.01; ^= p < 0.001.

Moreover, after anodal stimulation, eleven out of twenty patients further improved their performance in the visual search test, while nine and fifteen patients passed the cut-off scores in the Smirni and TOL tests, respectively. These changes persisted at F/U. No changes were observed in the Corsi test whose score was already above the cut-off in all patients (see Table 4.3.4).

**Table 4.3.4** Correct Responses in the Different Cognitive Tasks (Visual Search, Spinnler & Tognoni,1987; Smirni test, (Smirni et al.,2010); Tower of London (TOL), Krikorian et al.,1994) at Baseline (T0), at the End of Treatment (T10) and at Follow up (FU) for the real and sham condition, respectively.

Р	C	VIS	UAL SEAF	КСН		SMIRNI			TOL			
		T0	T10	FU	Т0	T10	FU	Т0	T10	FU		
REAL FIRST												
1	R	31	40	40	5	5	5	75	90**	85		
1	S	40	40	41	5	5	5	90	90	80		
2	R	32	41	39	10	50^	50	78	92**	90		
3	S	41	40	38	50	50	50	92	92	90		
-	R	33	34	33	5	5	5	78	91*	94		
5	S	34	34	33	5	5	5	94	94	92		
-	R	32	33	34	10	25*	25	71	79	75		
7	S	33	35	34	25	25	25	79	73	73		
0	R	33	45*	46	10	25*	25	76	79	76		
9	S	45	46	48	25	25	25	79	76	76		
	R	31	40	41	5	5	5	70	88**	89		
11	S	40	39	40	5	5	5	88	88	90		
10	R	34	43	45	10	50^	50	70	92^	95		
13	S	43	45	44	50	50	50	92	95	95		
	R	31	42	41	5	5	5	76	88*	85		
15	S	42	41	40	5	5	5	88	86	83		

17	R	31	32	32	5	5	5	72	74	72
17	S	32	32	31	5	5	5	74	74     72       73     72       85*     84       88     84       72     80       88*     89       75     73       88*     89       75     73       88*     89       75     73       88*     89       75     73       88*     89       75     73       88*     89       72     71       69     70       76     80       89*     91       78     85       100^     95       4     75       85*     80       75     80       87**     87       76     75       75     75       71     77       86*     88       78     82       93**     95	72
10	R	34	35	34	10	25*	25	70	74 73 85* 88 72 88* 75 88* 72 69 76 89* 78 100^ 4 89* 78 100^ 4 85* 75 87** 75 87** 76 75 87** 76 75 87** 76 75 87** 78 93**	84
19	S	35	34	33	25	5       5       5         10       25*       25         25       25       25         10       10       10         10       10       10         10       10       10         10       25*       25         5       5       5         5       5       5         5       5       5         5       5       5         5       5       5         5       5       5         5       5       5         5       5       5         10       10       10         10       10       10         10       10       10         10       10       10         10       50^       50         5       5       5         5       5       5         5       5       5         5       5       5         5       5       5         5       5       10         5       10       10         5       10       10         5	85	88	84	
SHAM										
FIRST										
	S	31	31	32	10	10	10	72	72	80
2	R	31	31	31	10	25*	25	72	88*	89
	S	34	35	38	5	5	5	70	75	73
4	R	35	44	33	5	5	5	75	88*	89
	S	32	33	33	5	5	5	72	72	71
6	R	33	41	43	5	5	5	72	69	70
0	S	34	34	33	5	5	5	76	76	80
8	R	34	34	34	5	5	5	76	72     69     70       76     76     80       76     89*     91       73     78     85       78     100^     95	
10	S	32	33	34	10	10	10	73	78	85
10	R	33	34	35	10	50^	50	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		
10	S	31	32	31	10	10	10	71	4	75
12	R	32	32	32	10	50^	50	74	85*	80
14	S	32	34	37	5	5	10	71	75	80
14	R	34	44	45	5	10	10	75	87**	87
16	S	34	38	35	5	5	5	74	76	75
16	R	38	40	38	5	5	5	76	75	80 89 73 89 71 70 80 91 85 95 75 80 80 80 87 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 88 83 95
10	S	33	36	40	5	5	10	73	71	77
18	R	36	47	48	5	10	10	71	86*	88
20	S	31	34	38	10	10	10	78	78	83
20	R	34	45	46	10	25*	25	78	93**	95

**Legend**: P= Participants; C = Condition; TOL= Tower of London; R = Real stimulation; S = Sham stimulation; \*= p < 0.05; \*\*=p<0.01;  $^{\sim}= p < 0.001$ .

## 4.3.4 Discussion

In the present study, we investigated whether different types of executive function training combined with tDCS would enhance functional communication in twenty persons with chronic severe aphasia. After the training, an improvement in selective attention, spatial working memory and planning abilities was found in both stimulation conditions (anodal vs. sham) but it was greater in the anodal condition compared to sham. More importantly, this improvement persisted one month after the intervention. Thus, the executive training alone exerted its own effectiveness, but the recovery process was further improved after anodal tDCS. No differences were found between the two conditions in the alertness task. This last result argues against an explanation simply due to enhanced cognitive arousal which should have also influenced the alertness task. Interestingly, after anodal stimulation, a significant improvement was also observed in functional communication, in noun and verb naming, in auditory and written language comprehension tasks and in different executive functions tests.

As stated in the Introduction, in persons with chronic severe aphasia, language skills might be dramatically impaired even years after the onset of the disease. This situation often impacts also on the person's ability to rely on functional communication. That is, the ability to effectively communicate his/her own needs in social contexts making use of compensatory strategies which allow to bypass the person's verbal limitations (Bambini et al., 2017; Lasker et al., 2007; Light & McNaughton, 2014). Indeed, all individuals can express their communicative intentions not only through language, but also through extralinguistic means such as hand gestures, body movements or facial expressions which are intentionally expressed to convey a message. The impact of inadequate strategic competence prevents severe aphasic people to maintain successful social relations and to pursue life goals (Agostoni et al., 2021). Consequently, in addition to the assessment of formal aspects of language (phonological, lexical, and grammatical domains), in persons with severe aphasia, the adjunct of a functional communication scale is particularly relevant to test their communicative abilities.

In the present study, together with standardized language tests, we administered the Communication Activities of Daily Living scale (CADL 2) (Pigliautile et al., 2019) which, among the different communication abilities assessment tools, is considered a valid ecological battery for functional communication assessment (Rad, 2014). The CADL 2 assesses a person's communication abilities in activities of daily life by asking him/her to simulate communication acts in hypothetical natural environments (e.g., going to the doctor, making a phone call, asking for directions). It has been widely employed in the assessment of everyday language abilities in persons with aphasia (Marshall et al., 2015; Rofes et al., 2015) and in the evaluation of intensive language rehabilitation programs (Persad, 2013). Interestingly, our results clearly showed that, while, before the training, all patients obtained very low percentage scores in the CADL-2, after two weeks of treatment, all of them reached an average percentage score but only when the training was combined with anodal tDCS. Thus, although the training was effective, the greater improvement obtained in the anodal condition was reflected in a positive change in the

CADL-2 only in this condition. Similar results, although not for all patients, were obtained in the tests of attention, spatial memory, and planning skills.

As already mentioned, in recent years, there has been increasing interest in understanding the role of executive processes (e.g., cognitive control, attention, working memory) in the recovery of post-stroke language deficits (Manenti et al., 2015; Pestalozzi et al., 2018). The cerebral regions involved in executive function processing have been shown to be recruited in language tasks in post-stroke aphasia and in healthy subjects (Brownsett et al., 2014). Researchers have also found that executive regions play a major role in recovery from aphasia (Geranmayeh et al., 2017). Indeed, to enact goal-directed behavior and to respond to novel and challenging tasks of everyday life, people should make use of different cognitive components, such as cognitive flexibility, working memory and attention which rely on executive functions processing. Executive functions have been linked to pragmatic abilities and to social behavior (Barkley, 2001) as they are involved in planning, monitoring, and inhibiting the discourse and in social exchanges. Moreover, intact executive functions system seems to be crucial to adaptive, motivated, and effective communication (Champagne-Lavau & Stip, 2010; Martin & McDonald, 2003). Impaired executive functions processing has been described in aphasic stroke patients and it has been shown to have a negative impact on rehabilitation outcomes (el Hachioui et al., 2014; Leśniak et al., 2008; Lipskaya-Velikovsky et al., 2018; Murray, 2012; Schumacher et al., 2019), functional communication (Olsson et al., 2019), and quality of life (Nicholas et al., 2017). However, in most of these studies, the relationship between executive control and functional communication has been investigated only by assessing the aphasic performance through neuropsychological tests, including measures of functional communication, executive functional ability, and language impairment (Baldo et al., 2005; Martin & Allen, 2008; Olsson et al., 2019, 2020). Based on these findings, it appears that higher levels of executive functioning are linked to better functional communication (Fridriksson et al., 2006) and conversational skills (Frankel et al., 2007) and greater cognitive flexibility has been significantly correlated to better strategy use in functional communication tasks (Purdy & Koch, 2006). Indeed, in Olsson and colleagues (2019, 2020) studies, most of the aphasic patients (79%) presented with executive functions deficits with the nonverbal participants more severely affected than the verbal group. Few recent studies have directly investigated if spared executive control is an

important predictor of treatment gains. In Simic et al. study (2019), ten patients with mild to severe aphasia were treated three times a week for five weeks with a phonological naming therapy. Difference scores in naming accuracy of treated and untreated words served as the primary outcome measures. Results showed that individuals with better executive functions abilities showed better maintenance of treated words at four and eight- weeks follow-ups.

As far as we know, to date, only one study has emphasized the importance of strengthening executive control through prefrontal tDCS to facilitate lexical retrieval and verbal fluency in aphasia (Pestalozzi et al., 2018). However, until now, no studies have investigated the impact of executive function training combined with tDCS on functional communication.

In our study, after the training, all patients improved in their functional communication skills and in several language and executive functions tasks, indicating an improvement in executive control that enhanced functional communication. Interestingly, as also noted in previous works (see Marangolo, 2020 for a review), these generalization effects on untreated tasks were present only after anodal stimulation. Indeed, the sham condition impacted only on the cognitive treatments as such. These results might be ascribed to the severity and chronicity of the functional communication profile observed, at baseline, in all patients. Indeed, since the treatment lasted only ten days, the hypothesis might be advanced that the executive function training alone was insufficient to improve functional communication. On the contrary, interestingly, the same number of training sessions combined with anodal tDCS over the same period exerted beneficial effects on the treated functions and generalized to functional communication and to the language domain. Thus, similar to previous results (see Marangolo, 2020 for a review), combining tDCS with cognitive training boosted cognitive recovery overcoming the difficulties caused by the severity of the deficit. These findings are, thus, very promising, as ten days of tDCS produced generalization effects over untreated functions (i.e., functional communication and language) which lasted up to one month which were not obtained in the absence of stimulation.

It is well known that executive functions are dependent on the prefrontal lobes which are strongly interconnected with other cortical areas and subcortical structures

(Constantinidou et al., 2012; Suchy, 2009) among which the frontal areas. In our study, we choose to stimulate the right DLPFC due to its role in selective attention, spatial working memory and planning abilities. Indeed, most of the recent tDCS literature have found that anodal tDCS over the right DLPFC enhances these skills (Giglia et al., 2014; Harty et al., 2014; Jeon & Han, 2012; Trumbo et al., 2016; Wu et al., 2014). Moreover, since all of our patients had extensive damage to the left language areas, we reasoned that stimulation of the right DLPFC would also have positive effects on language tasks. Indeed, even if the exact underlying tDCS mechanisms in our study remain largely speculative, the hypothesis might be advanced that, due to the strong interconnections between the prefrontal and the frontal regions (Brownsett et al., 2014; Constantinidou et al., 2012; Geranmayeh et al., 2017; Suchy, 2009), anodal tDCS over the right DLPFC has enhanced activation on the right frontal cortex which, in turn, serves as a supportive area for the observed recovery. Indeed, to date, several neuroimaging studies have already shown functional connectivity changes on cortical activity within the lesioned left hemisphere (Darkow et al., 2017; Hartwigsen & Saur, 2019; Marangolo et al., 2016) and in the contralateral right homologues (Hamilton et al., 2011; Turkeltaub, 2015; Zheng et al., 2016) due to tDCS treatment.

## 4.3.5 Conclusion

We are aware that our study has some limitations. The major ones are the small sample size and the lack of longitudinal follow-ups and of neuroimaging recordings. However, considering these limitations, we believe that our study highlights several important aspects to be considered when making treatment decisions for people with severe aphasia. First of all, it points to the possibility of training cognitive functions other than language. Indeed, from a connectionist perspective which considers the language system as part of a network largely distributed across the brain, this allows clinicians to plan different cognitive treatments which, in turn, facilitate aphasia recovery. It also emphasizes the need to assess functional communication skills, the recovery of which, even in the most severely affected patients, will allow the patient to socially interact in everyday life contexts. Finally, it confirms several previous reports which suggest that PWA in the chronic phase can still benefit from combining the treatment with tDCS.

In conclusion, although future studies are needed to deepen our understanding of the role of executive control on functional communication and the underlying neural mechanisms by which tDCS affects verbal performance, we believe that our results are promising since, for the first time, they suggest that executive function training can positively impact functional communication in severe chronic aphasia.

# **CONCLUSIONS**

My Ph.D. thesis was aimed at investigating new theories emerging, in these last decades, in the neuroscience of language considering their impact on planning new therapeutic approaches for aphasia recovery.

I believe that the results of the three experimental investigations reported in Chapter 4 are promising for different reasons. The first study which explored the effect of tDCS applied over the temporo-parietal region highlights its use even in persons with severe agraphia. Indeed, since the recovery of oral production in persons with aphasia might result in some cases resistant to treatment (e.g., in cases of concomitant severe apraxia of speech), the recovery of writing might result in a more realistic therapeutic goal. In recent years, due to the increasing use of the internet and mobile technologies (i.e., computers, tablets, smartphones), written production has become an increasingly important part of everyday life, providing opportunities for returning to employment, education, and greater involvement in community life (Thiel et al., 2015; Thiel & Conroy, 2022). Thus, the possibility to enhance writing skills through tDCS even in severe cases might represent an important challenge for the future.

The second experiment has its scientific relevance since it further confirms the role of the spinal cord for the recovery of some aspects of language characterized by sensorimotor properties, such as speech articulation even in severe chronic aphasia. It is well-known that the electrical conductivity of the spinal intervertebral disks is highest in magnitude than the electrical conduction along the spongy bones in the cortex. Thus, the application of electric current over the spinal cord should more easily reach the nervous fibers with respect to the application of the same amount of current over the scalp (Balmer et al., 2018). Taking these accounts into consideration, we might then suggest that tsDCS would result more effective for the recovery of the motor aspects of language compared to tDCS because an appropriate positioning of the anode over the spinal cord would induce current density which reaches homogeneously the brain network related to motor processing. This would remove the need to establish which part of the system should be targeted with tDCS. Given that action verbs and speech articulation both represent complex symptoms resistant to change in severe aphasia, the possibility of finding more effective therapeutic aids for the improvement of these abilities becomes relevant for a better prognosis.

In light of these findings, it would be also crucial for future research to investigate the therapeutic potential of tsDCS for the recovery of other cognitive abilities which rely on the motor domain, such as executive functions.

Indeed, the results of the last experiment suggest the possibility to plan for the next future potential new treatment programs for persons with severe aphasia which make use of executive trainings. As it is well known, in severe aphasia, verbal communication might result compromised in such a way to not even allow the individuals to adequately meet their communicative needs (e.g., social interaction and information transfer). Thus, a primary goal for these people is to let them recovery functional communication. The importance of gaining adequate strategic competence for successful functional communication suggests relying on the executive system in such severe cases.

In conclusion, these three Ph.D. years have been a decisive starting point for my future choices in my research career. I have learned a lot on how conceptualize experiments. I have developed several language and cognitive treatments for persons with aphasia. I have enriched my knowledge by discussing the results of my studies at national and international conferences with young and senior researchers. I have understood the importance to translate science into clinical practice considering to further pursue my research in this direction. What I have learned above all is to interface myself with human suffering. In particular, I have realized the drama of living with persons with aphasia, whose lives, families, work and social balance is forever changed due to cerebral damage. For this reason, for my next future, I feel the strong desire to carry out the "mission" to welcome these patients and encourage them to take part to treatments that could not only alleviate their symptoms but also give them moments of light-heartedness.

## REFERENCES

Ackermann, H., Mathiak, K., & Riecker, A. (2007). The contribution of the cerebellumto speech production and speech perception: clinical and functional imagingdata. Cerebellum(London, England), 6(3), 202–213.https://doi.org/10.1080/14734220701266742

Agostoni, G., Bambini, V., Bechi, M., Buonocore, M., Spangaro, M., Repaci, F., Cocchi, F., Bianchi, L., Guglielmino, C., Sapienza, J., Cavallaro, R., & Bosia, M. (2021). Communicative-pragmatic abilities mediate the relationship between cognition and daily functioning in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychology*, *35*(1), 42–56. https://doi.org/10.1037/neu0000664

Alexander, A. L., Lee, J. E., Lazar, M., & Field, A. S. (2007). Diffusion Tensor Imaging of the Brain. *Neurotherapeutics*(4), 316-329.

Alonzo, A., & Charvet, L. (2016). Home-based tDCS: design, feasibility and safety considerations. In *Transcranial direct current stimulation in neuropsychiatric disorders* (pp. 351-361). Springer, Cham.

Angelelli, P., Marinelli, C., Putzolu, A., Notarnicola, A., Iaia, M., & Burani, C. (2018). Learning to Spell in a Language with Transparent Orthography: Distributional Properties of Orthography and Whole-Word Lexical Processing. *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, *71*, 17470218.2016.1. https://doi.org/10.1080/17470218.2016.1275715

Antal, A., Boros, K., Poreisz, C., Chaieb, L., Terney, D., & Paulus, W. (2008). Comparatively weak after-effects of transcranial alternating current stimulation (tACS) on cortical excitability in humans. *Brain stimulation*, *1*(2), 97–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2007.10.001

Antal, A., & Paulus, W. (2013). Transcranial alternating current stimulation(tACS). Frontiersinhumanneuroscience, 7,317.https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00317

Ardila, A., Rosselli, M., & Ostrosky-Solis, F. (1996). Agraphia in the Spanish language. *Aphasiology*, *10*(7), 723–739. https://doi.org/10.1080/02687039608248446 Ardolino, G., Bossi, B., Barbieri, S., & Priori, A. (2005). Non-synaptic mechanisms underlie the after-effects of cathodal transcutaneous direct current stimulation of the human brain. *The Journal of physiology*, *568*(Pt 2), 653–663. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2005.088310

Au, J., Katz, B., Buschkuehl, M., Bunarjo, K., Senger, T., Zabel, C., Jaeggi, S., & Jonides,
J. (2016). Enhancing working memory training with transcranial direct currentstimulation. *J. Cogn. Neurosci*, 28, 1419–1432. https://doi.org/.org/10.1162/jocna00979

Badre, D., & Wagner, A. D. (2004). Selection, integration, and conflict monitoring; assessing the nature and generality of prefrontal cognitive control mechanisms. *Neuron*, *41*(3), 473–487. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0896-6273(03)00851-1

Bailey, D., Blomgren, M., Delong, C., Berggren, K., & Wambaugh, J. (2017). Quantification and Systematic Characterization of Stuttering-Like Disfluencies in Acquired Apraxia of Speech. *American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, *26*(2S), 641–648. https://doi.org/10.1044/2017 ajslp-16-0108

Baker, E., Croot, K., Mcleod, S., & Paul, R. (2001). Psycholinguistic Models of Speech Development and Their Application to Clinical Practice. *J. Speech, Lang. Hear. Res*, *44*, 685–702. https://doi.org/10.1044/1092-4388(2001/055

Baker, J., Rorden, C., & Fridriksson, J. (2010). Using Transcranial Direct-Current Stimulation to Treat Stroke Patients With Aphasia. *Stroke*, *41*(6), 1229–1236. https://doi.org/10.1161/strokeaha.109.576785

Baldo, J. V., Dronkers, N. F., Wilkins, D., Ludy, C., Raskin, P., & Kim, J. (2005). Is problem solving dependent on language?. *Brain and language*, 92(3), 240–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2004.06.103

Balmer, T. W., Vesztergom, S., Broekmann, P., Stahel, A., & Büchler, P. (2018). Characterization of the electrical conductivity of bone and its correlation to osseous structure. *Scientific reports*, 8(1), 8601. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-26836-0 Balzer, C., Berger, J. M., Caprez, G., Gonser, A., Gutbrod, K., & Keller, M. (2011). Materialien und Normwerte fuer die neuropsychologische Diagnostik (MNND). Rheinfelden: Verlag Normdaten.

Bambini, V., Arcara, G., Aiachini, B., Cattani, B., Dichiarante, M. L., Moro, A., ... & Pistarini, C. (2017). Assessing functional communication: validation of the Italian versions of the Communication Outcome after Stroke (COAST) scales for speakers and caregivers. *Aphasiology*, *31*(3), 332-358.

Barker, A. T., Jalinous, R., & Freeston, I. L. (1985). Non-invasive magnetic stimulation of human motor cortex. *Lancet (London, England)*, *1*(8437), 1106–1107. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(85)92413-4

Barkley R. A. (2001). The executive functions and self-regulation: an evolutionary neuropsychological perspective. *Neuropsychology review*, *11*(1), 1–29. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1009085417776

Basilakos, A., Rorden, C., Bonilha, L., Moser, D., & Fridriksson, J. (2015). Patterns of Poststroke Brain Damage That Predict Speech Production Errors in Apraxia of Speech and Aphasia Dissociate. *Stroke*, 46(6), 1561–1566. https://doi.org/10.1161/strokeaha.115.009211

Basso, A. (2003). Aphasia and its therapy. Oxford University Press.

Basso, A., Capitani, E., & Laiacona, M. (1987). Raven's coloured progressive matrices: normative values on 305 adult normal controls. *Functional neurology*, *2*(2), 189–194.

Basso, A., Forbes, M., & Boller, F. (2013). *Neurological Rehabilitation: Chapter 27. Rehabilitation of aphasia* (Vol. 110). Elsevier Inc. Chapters. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-444-52901-5.00027-7

Batsikadze, G., Paulus, W., Kuo, M. F., & Nitsche, M. A. (2013). Effect of serotonin on paired associative stimulation-induced plasticity in the human motor cortex. *Neuropsychopharmacology : official publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, *38*(11), 2260–2267. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2013.127

Baxter, D., & Warrington, E. (1985). Category specific phonological dysgraphia. *Neuropsychologia*, 23, 653–666. https://doi.org/10.1016/0028-3932(85)90066-1.-DOI-PubMed

Beauvois, M.-F., & Dérouesené, J. (1981). LEXICAL OR ORTHOGRAPHIC AGRAPHIA. *Brain*, *104*(1), 21–49. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/104.1.21

Beckmann, C. F., De Luca, M., Devlin, J. T., & Smith, S. M. (2005). Investigations into resting-state connectivity using independent component analysis. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 360(1457), 1001-1013. doi:10.1098/rstb.2005.1634.

Beeson, P. (2004). Remediation of Written Language. *Topics in Stroke Rehabilitation*, 11(1), 37–48. https://doi.org/10.1310/d4am-xy9y-qdft-yur0

Beeson, P., Rewega, M., Vail, S., & Rapcsak, S. (2000). Problem-solving approach to agraphia treatment: Interactive use of lexical and sublexical spelling routes. *Aphasiology*, *14*(5–6), 551–565. https://doi.org/10.1080/026870300401315

Beeson, P., Hirsch, F., & Rewega, M. (2002). Successful single word writing treatment: Experimental analyses of four cases. *Aphasiology*, *16*, 473–491. https://doi.org/10.1080/02687030244000167.-DOI

Beeson, P., Rapcsak, S., Plante, E., Chargualaf, J., Chung, A., Johnson, S., & Trouard, T. (2003). The neural substrates of writing: A functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Aphasiology*, *17*(6–7), 647–665. https://doi.org/10.1080/02687030344000067

Beeson, P., Rising, K., Kim, E., & Rapcsak, S. (2010). A treatment sequence for phonological alexia/agraphia. *J. Speech Lang Hear Res*, 53, 450–468. https://doi.org/10.1044/1092-4388(2009/08-0229).-DOI-PMC-PubMed

Béjot, Y., Bailly, H., Durier, J., & Giroud, M. (2016). Epidemiology of stroke in Europe and trends for the 21st century. *La Presse Médicale*, *45*(12), e391-e398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lpm.2016.10.003

Belin, P., Van Eeckhout, P., Zilbovicius, M., Remy, P., François, C., Guillaume, S., Chain, F., Rancurel, G., & Samson, Y. (1996). Recovery from nonfluent aphasia after

melodic intonation therapy: a PET study. *Neurology*, 47(6), 1504–1511. https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.47.6.1504

Bigozzi, L., Tarchi, C., & Pinto, G. (2016). Spelling across Tasks and Levels of Language in a Transparent Orthography. *PLoS ONE*, *11*, e0163033. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0163033.-DOI-PMC-PubMed

Bikson, M., Grossman, P., Thomas, C., Zannou, A. L., Jiang, J., Adnan, T., Mourdoukoutas, A. P., Kronberg, G., Truong, D., Boggio, P., Brunoni, A. R., Charvet, L., Fregni, F., Fritsch, B., Gillick, B., Hamilton, R. H., Hampstead, B. M., Jankord, R., Kirton, A., Knotkova, H., ... Woods, A. J. (2016). Safety of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation: Evidence Based Update 2016. *Brain stimulation*, *9*(5), 641–661. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2016.06.004

Binder, J. R., Desai, R. H., Graves, W. W., & Conant, L. L. (2009). Where Is the Semantic System? A Critical Review and Meta-Analysis of 120 Functional Neuroimaging Studies. Cerebral Cortex, 19(12), 2767-2796. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhp055.

BINDMAN, L. J., LIPPOLD, O. C., & REDFEARN, J. W. (1964). THE ACTION OF BRIEF POLARIZING CURRENTS ON THE CEREBRAL CORTEX OF THE RAT (1) DURING CURRENT FLOW AND (2) IN THE PRODUCTION OF LONG-LASTING AFTER-EFFECTS. *The Journal of physiology*, *172*(3), 369–382. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1964.sp007425

Blair, C. (2017). Educating executive function. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Cognitive Science, 8(e1403), 1-6. doi:10.1002/wcs.1403

Blumstein, S. E., & Amso, D. (2013). Dynamic Functional Organization of Language: Insights From Functional Neuroimaging. *Perspectives on psychological science : a journal of the Association for Psychological Science*, 8(1), 44–48. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691612469021

Bocci, T., Barloscio, D., Vergari, M., Di Rollo, A., Rossi, S., Priori, A., & Sartucci, F. (2015a). Spinal Direct Current Stimulation Modulates Short Intracortical Inhibition. *Neuromodulation : journal of the International Neuromodulation Society*, *18*(8), 686–693. https://doi.org/10.1111/ner.12298

Bocci, T., Marceglia, S., Vergari, M., Cognetto, V., Cogiamanian, F., Sartucci, F., & Priori, A. (2015b). Transcutaneous spinal direct current stimulation modulates human corticospinal system excitability. *Journal of neurophysiology*, *114*(1), 440–446. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00490.2014

Bocci, T., Caleo, M., Vannini, B., Vergari, M., Cogiamanian, F., Rossi, S., Priori, A., & Sartucci, F. (2015c). An unexpected target of spinal direct current stimulation: Interhemispheric connectivity in humans. *Journal of neuroscience methods*, *254*, 18–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2015.07.012

Boggio, P. S., Alonso-Alonso, M., Mansur, C. G., Rigonatti, S. P., Schlaug, G., Pascual-Leone, A., & Fregni, F. (2006). Hand function improvement with low-frequency repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation of the unaffected hemisphere in a severe case of stroke. *American journal of physical medicine* & *rehabilitation*, *85*(11), 927–930. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.phm.0000242635.88129.38

Boros, K., Poreisz, C., Münchau, A., Paulus, W., & Nitsche, M. A. (2008). Premotor transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) affects primary motor excitability in humans. *The European journal of neuroscience*, *27*(5), 1292–1300. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06090.x

Brady, M. C., Kelly, H., Godwin, J., Enderby, P., & Campbell, P. (2016). Speech and language therapy for aphasia following stroke. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, *2016*(6), CD000425. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD000425.pub4

Brandt, J., & Benedict, R. (2001). Verbal Learning Test-Revised Professional Manual. Lutz, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc.

Branscheidt, M., Hoppe, J., Zwitserlood, P., & Liuzzi, G. (2018). tDCS over the motor cortex improves lexical retrieval of action words in poststroke aphasia. *Journal of neurophysiology*, *119*(2), 621–630. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00285.2017

Breining, B. L., & Sebastian, R. (2020). Neuromodulation in post-stroke aphasia treatment. *Current physical medicine and rehabilitation reports*, 8(2), 44–56. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40141-020-00257-5 Breitenstein, C., Jansen, A., Deppe, M., Foerster, A.-F., Sommer, J., Wolbers, T., & Knecht, S. (2005). Hippocampus activity differentiates good from poor learners of a novel lexicon. *NeuroImage*, *25*(3), 958–968. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.12.019

Bressler, S. L., & Menon, V. (2010). Large-scale brain networks in cognition: emerging methods and principles. *Trends in Cognitive Science*(14), 277-290. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2010.04.004

Brott, T., Adams Jr, H. P., Olinger, C. P., Marler J, R., Barsan, W. G., Biller, J., . Hertzberg, V. (1989). Measurements of acute cerebral infarction: a clinical examination scale. *Stroke*, 20(7), 864-870. doi:10.1161/01.str.20.7.864

Brownsett, S. L., Warren, J. E., Geranmayeh, F., Woodhead, Z., Leech, R., & Wise, R. J. (2014). Cognitive control and its impact on recovery from aphasic stroke. *Brain : a journal of neurology*, *137*(Pt 1), 242–254. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awt289

Brunoni, A. R., Nitsche, M. A., Bolognini, N., Bikson, M., Wagner, T., Merabet, L., Edwards, D. J., Valero-Cabre, A., Rotenberg, A., Pascual-Leone, A., Ferrucci, R., Priori, A., Boggio, P. S., & Fregni, F. (2012). Clinical research with transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS): challenges and future directions. *Brain stimulation*, *5*(3), 175–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2011.03.002

Brunoni, A. R., Ferrucci, R., Bortolomasi, M., Scelzo, E., Boggio, P. S., Fregni, F., Dell'Osso, B., Giacopuzzi, M., Altamura, A. C., & Priori, A. (2013). Interactions between transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) and pharmacological interventions in the Major Depressive Episode: findings from a naturalistic study. *European psychiatry : the journal of the Association of European Psychiatrists*, *28*(6), 356–361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpsy.2012.09.001

Brunoni, A. R., & Vanderhasselt, M. A. (2014). Working memory improvement with non-invasive brain stimulation of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Brain and cognition*, *86*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2014.01.008

Bub, D., & Kertesz, A. (1982). Deep agraphia. *Brain and Language*, 17(1), 146–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/0093-934x(82)90011-6 Buccino, G., Lui, F., Canessa, N., Patteri, I., Lagravinese, G., Benuzzi, F., ... & Rizzolatti, G. (2004). Neural circuits involved in the recognition of actions performed by nonconspecifics: An fMRI study. *Journal of cognitive neuroscience*, 16(1), 114-126.

Buccino, G., & Mezzadri, M. (2013). Embodiment theory and the process of language learning and teaching. ENTHYMEMA(8), 5-20. doi:10.13130/2037-2426/3047

Buchsbaum, B. R., Baldo, J., Okada, K., Berman, K. F., Dronkers, N., D'Esposito, M., & Hickok, G. (2011). Conduction aphasia, sensory-motor integration, and phonological short-term memory–an aggregate analysis of lesion and fMRI data. *Brain and language*, *119*(3), 119-128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2010.12.001

Burgess, P., & Shallice, T. (1997). The Hayling and Brixton Tests. Bury St Edmunds: Thames Valley Test Co. Ltd.

Cahana-Amitay, D., & Albert, M. L. (2015). Neuroscience of aphasia recovery: the concept of neural multifunctionality. *Current neurology and neuroscience reports*, *15*(7), 41. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11910-015-0568-7

Camia, M., Benassi, E., Giovagnoli, S., & Scorza, M. (2022). Specific learning disorders in young adults: Investigating pragmatic abilities and their relationship with theory of mind, executive functions and quality of life. *Research in developmental disabilities*, *126*, 104253. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2022.104253

Campana, S., Caltagirone, C., & Marangolo, P. (2015). Combining Voxel-based Lesionsymptom Mapping (VLSM) With A-tDCS Language Treatment: Predicting Outcome of Recovery in Nonfluent Chronic Aphasia. *Brain stimulation*, 8(4), 769–776. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2015.01.413

Cancer, A., & Antonietti, A. (2018). tDCS Modulatory Effect on Reading Processes: A Review of Studies on Typical Readers and Individuals With Dyslexia. *Front Behav. Neurosci*, *12*, 162. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00162

Caravolas, M. (2004). Spelling development in alphabetic writing systems: A crosslinguistic perspective. *Eur. Psychol*, *9*, 3–14. https://doi.org/10.1027/1016-9040.9.1.3.-DOI Cardell, E., & Chenery, H. (1999). A cognitive neuropsychological approach to the assessment and remediation of acquired dysgraphia. *Lang. Test*, *16*, 353–388. https://doi.org/10.1177/026553229901600306.-DOI

Carlomagno, S., & Luzzatti, C. (1997). La Riabilitazione dei Disturbi di Scrittura Nei Pazienti Afasici (Masson, A c. Di).

Caruana, F., & Borghi, A. M. (2013). Embodied Cognition: a new psychology. Giornale Italiano di Psicologia(1), 23-48. doi:10.1421/73973

Catani, M., & Ffytche, D. H. (2005). The rises and falls of disconnection syndromes. *Brain*, *128*(10), 2224-2239. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awh622

Catani, M., Dell'acqua, F., Bizzi, A., Forkel, S. J., Williams, S. C., Simmons, A., Murphy, D. G., & Thiebaut de Schotten, M. (2012). Beyond cortical localization in clinicoanatomical correlation. *Cortex; a journal devoted to the study of the nervous system and behavior*, *48*(10), 1262–1287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2012.07.001

Champagne-Lavau, M., & Stip, E. (2010). Pragmatic and executive dysfunction in schizophrenia. *Journal of Neurolinguistics*, 23(3), 285-296.

Chang, E. F., Raygor, K. P., & Berger, M. S. (2015). Contemporary model of Language Organization: An overview for neurosurgeons. Journal of Neurosurgery, 122(2),250–261. https://doi.org/10.3171/2014.10.jns132647

Chen, T., Wang, H., Wang, X., Zhu, C., Zhang, L., Wang, K., & Yu, F. (2021). Transcranial direct current stimulation of the right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex improves response inhibition. *International journal of psychophysiology : official journal of the International Organization of Psychophysiology*, *162*, 34–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2021.01.014

Cipollari, S., Veniero, D., Razzano, C., Caltagirone, C., Koch, G., & Marangolo, P. (2015). Combining TMS-EEG with transcranial direct current stimulation language treatment in aphasia. *Expert review of neurotherapeutics*, *15*(7), 833–845. https://doi.org/10.1586/14737175.2015.1049998

Ciurli, P., Marangolo, P., & Basso, A. (1996). Esame del linguaggio-II. OS.

Clark, D., & Wagner, A. (2003). Assembling and encoding word representations: FMRI subsequent memory effects implicate a role for phonological control. *Neuropsychologia*, *41*, 304–317. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0028-3932(02)00163-X.-DOI-PubMed

Coady, J., & Evans, J. (2008). Uses and interpretations of non-word repetition tasks in children with and without specific language impairments (SLI). *International Journal of Language & amp; Communication Disorders, 43*(1), 1–40. https://doi.org/10.1080/13682820601116485

Cogiamanian, F., Vergari, M., Pulecchi, F., Marceglia, S., & Priori, A. (2008). Effect of spinal transcutaneous direct current stimulation on somatosensory evoked potentials in humans. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *119*(11), 2636–2640. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2008.07.249

Cogiamanian, F., Vergari, M., Schiaffi, E., Marceglia, S., Ardolino, G., Barbieri, S., & Priori, A. (2011). Transcutaneous spinal cord direct current stimulation inhibits the lower limb nociceptive flexion reflex in human beings. *Pain*, *152*(2), 370–375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2010.10.041

Collin, C., & Wade, D. (1990). Assessing motor impairment after stroke: a pilot reliability study. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 53(7), 576-579. doi:10.1136/jnnp.53.7.576

Conners, C. K. (2000). Conners' Continuous Performance Test (CPT-2) computer program for windows, technical guide, and software manual. Toronto, ON: Multi Health Systems Inc.

Constantinidou, F., Wertheimer, J. C., Tsanadis, J., Evans, C., & Paul, D. R. (2012). Assessment of executive functioning in brain injury: collaboration between speechlanguage pathology and neuropsychology for an integrative neuropsychological perspective. *Brain injury*, *26*(13-14), 1549–1563. https://doi.org/10.3109/02699052.2012.698786

Coslett, H., Turkeltaub, P., & Language, N. O. (2000). Acquired Dyslexia. Seminars in Neurology, 20(04), 419–426. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2000-13174

Costanzo, F., Menghini, D., Caltagirone, C., Oliveri, M., & Vicari, S. (2012). Highfrequency rTMS over the left parietal lobule increases non-word reading accuracy.Neuropsychologia,50(11),2645–2651.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2012.07.017

Costanzo, F., Menghini, D., Caltagirone, C., Oliveri, M., & Vicari, S. (2013). How to improve reading skills in dyslexics: The effect of high frequency rTMS. *Neuropsychologia*, 51(14), 2953–2959. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2013.10.018

Costanzo, F., Varuzza, C., Rossi, S., Sdoia, S., Varvara, P., Oliveri, M., Koch, G., Vicari, S., & Menghini, D. (2016). Reading changes in children and adolescents with dyslexia after transcranial direct current stimulation. *NeuroReport*, *27*(5), 295–300. https://doi.org/10.1097/wnr.000000000000536

Costanzo, F., Rossi, S., Varuzza, C., Varvara, P., Vicari, S., & Menghini, D. (2019). Long-lasting improvement following tDCS treatment combined with a training for reading in children and adolescents with dyslexia. *Neuropsychologia*, *130*, 38–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2018.03.016

Crinion, J., & Price, C. (2005). Right anterior superior temporal activation predicts auditory sentence comprehension following aphasic stroke. *Brain*, *128*(12), 2858–2871. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awh659

Cristofori, I., Cohen-Zimerman, S., & Grafman, J. (2019). Executive functions. *Handbook of clinical neurology*, *163*, 197–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-804281-6.00011-2

Crosson B. (2013). Thalamic mechanisms in language: a reconsideration based on recent findings and concepts. *Brain and language*, *126*(1), 73–88.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2012.06.011

da Silva, E. R., Rodrigues Menezes, I. R., & Brys, I. (2022). Effects of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation on Memory of Elderly People with Mild Cognitive Impairment or Alzheimer's Disease: A Systematic Review. *Journal of central nervous system disease*, 14, 11795735221106887. https://doi.org/10.1177/11795735221106887 Darkow, R., Martin, A., Würtz, A., Flöel, A., & Meinzer, M. (2017). Transcranial direct current stimulation effects on neural processing in post-stroke aphasia. *Human brain mapping*, *38*(3), 1518–1531. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.23469

Darley, F., Aronson, A., Brown; M, J., Mcneil, P., Doyle, J., & Wambaugh. (1975). Apraxia of Speech. *Australian Journal of Human Communication Disorders*, *3*(1), 38–46. https://doi.org/10.3109/asl2.1975.3.issue-1.05

Darrigrand, B., Dutheil, S., Michelet, V., Rereau, S., Rousseaux, M., & Mazaux, J. M. (2011). Communication impairment and activity limitation in stroke patients with severe aphasia. *Disability* and rehabilitation, 33(13-14), 1169–1178. https://doi.org/10.3109/09638288.2010.524271

Dayan, E., Censor, N., Buch, E. R., Sandrini, M., & Cohen, L. G. (2013). Noninvasive brain stimulation: from physiology to network dynamics and back. *Nature neuroscience*, *16*(7), 838–844. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3422

De Aguiar, D., Bastiaanse, V., Capasso, R., Gandolfi, R., Smania, M., Rossi, N., Miceli, G., & G. (2015). Can tDCS enhance item-specific effects and generalization after linguistically motivated aphasia therapy for verbs? *Front. Behav. Neurosci*, *9*, 190. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00190.-DOI-PMC-PubMed

De Benedictis, A., & Duffau, H. (2011). Brain hodotopy: from esoteric concept to practical surgical applications. *Neurosurgery*, *68*(6), 1709–1723. https://doi.org/10.1227/NEU.0b013e3182124690

de Oliveira, P., de Araújo, T., Machado, D., Rodrigues, A. C., Bikson, M., Andrade, S. M., Okano, A. H., Simplicio, H., Pegado, R., & Morya, E. (2022). Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation on Parkinson's Disease: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Frontiers in neurology*, *12*, 794784. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2021.794784

De Renzi, E., & Vignolo, L. A. (1962). The token test: A sensitive test to detect receptive disturbances in aphasics. *Brain : a journal of neurology*, *85*, 665–678. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/85.4.665

De Renzi, E., Pieczuro, A., & Vignolo, L. (1966). Oral Apraxia and Aphasia. *Cortex*, 2(1), 50–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0010-9452(66)80028-x
De Renzi, E., & Faglioni, P. (1978). Normative Data and Screening Power of a Shortened Version of the Token Test. *Cortex*, *14*(1), 41–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0010-9452(78)80006-9

De Tommaso, B., Piedimonte, A., Caglio, M., D'agata, F., Campagnoli, M., Orsi, L., Raimondo, S., Vighetti, S., Mortara, P., Massazza, G., & Pinessi, L. (2017). The rehabilitative effects on written language of a combined language and parietal dual-tDCS treatment in a stroke case. *Neuropsychological Rehabilitation*, *27*(6), 904–918. https://doi.org/10.1080/09602011.2015.1103759

Deans, J. K., Powell, A. D., & Jefferys, J. G. (2007). Sensitivity of coherent oscillations in rat hippocampus to AC electric fields. *The Journal of physiology*, *583*(Pt 2), 555–565. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2007.137711

Dedoncker, J., Brunoni, A. R., Baeken, C., & Vanderhasselt, M. A. (2016). A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of the Effects of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation (tDCS) Over the Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex in Healthy and Neuropsychiatric Samples: Influence of Stimulation Parameters. *Brain stimulation*, 9(4), 501–517. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2016.04.006

Dejerine, J. (1901). Anatomie des centres nerveux [Anatomy of the nervous centers]. *Paris: Reuff.* 

Deldar, Z., Gevers-Montoro, C., Khatibi, A., & Ghazi-Saidi, L. (2020). The interaction between language and working memory: a systematic review of fMRI studies over the past two decades. *Neuroscience*, 8(1), 1-32. doi:10.3934/Neuroscience.2021001

Delis, D. C., Kaplan, E., & Kramer, J. H. (2001). Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System: Examiners Manual. San Antonio, TX: Psychological Corporation.

Dell, G., Chang, F., & Griffin, Z. (1999). Connectionist Models of Language Production: Lexical Access and Grammatical Encoding. *Cognitive Science*, *23*(4), 517–542. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15516709cog2304\_6

DeMarco, A. T., Wilson, S., Rising, K., Rapcsak, S., & Beeson, P. (2017). Neural substrates of sublexical processing for spelling. *Brain Lang*, *164*, 118–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2016.10.001.-DOI-PMC-PubMed DeMarco, A. T., Dvorak, E., Lacey, E., Stoodley, C. J., & Turkeltaub, P. E. (2021). An Exploratory Study of Cerebellar Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation in Individuals With Chronic Stroke Aphasia. *Cognitive and behavioral neurology : official journal of the Society for Behavioral and Cognitive Neurology*, *34*(2), 96–106. https://doi.org/10.1097/WNN.00000000000270

Di Lazzaro, V., Profice, P., Ranieri, F., Capone, F., Dileone, M., Oliviero, A., & Pilato, F. (2012). I-wave origin and modulation. *Brain stimulation*, *5*(4), 512–525. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2011.07.008

Di Lazzaro, V., Ranieri, F., Profice, P., Pilato, F., Mazzone, P., Capone, F., Insola, A., & Oliviero, A. (2013). Transcranial direct current stimulation effects on the excitability of corticospinal axons of the human cerebral cortex. *Brain stimulation*, *6*(4), 641–643. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2012.09.006

Dick, A. S., Bernal, B., & Tremblay, P. (2014). The Language Connectome. *The Neuroscientist*, 20(5), 453–467. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858413513502

Dick, A. S., Garic, D. G., & Tremblay, P. (2019). The frontal aslant tract (FAT) and its role in speech, language and executive function. *Cortex*(111), 148-163. doi:10.1016/j.cortex.2018.10.015

Diestel, R. (2016). Graph Theory. Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag.

Dockery, C., Hueckel-Weng, R., Birbaumer, N., & Plewnia, C. (2009). Enhancement of planning ability by transcranial direct current stimulation. *J Neurosci*, *29*, 7271–7277. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0065-09.2009.-DOI-PMC-PubMed

Domanski, C. W. (2013). Mysterious"monsieur leborgne": The mystery of the famous patient in the history of Neuropsychology is explained. Journal of the History of the Neurosciences, 22(1), 47–52.

Dronkers, N. F., & Ludy, C. A. (1998). Brain lesion analysis in clinical research. In *Handbook of neurolinguistics* (pp. 173-187). Academic Press.

Dronkers, N., Ogar, J., Willock, S., & Wilkins, D. (2004). Confirming the role of the insula in coordinating complex but not simple articulatory movements. *Brain and Language*, *91*(1), 23–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2004.06.016

Dronkers, N. F., Plaisant, O., Iba-Zizen, M. T., & Cabanis, E. A. (2007). Paul Broca's historic cases: high resolution MR imaging of the brains of Leborgne and Lelong. *Brain*, 130(5), 1432-1441. doi:10.1093/brain/awm042

Dronkers, N. F., & Baldo, J. V. (2010). Language: Aphasia. In L. Squire, Encyclopedia of Neuroscience (p. 343-348). Academic Press. doi:10.1016/B978-008045046-9.01876-3

Dronkers, N. F., Ivanova, M. I., & Baldo, J. V. (2017). What Do Language Disorders Reveal about Brain-Language Relationships? From Classic Models to Network Approaches. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 23(9-10), 741-754. doi:10.1017/S1355617717001126

Duffy, J. (2005). Motor Speech Disorders: Clues to Neurologic Diagnosis. In *Parkinson's Disease and Movement Disorders* (pp. 35–53). Humana Press. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-59259-410-8\_2

Duncan, E. S., & Small, S. L. (2017). Imitation-based aphasia therapy increases narrative content: a case series. *Clinical rehabilitation*, *31*(11), 1500–1507. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269215517703765

Duncan, E. S., & Small, S. L. (2018). Changes in dynamic resting state network connectivity following aphasia therapy. *Brain imaging and behavior*, *12*(4), 1141–1149. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11682-017-9771-2

Dymond, A. M., Coger, R. W., & Serafetinides, E. A. (1975). Intracerebral current levels in man during electrosleep therapy. *Biological psychiatry*, *10*(1), 101–104.

Edgcumbe, D. R., Thoma, V., Rivolta, D., Nitsche, M. A., & Fu, C. (2019). Anodal transcranial direct current stimulation over the right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex enhances reflective judgment and decision-making. *Brain stimulation*, *12*(3), 652–658. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2018.12.003

El Hachioui, H., Visch-Brink, E. G., Lingsma, H. F., van de Sandt-Koenderman, M. W., Dippel, D. W., Koudstaal, P. J., & Middelkoop, H. A. (2014). Nonlinguistic cognitive impairment in poststroke aphasia: a prospective study. *Neurorehabilitation and neural repair*, *28*(3), 273–281. https://doi.org/10.1177/1545968313508467

Eling, P., & Whitaker, H. (2009). History of aphasia: from brain to language. In *Handbook of clinical neurology* (Vol. 95, pp. 571-582). Elsevier.

Ellis, A. W., & Young, A. W. (2000). *Human Cognitive Neuropsychology*. Psychology Press. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203727041

Engelter, S. T., Gostynski, M., Papa, S., Frei, M., Born, C., Ajdacic-Gross, V., ... & Lyrer, P. A. (2006). Epidemiology of aphasia attributable to first ischemic stroke: incidence, severity, fluency, etiology, and thrombolysis. *Stroke*, *37*(6), 1379-1384. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.STR.0000221815.64093.8c

Erickson, R. J., Goldinger, S. D., & LaPointe, L. L. (1996). Auditory vigilance in aphasic individuals: detecting nonlinguistic stimuli with full or divided attention. *Brain and cognition*, *30*(2), 244–253. https://doi.org/10.1006/brcg.1996.0016

Fama, M. E., & Turkeltaub, P. E. (2014, November). Treatment of poststroke aphasia: current practice and new directions. In *Seminars in neurology* (Vol. 34, No. 05, pp. 504-513). Thieme Medical Publishers. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0034-1396004

Fan, J., McClandiss, B. D., Sommer, T., Raz, A., & Posner, M. I. (2002). Testing the efficiency and independence of attentional networks. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 3, 340-347. doi:10.1162/089892902317361886

Fang, Y., Chen, X., Li, H., Lin, J., Huang, R., & Zheng, J. (2003). A study on additional early physiotherapy after stroke and factors affecting functional recovery. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 17(6), 608-617. doi:10.1191/0269215503cr655oa

Fanzago, F. (1983). XVII. Instituzioni Patologichi di,. *The American Journal of the Medical Sciences*, 17(33), 156–157. https://doi.org/10.1097/00000441-183517330-00017

Fassbender, C., Simoes-Franklin, C., Murphy, K., Hester, R., Meaney, J., Robertson, I. H., & Garavan, H. (2006). The role of a right fronto-parietal network in cognitive control: Common activations for "cues-to-attend" and response inhibition. *Journal of Psychophysiology*, *20*(4), 286–296. https://doi.org/10.1027/0269-8803.20.4.286

Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A. G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G\*Power 3.1: tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior research methods*, *41*(4), 1149–1160. https://doi.org/10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149

Fecteau, S., Pascual-Leone, A., Zald, D. H., Liguori, P., Théoret, H., Boggio, P. S., & Fregni, F. (2007). Activation of prefrontal cortex by transcranial direct current stimulation reduces appetite for risk during ambiguous decision making. *The Journal of neuroscience* : *the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 27(23), 6212–6218. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0314-07.2007

Feigin, V. L., Lawes, C. M., Bennett, D. A., Barker-Collo, S. L., & Parag, V. (2009).
Worldwide stroke incidence and early case fatality reported in 56 population-based studies: a systematic review. *The Lancet Neurology*, 8(4), 355-369.
https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70025-0

Fiocchi, S., Ravazzani, P., Priori, A., & Parazzini, M. (2016). Cerebellar and Spinal Direct Current Stimulation in Children: Computational Modeling of the Induced Electric Field. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, *10*, 522. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2016.00522

Fiori, V., Coccia, M., Marinelli, C. V., Vecchi, V., Bonifazi, S., Ceravolo, M. G., Provinciali, L., Tomaiuolo, F., & Marangolo, P. (2011). Transcranial direct current stimulation improves word retrieval in healthy and nonfluent aphasic subjects. *Journal of cognitive neuroscience*, *23*(9), 2309–2323. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn.2010.21579

Fiori, V., Cipollari, S., Di Paola, M., Razzano, C., Caltagirone, C., & Marangolo, P. (2013). tDCS stimulation segregates words in the brain: evidence from aphasia. *Frontiers in human neuroscience*, *7*, 269. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00269

Fiori, V., Nitsche, M., Iasevoli, L., Cucuzza, G., Caltagirone, C., & Marangolo, P. (2017). Differential effects of bihemispheric and unihemispheric transcranial direct current stimulation in young and elderly adults in verbal learning. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *321*, 170–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2016.12.044

Fiori, V., Nitsche, M. A., Cucuzza, G., Caltagirone, C., & Marangolo, P. (2019). High-Definition Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation Improves Verb Recovery in Aphasic
Patients Depending on Current Intensity. *Neuroscience*, 406, 159–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2019.03.010 Fleming, S. M., Huijgen, J., & Dolan, R. J. (2012). Prefrontal contributions to metacognition in perceptual decision making. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *32*(18), 6117–6125. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6489-11.2012

Flinker, A., Korzeniewska, A., Shestyuk, A., Franaszczuk, P., Dronkers, N., Knight, R., & Crone, N. (2015). Redefining the role of Broca's area in speech. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *112*(9), 2871–2875. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1414491112

Flöel, A., Rösser, N., Michka, O., Knecht, S., & Breitenstein, C. (2008). Noninvasive Brain Stimulation Improves Language Learning. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 20(8), 1415–1422. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn.2008.20098

Flöel, A., Meinzer, M., Kirstein, R., Nijhof, S., Deppe, M., Knecht, S., & Breitenstein, C.
(2011). Short-term anomia training and electrical brain stimulation. *Stroke*, 42(7), 2065–2067. https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.110.609032

Frankel, T., Penn, C., & Ormond-Brown, D. (2007). Executive dysfunction as an explanatory basis for conversation symptoms of aphasia: A pilot study. *Aphasiology*, *21*(6-8), 814-828.

Fregni, F., Boggio, P. S., Nitsche, M., Bermpohl, F., Antal, A., Feredoes, E., Marcolin, M. A., Rigonatti, S. P., Silva, M. T., Paulus, W., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2005). Anodal transcranial direct current stimulation of prefrontal cortex enhances working memory. *Experimental brain research*, *166*(1), 23–30. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-005-2334-6

Fregni, F., El-Hagrassy, M. M., Pacheco-Barrios, K., Carvalho, S., Leite, J., Simis, M., Brunelin, J., Nakamura-Palacios, E. M., Marangolo, P., Venkatasubramanian, G., San-Juan, D., Caumo, W., Bikson, M., Brunoni, A. R., & Neuromodulation Center Working Group (2021). Evidence-Based Guidelines and Secondary Meta-Analysis for the Use of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation in Neurological and Psychiatric Disorders. *The international journal of neuropsychopharmacology*, 24(4), 256-313. https://doi.org/10.1093/ijnp/pyaa051 Fridriksson, J., Nettles, C., Davis, M., Morrow, L., & Montgomery, A. (2006). Functional communication and executive function in aphasia. *Clinical linguistics & phonetics*, *20*(6), 401–410. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699200500075781

Fridriksson, J., Kjartansson, O., Morgan, P. S., Hjaltason, H., Magnusdottir, S., Bonilha,
L., & Rorden, C. (2010). Impaired speech repetition and left parietal lobe
damage. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *30*(33), 11057-11061.
https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1120-10.2010

Fridriksson, J., Richardson, J. D., Baker, J. M., & Rorden, C. (2011). Transcranial direct current stimulation improves naming reaction time in fluent aphasia: a double-blind, sham-controlled study. *Stroke*, *42*(3), 819–821. https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.110.600288

Fridriksson, J., den Ouden, D. B., Hillis, A. E., Hickok, G., Rorden, C., Basilakos, A., ...
& Bonilha, L. (2018a). Anatomy of aphasia revisited. *Brain*, 141(3), 848-862.
https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awx363

Fridriksson, J., Rorden, C., Elm, J., Sen, S., George, M. S., & Bonilha, L. (2018b). Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation vs Sham Stimulation to Treat Aphasia After Stroke: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA neurology*, 75(12), 1470–1476. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2018.2287

Fridriksson, J., Elm, J., Stark, B. C., Basilakos, A., Rorden, C., Sen, S., George, M. S., Gottfried, M., & Bonilha, L. (2018c). BDNF genotype and tDCS interaction in aphasia treatment. *Brain* stimulation, 11(6), 1276–1281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2018.08.009

Friederici, A. D. (2006). The neural basis of language development and its impairment. *Neuron*, 52(6), 941-952. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2006.12.002

Friederici, A. D. (2011). The Brain Basis of Language Processing: From Structure to Function. *Physiological Reviews*, 91, 1357-1392. doi:10.1152/physrev.00006.2011

Friederici, A. D., & Gierhan, S. M. (2013). The language network. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 23, 250-254. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2012.10.002

Friehs, M. A., & Frings, C. (2018). Pimping inhibition: Anodal tDCS enhances stopsignal reaction time. *Journal of experimental psychology. Human perception and performance*, 44(12), 1933–1945. https://doi.org/10.1037/xhp0000579

Fritsch, B., Reis, J., Martinowich, K., Schambra, H. M., Ji, Y., Cohen, L. G., & Lu, B. (2010). Direct current stimulation promotes BDNF-dependent synaptic plasticity: potential implications for motor learning. *Neuron*, *66*(2), 198–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2010.03.035

Fugl-Meyer, A. R., Jääskö, L., Leyman, I., Olsson, S., & Steglind, S. (1975). The poststroke hemiplegic patient. A method for evaluation of physical performance. *Scandinavian Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, 7(1), 13-31.

Fuster, J. M. (2000). The Module. *Neuron*(26), 51-53. doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(00)81137-X

Gainotti, G. (2015). Contrasting opinions on the role of the right hemisphere in the recovery of language. A critical survey. *Aphasiology*, *29*(9), 1020–1037. https://doi.org/10.1080/02687038.2015.1027170

Gainotti, G. (2016). Lower- and higher-level models of right hemisphere language. A selective survey. *Functional Neurology*, 31(2), 67-73. doi:10.11138/fneur/2016.31.2.067

Gajardo-Vidal, A., Lorca-Puls, D. L., Hope, T. M., Parker Jones, O., Seghier, M. L., Prejawa, S., . . Price, C. J. (2018). How right hemisphere damage after stroke can impair speech comprehension. *Brain*(141), 3389-3404. doi:10.1093/brain/awy270

Galletta, E. E., Cancelli, A., Cottone, C., Simonelli, I., Tecchio, F., Bikson, M., & Marangolo, P. (2015). Use of Computational Modeling to Inform tDCS Electrode Montages for the Promotion of Language Recovery in Post-stroke Aphasia. *Brain stimulation*, *8*(6), 1108–1115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2015.06.018

Gandiga, P. C., Hummel, F. C., & Cohen, L. G. (2006). Transcranial DC stimulation (tDCS): a tool for double-blind sham-controlled clinical studies in brain stimulation. *Clinical neurophysiology : official journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, *117*(4), 845–850. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2005.12.003 Gauthier, C. J., & Fan, A. P. (2019). BOLD signal physiology: Models and applications. *NeuroImage*(187), 116-127. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.03.018

George, M. S., & Aston-Jones, G. (2010). Noninvasive techniques for probing neurocircuitry and treating illness: vagus nerve stimulation (VNS), transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) and transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS). *Neuropsychopharmacology : official publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, *35*(1), 301–316. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2009.87

Geranmayeh, F., Brownsett, S. L., & Wise, R. J. (2014). Task-induced brain activity in aphasic stroke patients: what is driving recovery?. *Brain : a journal of neurology*, *137*(Pt 10), 2632–2648. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awu163

Geranmayeh, F., Chau, T. W., Wise, R., Leech, R., & Hampshire, A. (2017). Domaingeneral subregions of the medial prefrontal cortex contribute to recovery of language after stroke. *Brain* : *a journal of neurology*, *140*(7), 1947–1958. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awx134

Gertel, V. H., Zhang, H., & Diaz, M. T. (2020). Stronger right hemisphere functional connectivity supports executive aspects of language in older adults. *Brain and Language*, 206(104771). doi:10.1016/j.bandl.2020.104771

Geschwind, N. (1970). The Organization of Language and the Brain: Language disorders after brain damage help in elucidating the neural basis of verbal behavior. *Science*, *170*(3961), 940-944.

Geva, S., Schneider, L. M., Roberts, S., Green, D. W., & Price, C. J. (2021). The Effect of Focal Damage to the Right Medial Posterior Cerebellum on Word and Sentence Comprehension and Production. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 15(664650), 1-13. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2021.664650

Gialanella, B. (2011). Aphasia assessment and functional outcome prediction in patients with aphasia after stroke. *Journal of Neurology*(258), 343-349. doi:10.1007/s00415-010-5868-x

Giglia, G., Brighina, F., Rizzo, S., Puma, A., Indovino, S., Maccora, S., Baschi, R., Cosentino, G., & Fierro, B. (2014). Anodal transcranial direct current stimulation of the

right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex enhances memory-guided responses in a visuospatial working memory task. *Functional neurology*, *29*(3), 189–193.

Gili, T., Fiori, V., De Pasquale, G., Sabatini, U., Caltagirone, C., & Marangolo, P. (2017). Right sensory-motor functional networks subserve action observation therapy in aphasia. *Brain imaging and behavior*, 11(5), 1397-1411.

Gilmore, N., Meier, E. L., Johnson, J. P., & Kiran, S. (2019). Nonlinguistic Cognitive Factors Predict Treatment-Induced Recovery in Chronic Poststroke Aphasia. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, *100*(7), 1251–1258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2018.12.024

Ginex, V., Veronelli, L., Vanacore, N., Lacorte, E., Monti, A., & Corbo, M. (2017). Motor recovery in poststroke patients with aphasia: the role of specific linguistic abilities. *Topics in Stroke Rehabilitation*, 24(6), 428-434. doi:10.1080/10749357.2017.1305654

Goodglass, H., & Kaplan, E. (1972). The assessment of aphasia and related disorders. Philadelphia, PA: Lea & Febiger.

Goodglass, H., Kaplan, E., & Barresi, B. (2001). *The assessment of aphasia and related disorders*. Williams & Wilkins.

Goodman, A., & Caramazza, A. (1986). Aspects of the spelling process: Evidence from a case of acquired dysgraphia. *Lang. Cogn. Process*, *1*, 263–296. https://doi.org/10.1080/01690968608404678.-DOI

Gough, P. M., Nobre, A. C., & Devlin, J. T. (2005). Dissociating linguistic processes in the left inferior frontal cortex with transcranial magnetic stimulation. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *25*(35), 8010–8016. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2307-05.2005

Graff-Radford, J., Jones, D., Strand, E., Rabinstein, A., Duffy, J., & Josephs, K. (2014). The neuroanatomy of pure apraxia of speech in stroke. *Brain and Language*, *129*, 43–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2014.01.004

Guevara, M., Guevara, P., Roman, C., & Mangin, J.-F. (2020). Superficial white matter: A review on the dMRI analysis methods. *NeuroImage*(212), 1-21. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2020.116673. Guillouët, E., Cogné, M., Saverot, E., Roche, N., Pradat-Diehl, P., Weill-Chounlamountry, A., Ramel, V., Taratte, C., Lachasse, A. G., Haulot, J. A., Vaugier, I., Barbot, F., Azouvi, P., & Charveriat, S. (2020). Impact of Combined Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation and Speech-language Therapy on Spontaneous Speech in Aphasia: A Randomized Controlled Double-blind Study. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society : JINS*, *26*(1), 7–18. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617719001036

Gupta, A., & Padma Srivastava, M. V. (2020). Newer Paradigms in Language Neurobiology. *Annals of Indian Academy of Neurology*, 23(2), S73-S81. doi:10.4103/aian.AIAN\_487\_20

Hagoort P. (2005). On Broca, brain, and binding: a new framework. *Trends in cognitive sciences*, *9*(9), 416–423. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2005.07.004

Hamilton, R., Chrysikou, E., & Coslett, B. (2011). Mechanisms of aphasia recovery after stroke and the role of noninvasive brain stimulation. *Brain Lang*, *118*, 40–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2011.02.005.-DOI-PMC-PubMed

Harnish, S., Meinzer, M., Trinastic, J., Fitzgerald, D., & Page, S. (2014). Language changes coincide with motor and fMRI changes following upper extremity motor therapy for hemiparesis: a brief report. *Brain Imaging and Behavior*(8), 370-377. doi:10.1007/s11682-011-9139-y

Harris, L. J. (1991). Cerebral control for speech in right-handers and left-handers: An analysis of the views of Paul Borca, his contemporaries, and his successors. *Brain and language*, 40(1), 1-50. https://doi.org/10.1016/0093-934x(91)90115-h

Harris, M., & Coltheart, M. (1986). *Language Processing in Children and Adults*. Routledge and Kegan Paul.

Hart, H., Radua, J., Nakao, T., Mataix-Cols, D., & Rubia, K. (2013). Meta-analysis of functional magnetic resonance imaging studies of inhibition and attention in attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder: exploring task-specific, stimulant medication, and age effects. *JAMA psychiatry*, 70(2), 185–198. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.277 Hartman-Maeir, A., Harel, H., & Katz, N. (2009). Kettle Test-A Brief Measure of Cognitive Functional Performance: Reliability and Validity in Stroke Rehabilitation. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 63(5), 592-599. doi:10.5014/ajot.63.5.592

Hartwigsen, G. (2016). Adaptive Plasticity in the Healthy Language Network: Implications for Language Recovery after Stroke. *Neural. Plast*, 9674790. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/9674790.-DOI-PMC-PubMed

Hartwigsen, G., & Saur, D. (2019). Neuroimaging of stroke recovery from aphasia -Insights into plasticity of the human language network. *NeuroImage*, *190*, 14–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.11.056

Harty, S., Robertson, I. H., Miniussi, C., Sheehy, O. C., Devine, C. A., McCreery, S., & O'Connell, R. G. (2014). Transcranial direct current stimulation over right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex enhances error awareness in older age. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *34*(10), 3646–3652. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5308-13.2014

Haselbach, D., Renggli, A., Carda, S., & Croquelois, A. (2014). Determinants of neurological functional recovery potential after stroke in young adults. *Cerebrovascular Diseases Extra*, 4(1), 77-83. doi:10.1159/000360218

Hebb, A. O., & Ojemann, G. A. (2013). The thalamus and language revisited. *Brain and language*, *126*(1), 99–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2012.06.010

Heinze, K., Ruh, N., Nitschke, K., Reis, J., Fritsch, B., Unterrainer, J. M., Rahm, B.,
Weiller, C., & Kaller, C. P. (2014). Transcranial direct current stimulation over left and
right DLPFC: Lateralized effects on planning performance and related eye
movements. *Biological psychology*, *102*, 130–140.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2014.07.019

Helfrich, R. F., Schneider, T. R., Rach, S., Trautmann-Lengsfeld, S. A., Engel, A. K., & Herrmann, C. S. (2014). Entrainment of brain oscillations by transcranial alternating current stimulation. *Current biology : CB*, 24(3), 333–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2013.12.041 Helm-Estabrooks, N. (2001). *Cognitive linguistic quick test: CLQT*. Psychological Corporation.

Helm-Estabrooks, N. (2002). Cognition and aphasia: a discussion and a study. *Journal of communication disorders*, *35*(2), 171-186.

Helmuth, L. L., Ivry, R. B., & Shimizu, N. (1997). Preserved performance by cerebellar patients on tests of word generation, discrimination learning, and attention. *Learning & memory (Cold Spring Harbor, N.Y.)*, *3*(6), 456–474. https://doi.org/10.1101/lm.3.6.456

Hertrich, I., Dietrich, S., & Ackermann, H. (2020). The Margins of the Language Network in the Brain. *Frontiers in Communication*, 5, 1-26. doi:10.3389/fcomm.2020.519955

Hertrich, I., Dietrich, S., Blum, C., & Ackermann, H. (2021). The Role of the Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex for Speech and Language Processing. *Frontiers in human neuroscience*, *15*, 645209. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2021.645209

Hester, R., Foxe, J. J., Molholm, S., Shpaner, M., & Garavan, H. (2005). Neural mechanisms involved in error processing: a comparison of errors made with and without awareness. *NeuroImage*, *27*(3), 602–608.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.04.035

Hickok, G., & Poeppel, D. (2000). Towards a functional neuroanatomy of speech perception. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 4, 131-138. doi:10.1016/s1364-6613(00)01463-7

Hickok, G., & Poeppel, D. (2004). Dorsal and ventral streams: a framework for understanding aspects of the functional anatomy of language. *Cognition*, 92(1-2), 67-99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2003.10.011

Hickok, G., & Poeppel, D. (2007). The cortical organization of speech processing. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience*, 8(5), 393–402. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2113

Hickok, G., Rogalsky, C., Chen, R., Herskovits, E., Townsley, S., & Hillis, A. (2014). Partially overlapping sensorimotor networks underlie speech praxis and verbal short-term memory: Evidence from apraxia of speech following acute stroke. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, *8*, 649. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2014.00649 Hilari, K., Byng, S., Lamping, D. L., & Smith, S. C. (2003). Stroke and Aphasia Quality of Life Scale-39 (SAQOL-39): evaluation of acceptability, reliability, and validity. *Stroke*, *34*(8), 1944–1950.
https://doi.org/10.1161/01.STR.0000081987.46660.ED

Hillis, A., Work, M., Barker, P., Jacobs, M., Breese, E., & Maurer, K. (2004). Reexamining the brain regions crucial for orchestrating speech articulation. *Brain*, *127*(7), 1479–1487. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awh172

Hillis, A., & Heidler, J. (2005). Contributions and limitations of the cognitive neuropsychological approach to treatment: Illustrations from studies of reading and spelling therapy. *Aphasiology*, *19*(10–11), 985–993. https://doi.org/10.1080/02687030544000191

Holler, J., & Levinson, S. C. (2019). Multimodal Language Processing in HumanCommunication. Trendsincognitivesciences, 23(8),https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2019.05.006

Hsu, T. Y., Tseng, L. Y., Yu, J. X., Kuo, W. J., Hung, D. L., Tzeng, O. J., Walsh, V., Muggleton, N. G., & Juan, C. H. (2011). Modulating inhibitory control with direct current stimulation of the superior medial frontal cortex. *NeuroImage*, *56*(4), 2249–2257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.03.059

Hula, W. D., & McNeil, M. R. (2008). Models of attention and dual-task performance as explanatory constructs in aphasia. *Seminars in speech and language*, *29*(3), 169–4. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0028-1082882

Hutton, J. S., Dudley, J., Horowitz-Kraus, T., DeWitt, T., & Holland, S. K. (2019). Functional Connectivity of Attention, Visual, and Language Networks During Audio, Illustrated, and Animated Stories in Preschool-Age Children. *Brain Connectivity*, 9(7), 580-592. doi:10.1089/brain.2019.0679

Hwang, K., Shine, J. M., Bruss, J., Daniel, T., & Boes, A. (2021). Neuropsychological evidence of multi-domain network hubs in the human thalamus. *eLife*, 1-24. doi:10.7554/eLife.69480

Hybbinette, H., Schalling, E., Plantin, J., Nygren-Deboussard, C., Schütz, M., Östberg, P., & Lindberg, P. G. (2021). Recovery of Apraxia of Speech and Aphasia in Patients With Hand Motor Impairment After Stroke. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 12(634065), 1-13. doi:10.3389/fneur.2021.634065

Itabashi, R., Nishio, Y., Kataoka, Y., Yazawa, Y., Furui, E., Matsuda, M., & Mori, E. (2016). Damage to the Left Precentral Gyrus Is Associated With Apraxia of Speech in Acute Stroke. *Stroke*, *47*(1), 31–36. https://doi.org/10.1161/strokeaha.115.010402

Jackson, J. HUGHLINGS (1894). The factors of insanities. Selected writings, 2.

Jeon, S. Y., & Han, S. J. (2012). Improvement of the working memory and naming by transcranial direct current stimulation. *Annals of rehabilitation medicine*, *36*(5), 585–595. https://doi.org/10.5535/arm.2012.36.5.585

Jirak, D., Menz, M. M., Buccino, G., Borghi, A. M., & Binkofski, F. (2010). Grasping language - A short story on embodiment. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 711-720. doi:10.1016/j.concog.2010.06.020.

Johnson, J., Ross, K., & Kiran, S. (2019). Multi-step treatment for acquired alexia and agraphia (Part I): Efficacy, generalisation, and identification of beneficial treatment steps. *Neuropsychological Rehabilitation*, 29(4), 534–564. https://doi.org/10.1080/09602011.2017.1311271

Jonas, S. (1981). The supplementary motor region and speech emission. *Journal of Communication Disorders*, 14(5), 349–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-9924(81)90019-8

Josephs, K., Duffy, J., Strand, E., Whitwell, J., Layton, K., Parisi, J., Hauser, M., Witte, R., Boeve, B., Knopman, D., Dickson, D., Jack, C., & Petersen, R. (2006). Clinicopathological and imaging correlates of progressive aphasia and apraxia of speech. *Brain*, *129*(6), 1385–1398. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awl078

Josephs, K., Duffy, J., Strand, E., Machulda, M., Senjem, M., Master, A., Lowe, V., Jack, C., & Whitwell, J. (2012). Characterizing a neurodegenerative syndrome: Primary progressive apraxia of speech. *Brain*, *135*(5), 1522–1536. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/aws032 Jung, I. Y., Lim, J. Y., Kang, E. K., Sohn, H. M., & Paik, N. J. (2011). The Factors Associated with Good Responses to Speech Therapy Combined with Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation in Post-stroke Aphasic Patients. *Annals of rehabilitation medicine*, *35*(4), 460–469. https://doi.org/10.5535/arm.2011.35.4.460

Justus, T., Ravizza, S. M., Fiez, J. A., & Ivry, R. B. (2005). Reduced phonological similarity effects in patients with damage to the cerebellum. *Brain and language*, 95(2), 304–318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2005.02.001

Kadosh, C., Soskic, R., Iuculano, S., Kanai, T., Walsh, R., & V. (2010). Modulating neuronal activity produces specific and long-lasting changes in numerical competence. *Curr. Biol, 20*, 2016–2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2010.10.007.-DOI-PMC-PubMed

Kang, E. K., Kim, Y. K., Sohn, H. M., Cohen, L. G., & Paik, N. J. (2011). Improved picture naming in aphasia patients treated with cathodal tDCS to inhibit the right Broca's homologue area. *Restorative neurology and neuroscience*, *29*(3), 141–152. https://doi.org/10.3233/RNN-2011-0587

Kaplan, E., Weintraub, S., & Goodglass, H. (2001). Boston Naming Test. Austin, TX: Pro-Ed.

Kearney, E., & Guenther, F. (2019). Articulating: The neural mechanisms of speech production. *Language, Cognition and Neuroscience, 34*(9), 1214–1229. https://doi.org/10.1080/23273798.2019.1589541

Keil, K., & Kaszniak, A. W. (2002). Examining executive function in individuals with brain injury: A review. *Aphasiology*, *16*(3), 305-335.

Keith, R. A., Granger, C. V., Hamilton, B. B., & Sherwin, F. S. (1987). The functional independence measure: a new tool for rehabilitation. *Advances in Clinical Rehabilitation*(1), 6-18.

Keller A. (1993). Intrinsic synaptic organization of the motor cortex. *Cerebral cortex* (*New York, N.Y. : 1991*), 3(5), 430–441. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/3.5.430

Kertesz, A. (2007). Western Aphaisa Battery-Revised. San Antonio, TX: PsychCorp.

Kertesz, A., Harlock, W., & Coates, R. (1979). Computer tomographic localization, lesion size, and prognosis in aphasia and nonverbal impairment. *Brain and language*, 8(1), 34-50. https://doi.org/10.1016/0093-934x(79)90038-5

Kim, S., Stephenson, M., Morris, P., & Jackson, S. (2014). tDCS-induced alterations in GABA concentration within primary motor cortex predict motor learning and motor memory: A 7T magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. *NeuroImage*, *99*, 237–243. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.05.070

Kiran, S. (2005). Training phoneme to grapheme conversion for patients with written and oral production deficits: A model-based approach. *Aphasiology*, *19*, 53–76. https://doi.org/10.1080/02687030444000633.-DOI

Kiran, S. (2012). What is the nature of poststroke language recovery and reorganization? In *ISRN Neurology* (Vol. 2012, p. 786872). Hindawi Limited. https://doi.org/10.5402/2012/786872

Kleim, J. A., & Jones, T. A. (2008). Principles of experience-dependent neural plasticity: implications for rehabilitation after brain damage. *Journal of speech, language, and hearing research : JSLHR*, *51*(1), S225–S239. https://doi.org/10.1044/1092-4388(2008/018)

Klingbeil, J., Wawrzyniak, M., Stockert, A., & Saur, D. (2019). Resting-state functional connectivity: An emerging method for the study of language networks in post-stroke aphasia. *Brain and Cognition*, *131*, 22–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2017.08.005

Knock, T., Ballard, K., Robin, D., & Schmidt, R. (2000). Influence of order of stimulus presentation on speech motor learning: A principled approach to treatment for apraxia of speech. *Aphasiology*, *14*(5–6), 653–668. https://doi.org/10.1080/026870300401379

Knollman-Poter, K. (2008). Acquired Apraxia of Speech: A Review. *Topics in Stroke Rehabilitation*, 15(5), 484–493. https://doi.org/10.1310/tsr1505-484

Knotkova, H., Hamani, C., Sivanesan, E., Le Beuffe, M., Moon, J. Y., Cohen, S. P., & Huntoon, M. A. (2021). Neuromodulation for chronic pain. *Lancet (London, England)*, *397*(10289), 2111–2124. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00794-7

Krikorian, R., Bartok, J., & Gay, N. (1994). Tower of London procedure: a standard method and developmental data. *Journal of clinical and experimental neuropsychology*, *16*(6), 840–850. https://doi.org/10.1080/01688639408402697

Kronberg, G., Bridi, M., Abel, T., Bikson, M., & Parra, L. C. (2017). Direct Current Stimulation Modulates LTP and LTD: Activity Dependence and Dendritic Effects. *Brain stimulation*, *10*(1), 51–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2016.10.001

Kuo, M.-F., Paulus, W., & Nitsche, M. (2014). Therapeutic effects of non-invasive brain stimulation with direct currents (tDCS) in neuropsychiatric diseases. *NeuroImage*, *85*, 948–960. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.05.117

Kwon, Y. H., Ko, M. H., Ahn, S. H., Kim, Y. H., Song, J. C., Lee, C. H., Chang, M. C., & Jang, S. H. (2008). Primary motor cortex activation by transcranial direct current stimulation in the human brain. *Neuroscience letters*, *435*(1), 56–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2008.02.012

LaCroix, A. N., Tully, M., & Rogalsky, C. (2021). Assessment of alerting, orienting, and executive control in persons with aphasia using the Attention Network Test. *Aphasiology*, 35(10), 1318-1333. doi:10.1080/02687038.2020.1795077

Laiacona, M., Capitani, E., Zonca, G., Scola, I., Saletta, P., & Luzzatti, C. (2009). Integration of lexical and sublexical processing in the spelling of regular words: A multiple single–case study in Italian dysgraphic patients. *Cortex*, 45(7), 804–815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2008.10.011

Lambon Ralph, M. A., Snell, C., Fillingham, J. K., Conroy, P., & Sage, K. (2010). Predicting the outcome of anomia therapy for people with aphasia post CVA: Both language and cognitive status are key predictors. *Neuropsychological Rehabilitation*, 20(2), 289-305. doi:10.1080/09602010903237875

Lang, C. E., Lohse, K. R., & Birkenmeier, R. L. (2015). Dose and timing in neurorehabilitation: prescribing motor therapy after stroke. *Current opinion in neurology*, 28(6), 549–555. https://doi.org/10.1097/WCO.00000000000256

Lang, N., Nitsche, M., Paulus, W., Rothwell, J., & Lemon, R. (2004). Effects of transcranial direct current stimulation over the human motor cortex on corticospinal and

transcallosal excitability. *Experimental Brain Research*, 156(4), 439–443. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-003-1800-2

Lapointe, L. L., & Erickson, R. J. (1991). Auditory vigilance during divided task attention in aphasic individuals. *Aphasiology*, *5*(6), 511-520.

Lashley, K. S. (1951). *The problem of serial order in behavior* (Vol. 21, p. 21). Oxford: Bobbs-Merrill.

Lasker, J., Garrett, K., & Fox, L. (2007). Severe aphasia. *Augmentative communication strategies for adults with acute or chronic medical conditions*, 163-206.

Lechevalier, B. (2017). La querelle de l'aphasie. Revue Neurologique, 173, S10-S11.

Lee, J. B., Kocherginski, M., & Cherney, L. R. (2020). Attention in Individuals with Aphasia: Performance on the Conners' Continuous Performance Test-2nd Edition. Neuropsychological Rehabilitation, 30(2), 249-265. doi:10.1080/09602011.2018.1460852

Lee, S. Y., Cheon, H. J., Yoon, K. J., Chang, W. H., & Kim, Y. H. (2013). Effects of dual transcranial direct current stimulation for aphasia in chronic stroke patients. *Annals of rehabilitation medicine*, *37*(5), 603–610. https://doi.org/10.5535/arm.2013.37.5.603

Lefaucheur, J. P., Antal, A., Ayache, S. S., Benninger, D. H., Brunelin, J., Cogiamanian, F., Cotelli, M., De Ridder, D., Ferrucci, R., Langguth, B., Marangolo, P., Mylius, V., Nitsche, M. A., Padberg, F., Palm, U., Poulet, E., Priori, A., Rossi, S., Schecklmann, M., Vanneste, S., ... Paulus, W. (2017). Evidence-based guidelines on the therapeutic use of transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS). *Clinical neurophysiology : official journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, *128*(1), 56–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2016.10.087

Leff, A., Crinion, J., Scott, S., Turkheimer, F., Howard, D., & Wise, R. (2002). A physiological change in the homotopic cortex following left posterior temporal lobe infarction. *Annals of Neurology*, *51*(5), 553–558. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.10181

Leiner, H. C., Leiner, A. L., & Dow, R. S. (1991). The human cerebro-cerebellar system: its computing, cognitive, and language skills. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 44(2), 113-128. doi:10.1016/s0166-4328(05)80016-6

Leśniak, M., Bak, T., Czepiel, W., Seniów, J., & Członkowska, A. (2008). Frequency and prognostic value of cognitive disorders in stroke patients. *Dementia and geriatric cognitive disorders*, *26*(4), 356–363. https://doi.org/10.1159/000162262

Levelt, W., Roelofs, A., & Meyer, A. (1999). A theory of lexical access in speech production. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 22(01), 1–75. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0140525x99001776

Lezak, M. D., Howieson, D. B., Loring, D. W., & Fischer, J. S. (2004). *Neuropsychological assessment*. Oxford University Press, USA.

Li, Q., Del Ferraro, G., Pasquini, L., Peck, K. K., Makse, H. A., & Holodny, A. I. (2020). Core language brain network for fMRI language task used in clinical applications. *Network neuroscience (Cambridge, Mass.)*, 4(1), 134–154. https://doi.org/10.1162/netn\_a\_00112

Lichtheim, L. (1885). On aphasia. Brain, 7, 433-484.

Liebetanz, D., Nitsche, M. A., Tergau, F., & Paulus, W. (2002). Pharmacological approach to the mechanisms of transcranial DC-stimulation-induced after-effects of human motor cortex excitability. *Brain : a journal of neurology*, *125*(Pt 10), 2238–2247. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awf238

Light, J., & McNaughton, D. (2014). Communicative Competence for Individuals who require Augmentative and Alternative Communication: A New Definition for a New Era of Communication?. *Augmentative and alternative communication (Baltimore, Md. : 1985)*, *30*(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.3109/07434618.2014.885080

Lindell A. K. (2006). In your right mind: right hemisphere contributions to language processing and production. *Neuropsychology review*, *16*(3), 131–148. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11065-006-9011-9

Lindström, E., & Werner, C. (1995). A-ning: neurolingvistisk afasiundersökning. Stockholm: Ersta högsk.

Lipskaya-Velikovsky, L., Zeilig, G., Weingarden, H., Rozental-Iluz, C., & Rand, D. (2018). Executive functioning and daily living of individuals with chronic stroke: measurement and implications. *International journal of rehabilitation research*.

Internationale Zeitschrift fur Rehabilitationsforschung. Revue internationale de recherches de readaptation, 41(2), 122–127. https://doi.org/10.1097/MRR.0000000000272

Loftus, A. M., Yalcin, O., Baughman, F. D., Vanman, E. J., & Hagger, M. S. (2015). The impact of transcranial direct current stimulation on inhibitory control in young adults. *Brain and behavior*, 5(5), e00332. https://doi.org/10.1002/brb3.332

Logothetis, N., Pauls, J., Augath, M., Trinath, T., & Oeltermann, A. (2001). Neurophysiological investigation of the basis of the fMRI signal. *Nature*(412), 150-157.

Lolas F. (1977). Brain polarization: behavioral and therapeutic effects. *Biological psychiatry*, *12*(1), 37–47.

Lomas, J., Pickard, L., Bester, S., Elbard, H., Finlayson, A., & Zoghaib, C. (1989). The communicative effectiveness index: development and psychometric evaluation of a functional communication measure for adult aphasia. *The Journal of speech and hearing disorders*, *54*(1), 113–124. https://doi.org/10.1044/jshd.5401.113

Ludersdorfer, P., Kronbichler, M., & Wimmer, H. (2015). Accessing orthographic representations from speech: The role of left ventral occipitotemporal cortex in spelling. *Hum Brain Mapp*, *36*, 1393–1406. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.22709.-DOI-PMC-PubMed

Luzzati, C., Wilmes, K., & De Bleser, R. (1996). AAT Aachner Aphasie Test (Italian edition). Florence: Giunti OS.

Luzzatti, C., Colombo, C., Frustaci, M., & Vitolo, F. (2000). Rehabilitation of spelling along the sub-word level routine. *Neuropsychol. Rehabil*, *10*, 249–278. https://doi.org/10.1080/096020100389156.-DOI

Luzzi, S., Bartolini, M., Coccia, M., Provinciali, L., Piccirilli, M., & Snowden, J. (2003). Surface Dysgraphia in a Regular Orthography: Apostrophe use by an Italian Writer. *Neurocase*, 9(4), 285–296. https://doi.org/10.1076/neur.9.4.285.15551

Lyle, R. C. (1981). A performance test for assessment of upper limb function in physical rehabilitation treatment and research. *International Journal of Rehabilitation Research*, 4(4), 483-492. doi:10.1097/00004356-198112000-00001

Maas, E., Robin, D., Wright, D., & Ballard, K. (2008). Motor programming in apraxia of speech. *Brain and Language*, *106*(2), 107–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2008.03.004

Makuuchi, M., & Friederici, A. D. (2013). Hierarchical functional connectivity between the core language system and the working memory system. *Cortex; a journal devoted to the study of the nervous system and behavior*, 49(9), 2416–2423. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2013.01.007

Maloney, E., Risko, E., O'malley, S., & Besner, D. (2009). Short Article: Tracking the Transition from Sublexical to Lexical Processing: On the Creation of Orthographic and Phonological Lexical Representations. *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, *62*(5), 858–867. https://doi.org/10.1080/17470210802578385

Manenti, R., Petesi, M., Brambilla, M., Rosini, S., Miozzo, A., Padovani, A., Miniussi, C., & Cotelli, M. (2015). Efficacy of semantic-phonological treatment combined with tDCS for verb retrieval in a patient with aphasia. *Neurocase*, *21*(1), 109–119. https://doi.org/10.1080/13554794.2013.873062

Marangolo P. (2020). The potential effects of transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) on language functioning: Combining neuromodulation and behavioral intervention in aphasia. *Neuroscience letters*, *719*, 133329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2017.12.057

Marangolo, P., Bonifazi, S., Tomaiuolo, F., Craighero, L., Coccia, M., Altoè, G., & Cantagallo, A. (2010). Improving language without words: first evidence from aphasia. *Neuropsychologia*, 48(13), 3824-3833. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010.09.025

Marangolo, P., Marinelli, C. V., Bonifazi, S., Fiori, V., Ceravolo, M. G., Provinciali, L., & Tomaiuolo, F. (2011). Electrical stimulation over the left inferior frontal gyrus (IFG) determines long-term effects in the recovery of speech apraxia in three chronic aphasics. *Behavioural brain research*, 225(2), 498–504. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2011.08.008

Marangolo, P., Cipollari, S., Fiori, V., Razzano, C., & Caltagirone, C. (2012). Walking but not barking improves verb recovery: implications for action observation treatment in

aphasiarehabilitation. PloSone, 7(6),e38610.https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0038610

Marangolo, P., Fiori, V., Caltagirone, C., & Marini, A. (2013a). How Conversational Therapy influences language recovery in chronic non-fluent aphasia. *Neuropsychological rehabilitation*, *23*(5), 715–731. https://doi.org/10.1080/09602011.2013.804847

Marangolo, P., Fiori, V., Calpagnano, M. A., Campana, S., Razzano, C., Caltagirone, C., & Marini, A. (2013b). tDCS over the left inferior frontal cortex improves speech production in aphasia. *Frontiers in human neuroscience*, *7*, 539. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00539

Marangolo, P., Fiori, V., Cipollari, S., Campana, S., Razzano, C., Di Paola, M., Koch, G., & Caltagirone, C. (2013c). Bihemispheric stimulation over left and right inferior frontal region enhances recovery from apraxia of speech in chronic aphasia. *The European journal of neuroscience*, *38*(9), 3370–3377. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejn.12332

Marangolo, P., & Caltagirone, C. (2014). Options to enhance recovery from aphasia by means of non-invasive brain stimulation and action observation therapy. *Expert review of neurotherapeutics*, *14*(1), 75–91. https://doi.org/10.1586/14737175.2014.864555

Marangolo, P., Fiori, V., Campana, S., Calpagnano, M. A., Razzano, C., Caltagirone, C., & Marini, A. (2014a). Something to talk about: enhancement of linguistic cohesion through tdCS in chronic non fluent aphasia. *Neuropsychologia*, *53*, 246–256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2013.12.003

Marangolo, P., Fiori, V., Gelfo, F., Shofany, J., Razzano, C., Caltagirone, C., & Angelucci, F. (2014b). Bihemispheric tDCS enhances language recovery but does not alter BDNF levels in chronic aphasic patients. *Restorative neurology and neuroscience*, *32*(2), 367–379. https://doi.org/10.3233/RNN-130323

Marangolo, P., Fiori, V., Sabatini, U., De Pasquale, G., Razzano, C., Caltagirone, C., & Gili, T. (2016). Bilateral Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation Language Treatment Enhances Functional Connectivity in the Left Hemisphere: Preliminary Data from Aphasia. *Journal of cognitive neuroscience*, *28*(5), 724–738. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn\_a\_00927 Marangolo, P., Fiori, V., Shofany, J., Gili, T., Caltagirone, C., Cucuzza, G., & Priori, A. (2017). Moving Beyond the Brain: Transcutaneous Spinal Direct Current Stimulation in Post-Stroke Aphasia. *Frontiers in neurology*, 8, 400. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2017.00400

Marangolo, P., Fiori, V., Caltagirone, C., Pisano, F., & Priori, A. (2018). Transcranial Cerebellar Direct Current Stimulation Enhances Verb Generation but Not Verb Naming in Poststroke Aphasia. *Journal of cognitive neuroscience*, *30*(2), 188–199. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn\_a\_01201

Marangolo, P., Fiori, V., Caltagirone, C., Incoccia, C., & Gili, T. (2020). Stairways to the brain: Transcutaneous spinal direct current stimulation (tsDCS) modulates a cerebellar-cortical network enhancing verb recovery. *Brain research*, *1727*, 146564. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2019.146564

Mariën, P., Ackermann, H., Adamaszek, M., Barwood, C. H., Beaton, A., Desmond, J., De Witte, E., Fawcett, A. J., Hertrich, I., Küper, M., Leggio, M., Marvel, C., Molinari, M., Murdoch, B. E., Nicolson, R. I., Schmahmann, J. D., Stoodley, C. J., Thürling, M., Timmann, D., Wouters, E., ... Ziegler, W. (2014). Consensus paper: Language and the cerebellum: an ongoing enigma. *Cerebellum (London, England)*, *13*(3), 386–410. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12311-013-0540-5

Mariën, P., Keulen, S., & Verhoeven, J. (2019). Neurological Aspects of Foreign Accent Syndrome in Stroke Patients. *Journal of Communication Disorders*, 77, 94–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcomdis.2018.12.002

Marinelli, C.V., Romani, C., Burani, C., & Zoccolotti, P. (2015). Spelling Acquisition in English and Italian: A Cross-Linguistic Study. *Front Psychol*, *8*, 1843. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01843.-DOI-PMC-PubMed

Marinelli, C. V., Spaccavento, S., Craca, A., Marangolo, P., & Angelelli, P. (2017). Different Cognitive Profiles of Patients with Severe Aphasia. *Behavioural Neurology*, 2017(3875954), 1-15. doi:10.1155/2017/3875954

Marini, A., & Urgesi, C. (2012). Please get to the point! A cortical correlate of linguistic informativeness. *Journal of cognitive neuroscience*, *24*(11), 2211–2222. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn\_a\_00283 Marino, B. F., Gallese, V., Buccino, G., & Riggio, L. (2012). Language sensorimotor specificity modulates the motor system. *Cortex; a journal devoted to the study of the nervous system and behavior*, 48(7), 849–856. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2010.12.003

Marino, B. F., Sirianni, M., Volta, R. D., Magliocco, F., Silipo, F., Quattrone, A., & Buccino, G. (2014). Viewing photos and reading nouns of natural graspable objects similarly modulate motor responses. *Frontiers in human neuroscience*, *8*, 968. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2014.00968

Marshall, J., Atkinson, J., Smulovitch, E., Thacker, A., & Woll, B. (2004). Aphasia in a user of British Sign Language: Dissociation between sign and gesture. *Cognitive neuropsychology*, *21*(5), 537–554. https://doi.org/10.1080/02643290342000249

Marshall, R. S., Laures-Gore, J., DuBay, M., Williams, T., & Bryant, D. (2015). Unilateral forced nostril breathing and aphasia--exploring unilateral forced nostril breathing as an adjunct to aphasia treatment: a case series. *Journal of alternative and complementary medicine (New York, N.Y.)*, 21(2), 91–99. https://doi.org/10.1089/acm.2013.0285

Martin, I., & McDonald, S. (2003). Weak coherence, no theory of mind, or executive dysfunction? Solving the puzzle of pragmatic language disorders. *Brain and language*, 85(3), 451–466. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0093-934x(03)00070-1

Martin, R. C., & Cheng, Y. (2006). Selection demands versus association strength in the verb generation task. *Psychonomic bulletin & review*, *13*(3), 396–401. https://doi.org/10.3758/bf03193859

Martin, R. C., & Allen, C. M. (2008). A disorder of executive function and its role in language processing. *Seminars in speech and language*, *29*(3), 201–5. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0028-1082884

Mattioli, F. (2019). The clinical management and rehabilitation of post stroke aphasia in Italy: evidences from the literature and clinical experience. *Neurological Sciences*, *40*(7), 1329-1334. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10072-019-03844-0

McNeil, M. R. (2000). Apraxia of speech: A treatable disorder of motor planning and programming. *Aphasia and Language, Theory to Practice*, 221-266.

McNeil, M., Robin, D., & Schmidt, R. (1997). Apraxia of Speech: From Concept to Clinic. *Seminars in Speech and Language*, 23(4), 221–222. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2002-35796

Medina, J., & Cason, S. (2017). No evidential value in samples of transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) studies of cognition and working memory in healthy populations. *Cortex; a journal devoted to the study of the nervous system and behavior*, 94, 131–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2017.06.021

Meinzer, M., Jähnigen, S., Copland, D., Darkow, R., Grittner, U., Avirame, K., Rodriguez, A., Lindenberg, R., & Flöel, A. (2014). Transcranial direct current stimulation over multiple days improves learning and maintenance of a novel vocabulary. *Cortex*, *50*, 137–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2013.07.013

Meinzer, M., Darkow, R., Lindenberg, R., & Flöel, A. (2016). Electrical stimulation of the motor cortex enhances treatment outcome in post-stroke aphasia. *Brain : a journal of neurology*, *139*(Pt 4), 1152–1163. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/aww002

Mencuccini, C., & Silvestrini, V. (2010). Physics II. Naples: Liguori Editore.

Miceli, G., Laudanna, A., Burani, C., & Capasso, R. (1994). Batteria per l'analisi dei deficit afasici. *Roma: Cepsag*.

Miller, E. K., & Cohen, J. D. (2001). An integrative theory of prefrontal cortex function. *Annual review of neuroscience*, *24*, 167–202. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.24.1.167

Miyake, A., Friedman, N. P., Emerson, M. J., Witzki, A. H., Howerter, A., & Wager, T. D. (2000). The unity and diversity of executive functions and their contributions to complex "Frontal Lobe" tasks: a latent variable analysis. *Cognitive psychology*, *41*(1), 49–100. https://doi.org/10.1006/cogp.1999.0734

Miyake, A., & Friedman, N. P. (2012). The Nature and Organization of Individual Differences in Executive Functions: Four General Conclusions. *Current directions in psychological science*, *21*(1), 8–14. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721411429458

Mohr, J., Pessin, M., Finkelstein, S., Funkenstein, H., Duncan, G., & Davis, K. (1978). Broca aphasia: Pathologic and clinical. *Neurology*, *28*(4), 311–311. https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.28.4.311

Monaco, M., Costa, A., Caltagirone, C., & Carlesimo, G. A. (2013). Forward and backward span for verbal and visuo-spatial data: standardization and normative data from an Italian adult population. *Neurological sciences : official journal of the Italian Neurological Society and of the Italian Society of Clinical Neurophysiology*, *34*(5), 749–754. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10072-012-1130-x

Monte-Silva, K., Kuo, M. F., Hessenthaler, S., Fresnoza, S., Liebetanz, D., Paulus, W., & Nitsche, M. A. (2013). Induction of late LTP-like plasticity in the human motor cortex by repeated non-invasive brain stimulation. *Brain stimulation*, *6*(3), 424–432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2012.04.011

Monti, F., Cogiamanian, S., Marceglia, R., Ferrucci, F., Mameli, S., & Mrakic-Sposta. (2008). Improved naming after transcranial direct current stimulation in aphasia. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, *79*, 451–453. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2007.14235666

Moser, D., Fridriksson, J., Bonilha, L., Healy, E., Baylis, G., Baker, J., & Rorden, C. (2009). Neural recruitment for the production of native and novel speech sounds. *NeuroImage*, *46*(2), 549–557. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.01.015

Murase, N., Duque, J., Mazzocchio, R., & Cohen, L. (2004). Influence of interhemispheric interactions on motor function in chronic stroke. *Annals of Neurology*, *55*(3), 400–409. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.10848

Murray L. L. (2012). Attention and other cognitive deficits in aphasia: presence and relation to language and communication measures. *American journal of speech-language pathology*, *21*(2), S51–S64. https://doi.org/10.1044/1058-0360(2012/11-0067)

Na, Y., Jung, J., Tench, C. R., Auer, D. P., & Pyun, S. (2022). Language systems from lesion-symptom mapping in aphasia: A meta-analysis of voxel-based lesion mapping studies. *NeuroImage: Clinical*, 35, 1-11. doi:10.1016/j.nicl.2022.103038

Naeser, M. A., & Hayward, R. W. (1978). Lesion localization in aphasia with cranial computed tomography and the Boston Diagnostic Aphasia Exam. *Neurology*, *28*(6), 545-545. https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.28.6.545

Naeser, M., Martin, P., Nicholas, M., Baker, E., Seekins, H., Kobayashi, M., Theoret, H., Fregni, F., Mariatormos, J., & Kurland, J. (2005). Improved picture naming in chronic aphasia after TMS to part of right Broca?s area: An open-protocol study. *Brain and Language*, *93*(1), 95–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2004.08.004

Nasios, G., Dardiotis, E., & Messinis, L. (2019). From Broca and Wernicke to the Neuromodulation Era: Insights of Brain Language Networks for Neurorehabilitation. *Behavioural Neurology*, 2019, 1-10. doi:10.1155/2019/9894571

Nicholas, M., Hunsaker, E., & Guarino, A. J. (2017). The relation between language, non-verbal cognition and quality of life in people with aphasia. *Aphasiology*, *31*(6), 688-702.

Nitsche, M. A., & Paulus, W. (2000). Excitability changes induced in the human motor cortex by weak transcranial direct current stimulation. *The Journal of physiology*, *527 Pt 3*(Pt 3), 633–639. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7793.2000.t01-1-00633.x

Nitsche, M. A., & Paulus, W. (2001). Sustained excitability elevations induced by transcranial DC motor cortex stimulation in humans. *Neurology*, *57*(10), 1899–1901. https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.57.10.1899

Nitsche, M. A., Nitsche, M. S., Klein, C. C., Tergau, F., Rothwell, J. C., & Paulus, W. (2003a). Level of action of cathodal DC polarisation induced inhibition of the human motor cortex. *Clinical neurophysiology : official journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, *114*(4), 600–604. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1388-2457(02)00412-1

Nitsche, M. A., Fricke, K., Henschke, U., Schlitterlau, A., Liebetanz, D., Lang, N., Henning, S., Tergau, F., & Paulus, W. (2003b). Pharmacological modulation of cortical excitability shifts induced by transcranial direct current stimulation in humans. *The Journal of physiology*, *553*(Pt 1), 293–301. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2003.049916

Nitsche, M. A., Seeber, A., Frommann, K., Klein, C. C., Rochford, C., Nitsche, M. S., Fricke, K., Liebetanz, D., Lang, N., Antal, A., Paulus, W., & Tergau, F. (2005).

Modulating parameters of excitability during and after transcranial direct current stimulation of the human motor cortex. *The Journal of physiology*, *568*(Pt 1), 291–303. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2005.092429

Nitsche, M. A., Cohen, L. G., Wassermann, E. M., Priori, A., Lang, N., Antal, A., Paulus, W., Hummel, F., Boggio, P. S., Fregni, F., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2008). Transcranial direct current stimulation: State of the art 2008. *Brain stimulation*, *1*(3), 206–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2008.06.004

Nitsche, M. A., & Paulus, W. (2011). Transcranial direct current stimulation--update 2011. *Restorative neurology and neuroscience*, 29(6), 463–492. https://doi.org/10.3233/RNN-2011-0618

Nitsche, M. A., Koschack, J., Pohlers, H., Hullemann, S., Paulus, W., & Happe, S. (2012).Effects of frontal transcranial direct current stimulation on emotional state and processinginhealthyhumans. Frontiersinpsychiatry, 3,58.https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2012.00058

Norise, C., Sacchetti, D., & Hamilton, R. (2017). Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation in Post-stroke Chronic Aphasia: The Impact of Baseline Severity and Task Specificity in a Pilot Sample. *Frontiers in human neuroscience*, *11*, 260. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2017.00260

Notarnicola, A., Angelelli, P., Judica, A., & Zoccolotti, P. (2012). Development of spelling skills in a shallow orthography: The case of Italian language. *Read Writ*, 25, 1171–1194. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-011-9312-0.-DOI

Nozari, N., Arnold, J. E., & Thompson-Schill, S. L. (2014). The effects of anodal stimulation of the left prefrontal cortex on sentence production. *Brain stimulation*, 7(6), 784–792. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2014.07.035

O'Connell, N. E., Cossar, J., Marston, L., Wand, B. M., Bunce, D., Moseley, G. L., & De Souza, L. H. (2012). Rethinking clinical trials of transcranial direct current stimulation: participant and assessor blinding is inadequate at intensities of 2mA. *PloS one*, *7*(10), e47514. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0047514

Ogar, J., Slama, H., Dronkers, N., Amici, S., & Luisa Gorno-Tempini, M. (2005). Apraxia of Speech: An overview. *Neurocase*, *11*(6), 427–432. https://doi.org/10.1080/13554790500263529

Oldfield R. C. (1971). The assessment and analysis of handedness: the Edinburgh inventory. *Neuropsychologia*, 9(1), 97–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/0028-3932(71)90067-4

Olsson, C., Arvidsson, P., & Blom Johansson, M. (2019). Relations between executive function, language, and functional communication in severe aphasia. *Aphasiology*, *33*(7), 821-845.

Olsson, C., Arvidsson, P., & Blom Johansson, M. (2020). Measuring executive function in people with severe aphasia: Comparing neuropsychological tests and informant ratings. *NeuroRehabilitation*, *46*(3), 299–310. https://doi.org/10.3233/NRE-192998

Osterrieth, P. A. (1944). Filetest de copie d'une figure complex: Contribution a l'etude de la perception et de la memoire. *Archives de Psychologie*(30), 286-356.

Parazzini, M., Fiocchi, S., Liorni, I., Rossi, E., Cogiamanian, F., Vergari, M., Priori, A., & Ravazzani, P. (2014). Modeling the current density generated by transcutaneous spinal direct current stimulation (tsDCS). *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *125*(11), 2260–2270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2014.02.027

Patel, S., Oishi, K., Wright, A., Sutherland-Foggio, H., Saxena, S., Sheppard, S. M., & Hillis, A. E. (2018). Right Hemisphere Regions Critical for Expression of Emotion Through Prosody. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 9(224), 1-7. doi:10.3389/fneur.2018.00224

Patterson, K. (1986). Lexical but nonsemantic spelling? *Cognitive Neuropsychology*, 3(3), 341–367. https://doi.org/10.1080/02643298608253363

Paulesu, E., Vallar, G., Berlingeri, M., Signorini, M., Vitali, P., Burani, C., Perani, D., &
Fazio, F. (2009). Supercalifragilistic expialidocious: How the brain learns words never heard before. *NeuroImage*, 45(4), 1368–1377. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.12.043

Peach, R. K., Rubin, S. S., & Newhoff, M. (1994). A topographic event-related potential analysis of the attention deficit for auditory processing in aphasia. *Clinical Aphasiology*, *22*, 81-96.

Pearce, J. M. S. (2009). Marie-Jean-Pierre Flourens (1794–1867) and cortical localization. *European Neurology*, 61(5), 311–314. https://doi.org/10.1159/000206858

Perceval, G., Martin, A., Copland, D., Laine, M., & Meinzer, M. (2017). High-definition tDCS of the temporo-parietal cortex enhances access to newly learned words. *Sci. Rep*, 7, 17023. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-17279-0.-DOI-PMC-PubMed

Persad, C., Wozniak, L., & Kostopoulos, E. (2013). Retrospective analysis of outcomes from two intensive comprehensive aphasia programs. *Topics in stroke rehabilitation*, *20*(5), 388–397. https://doi.org/10.1310/tsr2005-388

Pestalozzi, M. I., Di Pietro, M., Martins Gaytanidis, C., Spierer, L., Schnider, A., Chouiter, L., Colombo, F., Annoni, J. M., & Jost, L. B. (2018). Effects of Prefrontal Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation on Lexical Access in Chronic Poststroke Aphasia. *Neurorehabilitation and neural repair*, *32*(10), 913–923. https://doi.org/10.1177/1545968318801551

Picano, C., Quadrini, A., Pisano, F., & Marangolo, P. (2021). Adjunctive Approaches to Aphasia Rehabilitation: A Review on Efficacy and Safety. *Brain Sci*, *11*, 41. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci11010041.-DOI-PMC-PubMed

Pigliautile, M., Chiesi, F., Primi, C., Inglese, S., Mari, D., Simoni, D., Mossello, E., & Mecocci, P. (2019). Validation study of the Italian version of Communication Activities of the Daily Living (CADL 2) as an ecologic cognitive assessment measure in older subjects. *Neurological sciences : official journal of the Italian Neurological Society and of the Italian Society of Clinical Neurophysiology*, *40*(10), 2081–2088. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10072-019-03937-w

Pinel, J. P. (2006). Biopsychology. Boston, MA: Perason Education, Inc.

Planton, S., Jucla, M., Roux, F.-E., & Démonet, J.-F. (2013). The "handwriting brain": A meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies of motor versus orthographic processes. *Cortex*, *49*(10), 2772–2787. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2013.05.011

Pope, P. A., & Miall, R. C. (2014). Restoring cognitive functions using non-invasive brain stimulation techniques in patients with cerebellar disorders. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, *5*, 33. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2014.00033

Price C. J. (2010). The anatomy of language: a review of 100 fMRI studies published in 2009. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1191*, 62–88. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05444.x

Price, C. (2012). A review and synthesis of the first 20years of PET and fMRI studies of heard speech, spoken language and reading. *Neuroimage*, *62*, 816–847. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.04.062.-DOI-PMC-PubMed

Priftis, K., Algeri, L., Barachetti, L., Magnani, S., Gobbo, M., & De Pellegrin, S. (2020). Acquired neurogenic foreign accent syndrome after right-hemisphere lesion with left cerebellar diaschisis: A longitudinal study. *Cortex*, *130*, 220–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2020.05.019

Primaßin, A., Scholtes, N., Heim, S., Huber, W., Neuschäfer, M., Binkofski, F., & Werner, C. J. (2015). Determinants of concurrent motor and language recovery during intensive therapy in chronic stroke patients: four single-case studies. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 6(215), 1-11. doi:10.3389/fneur.2015.00215

Priori, A., Berardelli, A., Rona, S., Accornero, N., & Manfredi, M. (1998). Polarization of the human motor cortex through the scalp. *Neuroreport*, *9*(10), 2257–2260. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001756-199807130-00020

Pulvermüller F. (2005). Brain mechanisms linking language and action. *Nature reviews*. *Neuroscience*, *6*(7), 576–582. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1706

Pulvermüller, F., Hauk, O., Nikulin, V. V., & Ilmoniemi, R. J. (2005). Functional links between motor and language systems. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 21(3), 793–797.

Purcell, J., Turkeltaub, P., Eden, G., & Rapp, B. (2011). Examining the central and peripheral processes of written word production through meta-analysis. *Front Psychol*, *2*, 239. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2011.00239.-DOI-PMC-PubMed

Purdy, M., & Koch, A. (2006). Prediction of strategy usage by adults with aphasia. *Aphasiology*, 20(02-04), 337-348.

PURPURA, D. P., & MCMURTRY, J. G. (1965). INTRACELLULAR ACTIVITIES AND EVOKED POTENTIAL CHANGES DURING POLARIZATION OF MOTOR CORTEX. Journal of neurophysiology, 28, 166–185. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1965.28.1.166

Ramsberger, G. (2005). Achieving conversational success in aphasia by focusing on nonlinguistic cognitive skills: A potentially promising new approach. *Aphasiology*, *19*(10-11), 1066-1073.

Rapcsak, S., & Beeson, P. (2015). The role of left posterior inferior temporal cortex inspelling.Neurology,62(12),2221–2229.https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000130169.60752.c5

Reis, J., Fischer, J., Prichard, G., Weiller, C., Cohen, L., & Fritsch, B. (2015). Time- but not sleep-dependent consolidation of tDCS-enhanced visuomotor skills. *Cereb. Cortex*, 25, 109–117. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bht208.-DOI-PMC-PubMed

Reis, J., Schambra, H., Cohen, L., Buch, E., Fritsch, B., Zarahn, E., Celnik, P., & Krakauer, J. (2009). Noninvasive cortical stimulation enhances motor skill acquisition over multiple days through an effect on consolidation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, *106*, 1590–1595. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0805413106.-DOI-PMC-PubMed

Reitan, R., & Wolfson, D. (1993). The Halstead-Reitan Neuropsychological Test Battery: Theory and Clinical Interpretation. Tucson, AZ: Neuropsychology Press.

Richardson, J., Datta, A., Dmochowski, J., Parra, L. C., & Fridriksson, J. (2015). Feasibility of using high-definition transcranial direct current stimulation (HD-tDCS) to enhance treatment outcomes in persons with aphasia. *NeuroRehabilitation*, *36*(1), 115–126. https://doi.org/10.3233/NRE-141199

Riley, E. A., Mikaella Verblaauw, B. S., Masoud, H., & Bonilha, L. (2022). Pre-frontal tDCS improves sustained attention and promotes artificial grammar learning in aphasia: An open-label study. *Brain stimulation*, *15*(5), 1026–1028. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2022.07.006

Ripamonti, E., Frustaci, M., Zonca, G., Aggujaro, S., Molteni, F., & Luzzatti, C. (2018). Disentangling phonological and articulatory processing: A neuroanatomical study in aphasia. *Neuropsychologia*, *121*, 175–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2018.10.015

Rizzolatti, G., Fabbri-Destro, M., & Cattaneo, L. (2009). Mirror neurons and their clinical relevance. *Nature Clinical Practice Neurology*, 5(1), 24-34.

Robertson, I. H., Ward, T., Ridgeway, V., & Nimmo-Smith, I. (1996). The structure of normal human attention: The Test of Everyday Attention. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 2(6), 525-534. doi:10.1017/s1355617700001697

Robson, H., Zahn, R., Keidel, J., Binney, R., Sage, K., Ralph, L., & M. (2014). The anterior temporal lobes support residual comprehension in Wernicke's aphasia. Pt 3Brain. In *Brain* (Vol. 137, Fascicolo 3, pp. 931–943). Oxford University Press (OUP). https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awt373

Roche, N., Lackmy, A., Achache, V., Bussel, B., & Katz, R. (2009). Impact of transcranial direct current stimulation on spinal network excitability in humans. *The Journal of physiology*, 587(Pt 23), 5653–5664. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2009.177550

Roche, N., Lackmy, A., Achache, V., Bussel, B., & Katz, R. (2011). Effects of anodal transcranial direct current stimulation over the leg motor area on lumbar spinal network excitability in healthy subjects. *The Journal of physiology*, *589*(Pt 11), 2813–2826. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2011.205161

Roeltgen, D., Sevush, S., & Heilman, K. (1983). Phonological agraphia: Writing by the lexical-semantic route. *Neurology*, *33*(6), 755–755. https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.33.6.755

Rofes, A., Capasso, R., & Miceli, G. (2015). Verb production tasks in the measurement of communicative abilities in aphasia. *Journal of clinical and experimental neuropsychology*, *37*(5), 483–502. https://doi.org/10.1080/13803395.2015.1025709

Rohde, A., Worrall, L., & Le Dorze, G. (2013). Systematic review of the quality of clinical guidelines for aphasia in stroke management. *Journal of evaluation in clinical practice*, *19*(6), 994–1003. https://doi.org/10.1111/jep.12023

Rosen, W. G. (1980). Verbal fluency in aging and dementia. *Journal of Clinical Neuropsychology*, 2(2), 135-146. doi:10.1080/01688638008403788

Rosenbek, J., Lemme, M., Ahern, M., Harris, E., & Wertz, R. (1973). A Treatment for Apraxia of Speech in Adults. *Journal of Speech and Hearing Disorders*, *38*(4), 462–472. https://doi.org/10.1044/jshd.3804.462

Rossini, P. M., & Rossi, S. (2007). Transcranial magnetic stimulation: diagnostic, therapeutic, and research potential. *Neurology*, *68*(7), 484–488. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000250268.13789.b2

Rothwell J. C. (1993). Evoked potentials, magnetic stimulation studies, and event-relatedpotentials. Currentopinioninneurology, 6(5),715–723.https://doi.org/10.1097/00019052-199310000-00007

Rush, S., & Driscoll, D. A. (1968). Current distribution in the brain from surface electrodes. *Anesthesia and analgesia*, 47(6), 717–723.

Rvachew, S., & Brosseau-Lapré, F. (2012). Developmental phonological disorder. In *The Cambridge Handbook of Communication Disorders* (p. plural publishing). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/cbo9781139108683.006

Sacco, S., Stracci, F., Cerone, D., Ricci, S., & Carolei, A. (2011). Epidemiology of stroke in Italy. *International Journal of Stroke*, *6*(3), 219-227. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1747-4949.2011.00594.x

Saidmanesh, M., Pouretemad, H. R., Amini, A., Nillipour, R., & Ekhtian, H. (2012). Effects of transcranial direct current stimulation on working memory in patients with non-fluent aphasia disorder. *Res J Biol Sci*, *7*(7), 290-296.

Santos, M. D., Gagliardi, R. J., Mac-Kay, A. P., Boggio, P. S., Lianza, R., & Fregni, F. (2013). Transcranial direct-current stimulation induced in stroke patients with aphasia: a prospective experimental cohort study. *Sao Paulo medical journal = Revista paulista de medicina*, *131*(6), 422–426. https://doi.org/10.1590/1516-3180.2013.1316595

Santos, M. D., Cavenaghi, V. B., Mac-Kay, A., Serafim, V., Venturi, A., Truong, D. Q., Huang, Y., Boggio, P. S., Fregni, F., Simis, M., Bikson, M., & Gagliardi, R. J. (2017). Non-invasive brain stimulation and computational models in post-stroke aphasic patients: single session of transcranial magnetic stimulation and transcranial direct current stimulation. A randomized clinical trial. *Sao Paulo medical journal = Revista paulista de medicina*, *135*(5), 475–480. https://doi.org/10.1590/1516-3180.2016.0194060617

Saur, D., Kreher, B. W., Schnell, S., Kümmerer, D., Kellmeyer, P., Vry, M. S., ... & Weiller, C. (2008). Ventral and dorsal pathways for language. *Proceedings of the national academy of Sciences*, *105*(46), 18035-18040. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0805234105

Savill, N., Ashton, J., Gugliuzza, J., Poole, C., Sim, Z., Ellis, A., & Jefferies, E. (2015). TDCS to temporoparietal cortex during familiarisation enhances the subsequent phonological coherence of nonwords in immediate serial recall. *Cortex*, *63*, 132–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2014.08.018

Schacter, D. L., Gilbert, D. T., & Wegner, D. M. (2009). Psychology. New York, NY: Worth Publishers.

Schlaug, G., Renga, V., & Nair, D. (2008). Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation in Stroke Recovery. Archives of Neurology, 65(12), 1571–1576. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneur.65.12.1571

Schlaug, G., Marchina, S., & Wan, C. (2011). The Use of Non-invasive Brain Stimulation Techniques to Facilitate Recovery from Post-stroke Aphasia. *Neuropsychology Review*, *21*(3), 288–301. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11065-011-9181-y

Schumacher, R., Halai, A. D., & Lambon Ralph, M. A. (2019). Assessing and mapping language, attention and executive multidimensional deficits in stroke aphasia. *Brain*(142), 3202-3216. doi:10.1093/brain/awz258

Schwartz, M. F. (1984). What the classical aphasia categories can't do for us, and why. *Brain and language*, 21(1), 3-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/0093-934x(84)90031-2

Schweizer, L., Meyer-Frießem, C., Zahn, P., Tegenthoff, M., & Schmidt-Wilcke, T. (2017). Transcutaneous Spinal Direct Current Stimulation Alters Resting-State Functional Connectivity. *Brain Connectivity*, 7(6), 357–365. https://doi.org/10.1089/brain.2017.0505

Scorolli, C. (2014). Embodiment and language. In L. Shapiro, The Routledge Handbook of Embodied Cognition (p. 127-138). New York, NY: Routledge.
Sebastian, R., Saxena, S., Tsapkini, K., Faria, A. V., Long, C., Wright, A., Davis, C., Tippett, D. C., Mourdoukoutas, A. P., Bikson, M., Celnik, P., & Hillis, A. E. (2017). Cerebellar tDCS: A Novel Approach to Augment Language Treatment Poststroke. *Frontiers in human neuroscience*, *10*, 695. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2016.00695

Sebastian, R., Kim, J. H., Brenowitz, R., Tippett, D. C., Desmond, J. E., Celnik, P. A., & Hillis, A. E. (2020). Cerebellar neuromodulation improves naming in post-stroke aphasia. *Brain* communications, 2(2), fcaa179. https://doi.org/10.1093/braincomms/fcaa179

Sehm, B., Schäfer, A., Kipping, J., Margulies, D., Conde, V., Taubert, M., Villringer, A., & Ragert, P. (2012). Dynamic modulation of intrinsic functional connectivity by transcranial direct current stimulation. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *108*(12), 3253–3263. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00606.2012

Shah-Basak, P. P., Norise, C., Garcia, G., Torres, J., Faseyitan, O., & Hamilton, R. H. (2015). Individualized treatment with transcranial direct current stimulation in patients with chronic non-fluent aphasia due to stroke. *Frontiers in human neuroscience*, *9*, 201. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2015.00201

Shallice, T. (1981). PHONOLOGICAL AGRAPHIA AND THE LEXICAL ROUTE IN WRITING. *Brain*, *104*(3), 413–429. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/104.3.413

Shallice, T. (1982). Specific impairments of planning. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 298(1089), 199-209. doi:10.1098/rstb.1982.0082

Shea-Shumsky, N. B., Schoeneberger, S., & Grigsby, J. (2019). Executive functioning as a predictor of stroke rehabilitation outcomes. *The Clinical neuropsychologist*, *33*(5), 854–872. https://doi.org/10.1080/13854046.2018.1546905

Sheppard, S. M., & Hillis, A. E. (2018). That's right! Language comprehension beyond the left hemisphere. *Brain*(141), 3280-3289. doi:10.1093/brain/awy291

Shimada, S. (2009). Modulation of motor area activity by the outcome for a player during observation of a baseball game. *PloS one*, 4(11), e8034.

Shriberg, L., Lohmeier, H., Campbell, T., Dollaghan, C., Green, J., & Moore, C. (2009). A nonword repetition task for speakers with misarticulations: The Syllable Repetition Task (SRT). *J. Speech, Lang. Hear. Res*, *52*, 1189–1212. https://doi.org/10.1044/1092-4388(2009/08-0047

Silva, F., Mac-Kay, A., Chao, J. C., Santos, M., & Gagliadi, R. J. (2018). Transcranial direct current stimulation: a study on naming performance in aphasic individuals. Estimulação transcraniana por corrente contínua: estudo sobre respostas em tarefas de nomeação em afásicos. *CoDAS*, *30*(5), e20170242. https://doi.org/10.1590/2317-1782/20182017242

Silveri, M. C. (2021). Contribution of the Cerebellum and the Basal Ganglia to Language Production: Speech, Word Fluency, and Sentence Construction-Evidence from Pathology. *The Cerebellum*(20), 282-294. doi:10.1007/s12311-020-01207-6

Silveri, M. C., Leggio, M. G., & Molinari, M. (1994). The cerebellum contributes to linguistic production. *Neurology*, 44(11), 2047-2050. doi:10.1212/wnl.44.11.2047.

Simic, T., Rochon, E., Greco, E., & Martino, R. (2019). Baseline executive control ability and its relationship to language therapy improvements in post-stroke aphasia: a systematic review. *Neuropsychological rehabilitation*, *29*(3), 395–439. https://doi.org/10.1080/09602011.2017.1307768

Sinanovic, O., Zukić, S., Mrkonjić, Z., & Vidović, M. (2011). Frequency of writing and reading disorders in Bosnia and Herzegovina population of acute stroke patients. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, *333*, e192–e193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2013.07.778

Smirni, D., Turriziani, P., Oliveri, M., Smirni, P., & Cipolotti, L. (2010). Standardizzazione di tre nuovi test di memoria di riconoscimento verbale e non verbale: uno studio preliminare. *Giornale italiano di psicologia*, *37*(1), 227-248.

Smith, C. (1999). Handbook of the International Phonetic Association: A guide to the use of the International Phonetic Alphabet (1999). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. Pp. Ix+204. *Phonology*, *17*(2), 291–295. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0952675700003894

Sobhani Rad D. (2014). A review on adult pragmatic assessments. *Iranian journal of neurology*, *13*(3), 113–118.

Spaccavento, S., Craca, A., Del Prete, M., Falcone, R., Colucci, A., Di Palma, A., & (2014). Quality of life Loverre. A. measurement and outcome in 27. aphasia. Neuropsychiatric treatment, 10, disease and https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S52357

Spencer, K., & Rogers, M. (2005). Speech motor programming in hypokinetic and ataxicdysarthria.BrainandLanguage,94(3),347–366.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2005.01.008

Spielmann, K., van de Sandt-Koenderman, W. M., Heijenbrok-Kal, M. H., & Ribbers, G. M. (2018). Comparison of two configurations of transcranial direct current stimulation for aphasia treatment. *Journal of rehabilitation medicine*, *50*(6), 527–533. https://doi.org/10.2340/16501977-2338

Spinnler, H., & Tognoni, G. (1987). Tandardizzazione e taratura italiana di test neurosicologici [Italian standardization of neuropsychological tests]. *Italian Journal of Neurological Sciences*, 6.

Stagg, C. J., Best, J. G., Stephenson, M. C., O'Shea, J., Wylezinska, M., Kincses, Z. T., Morris, P. G., Matthews, P. M., & Johansen-Berg, H. (2009). Polarity-sensitive modulation of cortical neurotransmitters by transcranial stimulation. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 29(16), 5202–5206. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4432-08.2009

Stagg, C. J., & Nitsche, M. A. (2011). Physiological basis of transcranial direct current stimulation. *The Neuroscientist : a review journal bringing neurobiology, neurology and psychiatry*, *17*(1), 37–53. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858410386614

Stagg, C., Bachtiar, V., & Johansen-Berg, H. (2011). The Role of GABA in Human Motor Learning. *Current Biology*, *21*(6), 480–484. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2011.01.069

Stahl, B., Darkow, R., von Podewils, V., Meinzer, M., Grittner, U., Reinhold, T., Grewe,
T., Breitenstein, C., & Flöel, A. (2019). Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation to
Enhance Training Effectiveness in Chronic Post-Stroke Aphasia: A Randomized
Controlled Trial Protocol. *Frontiers in neurology*, 10, 1089.
https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2019.01089

Starowicz-Filip, A., Chrobak, A. A., Moskała, M., Krzyżewski, R. M., Kwinta, B., Kwiatkowski, S., . Zielińska, D. (2017). The role of the cerebellum in the regulation of language functions. Psychiatr Polska, 51(4), 661-671. doi:10.12740/PP/68547

Stemmer, B. (2008). Neuropragmatics. The Handbook of Clinical Linguistics, 61.

Stoodley, C. J., & Schmahmann, J. D. (2009). The cerebellum and language: evidence from patients with cerebellar degeneration. *Brain and language*, *110*(3), 149–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2009.07.006

Stoodley, C. J., Valera, E. M., & Schmahmann, J. D. (2010). An fMRI study of intraindividual functional topography in the human cerebellum. *Behavioural neurology*, 23(1-2), 65–79. https://doi.org/10.3233/BEN-2010-0268

Stoodley, C. J., Valera, E. M., & Schmahmann, J. D. (2012). Functional topography of the cerebellum for motor and cognitive tasks: an fMRI study. *NeuroImage*, *59*(2), 1560–1570. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.08.065

Strand, E. A., Duffy, J. R., Clark, H. M., & Josephs, K. (2014). The apraxia of speech rating scale: a tool for diagnosis and description of apraxia of speech. *Journal of Communication Disorders*(51), 43-50. doi:10.1016/j.jcomdis.2014.06.008

Stuss D. T. (2011). Functions of the frontal lobes: relation to executive functions. *Journal* of the International Neuropsychological Society : JINS, 17(5), 759–765. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617711000695

Suchy Y. (2009). Executive functioning: overview, assessment, and research issues for non-neuropsychologists. *Annals of behavioral medicine : a publication of the Society of Behavioral Medicine*, *37*(2), 106–116. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-009-9097-4

Suchy, Y. (2015). *Executive functioning: A comprehensive guide for clinical practice*. Oxford University Press.

Suchy, Y., Ziemnik, R. E., & Niermeyer, M. A. (2017). Assessment of executive functions in clinical settings. In *Executive functions in health and disease* (pp. 551-569). Academic Press.

Sudbrack-Oliveira, P., Razza, L. B., & Brunoni, A. R. (2021). Non-invasive cortical stimulation: Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS). *International review of neurobiology*, *159*, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.irn.2021.01.001

Sutterer, M. J., & Tranel, D. (2017). Neuropsychology and cognitive neuroscience in the fMRI era: A recapitulation of localizationist and connectionist views. *Neuropsychology*, *31*(8), 972–980. https://doi.org/10.1037/neu0000408

Swinburn, K., Porter, G., & Howard, D. (2005). The Comprehensive Aphasia Test. Hove: Psychology Press.

Taub, E., Uswatte, G., & Elbert, T. (2002). New treatments in neurorehabilitation founded on basic research. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience*, *3*(3), 228–236. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn754

Terband, H., Maassen, B., Guenther, F., & Brumberg, J. (2009). Computational neural modeling of speech motor control in childhood apraxia of speech (CAS). *J. Speech, Lang. Hear. Res*, *52*, 1595–1609. https://doi.org/10.1044/1092-4388(2009/07-0283

Terband, H., Maassen, B., Guenther, F., & Brumberg, J. (2014). Auditory-motor interactions in pediatric motor speech disorders: Neurocomputational modeling of disordered development. *Journal of Communication Disorders*, 47, 17–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcomdis.2014.01.001

Thiel, L., Sage, K., & Conroy, P. (2015). Retraining writing for functional purposes: A review of the writing therapy literature. *Aphasiology*, *29*(4), 423–441. https://doi.org/10.1080/02687038.2014.965059

Thiel, L., & Conroy, P. (2022). 'I think writing is everything': An exploration of the writing experiences of people with aphasia. *International journal of language & communication disorders*, 10.1111/1460-6984.12762. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1111/1460-6984.12762

Thompson-Schill, S. L., Swick, D., Farah, M. J., D'Esposito, M., Kan, I. P., & Knight, R. T. (1998). Verb generation in patients with focal frontal lesions: a neuropsychological test of neuroimaging findings. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the* 

*United States of America*, 95(26), 15855–15860. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.26.15855

Toplak, M. E., West, R. F., & Stanovich, K. E. (2011). The Cognitive Reflection Test as a predictor of performance on heuristics-and-biases tasks. *Memory & cognition*, *39*(7), 1275–1289. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13421-011-0104-1

Toplak, M. E., West, R. F., & Stanovich, K. E. (2013). Practitioner review: do performance-based measures and ratings of executive function assess the same construct?. *Journal of child psychology and psychiatry, and allied disciplines*, *54*(2), 131–143. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12001

Tremblay, P., & Dick, A. S. (2016). Broca and Wernicke are dead, or moving past the classic model of language neurobiology. *Brain and language*, *162*, 60-71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2016.08.004

Truini, A., Vergari, M., Biasiotta, A., La Cesa, S., Gabriele, M., Di Stefano, G., Cambieri, C., Cruccu, G., Inghilleri, M., & Priori, A. (2011). Transcutaneous spinal direct current stimulation inhibits nociceptive spinal pathway conduction and increases pain tolerance in humans. *European Journal of Pain*, *15*(10), 1023–1027. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpain.2011.04.009

Trumbo, M. C., Matzen, L. E., Coffman, B. A., Hunter, M. A., Jones, A. P., Robinson, C., & Clark, V. P. (2016). Enhanced working memory performance via transcranial direct current stimulation: The possibility of near and far transfer. *Neuropsychologia*, *93*(Pt A), 85–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2016.10.011

Tsapkini, K., & Rapp, B. (2010). The orthography-specific functions of the left fusiform gyrus: Evidence of modality and category specificity. *Cortex*, *46*, 185–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2009.02.025.-DOI-PMC-PubMed

Turkeltaub P. E. (2015). Brain Stimulation and the Role of the Right Hemisphere in Aphasia Recovery. *Current neurology and neuroscience reports*, *15*(11), 72. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11910-015-0593-6

Turkeltaub, P., Messing, S., Norise, C., & Hamilton, R. (2011). Are networks for residual language function and recovery consistent across aphasic patients? *Neurology*, *76*, 1726–1734. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e31821a44c1.-DOI-PMC-PubMed

Turkeltaub, P., Benson, J., Hamilton, R., Datta, A., Bikson, M., & Coslett, H. (2012). Left lateralizing transcranial direct current stimulation improves reading efficiency. *Brain Stimul*, *5*, 201–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2011.04.002.-DOI-PMC-PubMed

Ulm, L., Copland, D., & Meinzer, M. (2018). A new era of systems neuroscience in aphasia?. *Aphasiology*, 32(7), 742-764.

Vallar, G., & Papagno, C. (2007). Handbook of neuropsychology. Bologna: Il Mulino.

Vallar, G., & Papagno, C. (Eds.). (2018). *Manuale di neuropsicologia: clinica ed elementi di riabilitazione*. Società editrice il Mulino, Spa.

van der Meulen, I., van de Sandt-Koenderman, W. M., Duivenvoorden, H. J., & Ribbers,
G. M. (2010). Measuring verbal and non-verbal communication in aphasia: reliability,
validity, and sensitivity to change of the Scenario Test. *International journal of language communication disorders*, 45(4),
424–435.
https://doi.org/10.3109/13682820903111952

van Mourik, M., Verschaeve, M., Boon, P., Paquier, P., & van Harkskamp, F. (1992). Cognition in global aphasia: Indicators for therapy. *Aphasiology*, 6(5), 491-499. doi:10.1080/02687039208249486

Vestito, L., Rosellini, S., Mantero, M., & Bandini, F. (2014). Long-term effects of transcranial direct-current stimulation in chronic post-stroke aphasia: a pilot study. *Frontiers in human neuroscience*, 8, 785. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2014.00785

Vicario, C. M., Salehinejad, M. A., Felmingham, K., Martino, G., & Nitsche, M. A. (2019). A systematic review on the therapeutic effectiveness of non-invasive brain stimulation for the treatment of anxiety disorders. *Neuroscience and biobehavioral reviews*, *96*, 219–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2018.12.012

Vila-Nova, C., Lucena, P. H., Lucena, R., Armani-Franceschi, G., & Campbell, F. Q. (2019). Effect of Anodal tDCS on Articulatory Accuracy, Word Production, and Syllable

Repetition in Subjects with Aphasia: A Crossover, Double-Blinded, Sham-Controlled Trial. *Neurology and therapy*, 8(2), 411–424. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40120-019-00149-4

Vines, B. W., Norton, A. C., & Schlaug, G. (2011). Non-invasive brain stimulation enhances the effects of melodic intonation therapy. *Frontiers in psychology*, *2*, 230. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2011.00230

Wagner, T., Valero-Cabre, A., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2007). Noninvasive human brain stimulation. *Annual review of biomedical engineering*, *9*, 527–565. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.bioeng.9.061206.133100

Wall, K. J., Cumming, T. B., & Copland, D. A. (2017). Determining the Association between Language and Cognitive Tests in Poststroke Aphasia. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 8(149), 1-9. doi:10.3389/fneur.2017.00149

Walter, H., Klaus, P., Weniger, D., & Willmes, K. (1983). AachenerAphasieTest. Göttingen: Hogrefe.

Wambaugh, J. (2002). A Summary of Treatments for Apraxia of Speech and Review of Replicated Approaches. *Seminars in Speech and Language*, *23*(4), 293–308. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2002-35802

Wang, J., Wu, D., Cheng, Y., Song, W., Yuan, Y., Zhang, X., Zhang, D., Zhang, T., Wang, Z., Tang, J., & Yin, L. (2019). Effects of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation on Apraxia of Speech and Cortical Activation in Patients With Stroke: A Randomized Sham-Controlled Study. *American journal of speech-language pathology*, *28*(4), 1625–1637. https://doi.org/10.1044/2019\_AJSLP-19-0069

Wechsler, D. (1997). WAIS-III Administration and Scoring Manual. New York, NY: The Psychological Corporation.

Weidacker, K., Weidemann, C. T., Boy, F., & Johnston, S. J. (2016). Cathodal tDCS improves task performance in participants high in Coldheartedness. *Clinical neurophysiology : official journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, *127*(9), 3102–3109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2016.05.274

Wernicke, C. (1874). Der aphasische Symptomencomplex: Eine psychologische Studie auf anatomischer Basis. Breslau: Cohn & Weigert.

Wertz, R. T., Lapointe, L., & Rosenbek, J. (1984). Apraxia of speech: The disorder and its management. *Grune Strat*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2014.02.013

Wertz, R. T., LaPointe, L. L., & Rosenbek, J. C. (1991). *Apraxia of speech in adults: The disorder and its management*. Singular Publishing Group.

Wilson, B., Cockburn, J., & Halligan, P. (1987). Development of a behavioral test of visuospatial neglect. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 68(2), 98-102.

Wirth, M., Rahman, R. A., Kuenecke, J., Koenig, T., Horn, H., Sommer, W., & Dierks, T. (2011). Effects of transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) on behaviour and electrophysiology of language production. *Neuropsychologia*, *49*(14), 3989–3998. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2011.10.015

Wolpaw, J. R., & Tennissen, A. M. (2001). Activity-dependent spinal cord plasticity in health and disease. *Annual review of neuroscience*, *24*, 807–843. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.24.1.807

Woodhead, Z., Kerry, S. J., Aguilar, O. M., Ong, Y. H., Hogan, J. S., Pappa, K., Leff, A. P., & Crinion, J. T. (2018). Randomized trial of iReadMore word reading training and brain stimulation in central alexia. *Brain : a journal of neurology*, *141*(7), 2127–2141. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awy138

Wu, Y. J., Tseng, P., Chang, C. F., Pai, M. C., Hsu, K. S., Lin, C. C., & Juan, C. H. (2014). Modulating the interference effect on spatial working memory by applying transcranial direct current stimulation over the right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. *Brain and cognition*, *91*, 87–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2014.09.002

Xu, S., Yan, Z., Pan, Y., Yang, Q., Liu, Z., Gao, J., Jia, J. (2021). Associations between Upper Extremity Motor Function and Aphasia after Stroke: A Multicenter Cross-Sectional Study. *Behavioural Neurology*, 2021(9417173), 1-10. doi:10.1155/2021/9417173

Yavari, F., Jamil, A., Mosayebi Samani, M., Vidor, L. P., & Nitsche, M. A. (2018). Basic and functional effects of transcranial Electrical Stimulation (tES)-An introduction. *Neuroscience and biobehavioral reviews*, 85, 81–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.06.015

Ye, Z., & Zhou, X. (2009). Executive control in language processing. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*(33), 1168-1177. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.03.003

Yeo, B. T., Krienen, F. M., Sepulcre, J., Sabuncu, M. R., Lashkari, D., Hollinshead, M., . . Buckner, R. L. (2011). The organization of the human cerebral cortex estimated by intrinsic functional connectivity. *Journal of Neurophysiology*(106), 1125-1165. doi:10.1152/jn.00338.2011.

Zaehle, T., Sandmann, P., Thorne, J. D., Jäncke, L., & Herrmann, C. S. (2011). Transcranial direct current stimulation of the prefrontal cortex modulates working memory performance: combined behavioural and electrophysiological evidence. *BMC neuroscience*, *12*, 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2202-12-2

Zheng, X., Dai, W., Alsop, D. C., & Schlaug, G. (2016). Modulating transcallosal and intra-hemispheric brain connectivity with tDCS: Implications for interventions in Aphasia. *Restorative neurology and neuroscience*, *34*(4), 519–530. https://doi.org/10.3233/RNN-150625

Zimmerman, P., & Fimm, B. (1995). Test for attentional performance (TAP). Herzogenrath: PsyTest.